
 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS .........................................................................5 

MAIN INDICATORS – INDIVIDUAL BASIS ........................................................................................................7 

SUMMARY OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS´REPORT ........................................................................................8 

ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE .............................................................................................................. 10 
GOVERNMENT MODEL ....................................................................................................................................... 10 
MISSION, VISION, VALUES AND STRATEGY ........................................................................................................... 14 

MACROECONOMIC FRAMEWORK ............................................................................................................. 16 
INTERNATIONAL ECONOMY ............................................................................................................................ 16 
NATIONAL ECONONMY.................................................................................................................................. 17 

ACTIVITY FRAMEWORK ........................................................................................................................ 21 
REPORT ON THE BUSINESS AREAS ........................................................................................................................... 21 
DISTRIBUTION NETWORK ................................................................................................................................... 23 
HUMAN RESOURCES ........................................................................................................................................ 24 
SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY AND SPONSORSHIPS ................................................................................................................ 26 

MANAGEMENT SYSTEM ............................................................................................................................. 30 
COMPLIANCE ............................................................................................................................................... 30 
RISK MANAGEMENT ......................................................................................................................................... 30 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS .......................................................................................................................... 34 
PROFITABILITY ANALYSIS ............................................................................................................................. 34 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ...................................................................................................................... 42 
BANK INCOME STATEMENT ............................................................................................................................. 42 
BANK STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME .................................................................................................... 43 
BANK STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION .......................................................................................................... 44 
BANK STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS ................................................................................................................... 45 
BANK STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY .......................................................................................................... 46 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ..................................................................................................................... 47 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR´S REPORT ....................................................................................................... 122 

REPORT AND OPINION OF THE FISCAL COUNCIL ......................................................................................... 131 

Table of Contents  



 

5 
 

MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

Over the past three years, we have witnessed extraordinary events that have led to profound transformations in 

the global economy. The pandemic crisis, the invasion of Ukraine and geopolitical tensions in the Middle East have 

affected, on the one hand, foreign trade, business investment, private consumption, and demand for raw materials 

and, on the other hand, exacerbated the tightening of the global supply of food and energy resources, contributing 

to the occurrence of one of the largest cycles of inflation and interest rate increases recorded in decades. 

In response to this challenging context, the Central Banks of the main economies adopted restrictive monetary 

policies, successively revising interest rates upwards, retracting production, employment and economic growth. 

In Mozambique, the Central Bank increased the Reserve Requirements for deposits denominated in Meticais from 

10.5% to 39.0% and in foreign currency from 11.0% to 39.5%, in order to absorb the liquidity of the banking system 

and, consequently, limit credit growth in order to control price increases. 

Despite the context of monetary tightening, the Mozambican economy proved resilient in 2023, having grown by 

5.4% according to IMF data. The growth was mainly due to the impact of megaprojects, particularly in the mining, 

energy and natural gas sectors of the Rovuma basin. 

For the year 2024, the IMF points to a drop in inflation of 1% in about 80% of the world's countries and anticipates 

a downward trajectory in the following years. However, it warns of the risk of fiscal slippage in countries that will 

hold elections, including Mozambique, where a trend of deceleration in inflation and gradual decrease in interest 

rates is expected, based on the stability of the Metical against the US dollar and the normalization of supply in 

the production chains of the megaprojects in operation. 

In the 2023 financial year, Millennium Bim adjusted its business model to mitigate the effects and risks associated 

with a particularly uncertain macroeconomic environment, as well as the tightening of monetary policy, which 

contributes decisively to achieving a positive economic and financial performance, both in terms of profitability 

and improving the Bank's risk profile. 

The favorable performance achieved was materialized in the following indicators: 

• Total assets decreased by 0,7% (from 191 653 million Meticais in 2022 to 190 385 million Meticais in 2023); 

• Equity increased by 6,8% (from 34 526 million Meticais in 2022 to 36 885 million Meticais in 2023) 

highlighting the robustness of the balance sheet; 

• Banking Product increased by 1,6% compared to the previous year, from 17 851 million Meticais to 18 196 

million Meticais, demonstrating a powerful capacity to generate value; 

• Net profit reached 7 211 million Meticais, corresponding to a positive change of 9% compared to the 

previous year, and a return on equity of 21,1%; 

• Efficiency ratio increased by 5,3pp in 2023, to 47,8%; 

• Solvency Ratio increased from 36,4% in 2022 to 37,2% in 2023, comfortably above the regulatory limit 

imposed by the supervisory authority and in line with international best practices. 

As part of the commitment to serve more and better, in 2023, Millennium Bim started the project to reformulate 

its counters network, highlighting the inauguration of the "Balcão do Futuro" at the Shoprite Shopping Center in 

Maputo City. The "Balcão do Futuro", being implemented in various parts of the country, presents a distinctive, 

modern and innovative image, associated with a strong digital bent. They have been designed to provide a 

functional and efficient experience to Customers. 

Bearing in mind the improvement of security conditions in Cabo Delgado province, Millennium Bim also remodeled 

and reopened the “Balcão de Palma”, showing its commitment to serving the population, economic agents, as 

well as contributing to the normalization of the situation in this part of the country. 

Attentive to simplifying the day-to-day life of Customers, Millennium Bim continued with the implementation of 

the digital transformation strategy, dedicating efforts to increase the user base and promote the adoption of 

digital channels in the execution of banking transactions. This effort resulted in an increase in the number of users 
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of digital channels, from 791 thousand to 855 thousand, as well as in the realization of more than 200 million 

transactions in the year. 

The digitization of transactions and the launch of new products on the Mobile Banking platforms - Smart IZI and 

IZI - Internet Banking and Digital Service with the M-TOP offer are essential pillars of Millennium Bim's business 

model. 

Aware of the vital importance of the export sector, of the Oil & Gas ecosystems for the country's economy, 

Millennium Bim maintained its commitment to companies linked to megaprojects, signing different Memorandums 

of Understanding with various interlocutors with the aim of enhancing Local Content. 

The Bank was also committed to increasing, consolidating knowledge and specializing in sectors of activity of 

particular strategic importance. In this sense, it continued to redefine the value proposition in the Corporate 

Banking segment in order to strengthen its ability to support and respond to the specific needs of our Clients, 

whether in technical support for the development of projects, in the structuring of dedicated sectoral financing 

lines or in the creation of strategic partnerships, among other initiatives. 

In recognition of its role, the Bank was honored by the organization of the Mozambique Gas & Energy Summit & 

Exhibition with the title "Mozambican Company of the Year", a distinction that not only praises our institution, 

but also highlights our contribution to the growth of local Small and Medium Enterprises. 

In the context of Human Resources, we remain committed to developing the talent of Employees, investing in 

learning, training and improvement of recruitment processes. We value professionalism and dedication, 

recognizing that they are fundamental elements to maintain a highly qualified, motivated team, aligned with the 

Bank's values and objectives and, in particular, focused on serving Customers. 

A significant milestone was the 5th edition of the People Grow Program, which provided, once again, young 

graduates and university finalists, a unique opportunity for integration and professional development. This 

program was not only a gateway for new talent, but also an accelerator platform for professional growth, providing 

participants with the skills and experiences necessary to face the challenges of the banking sector. 

Millennium Bim has also been committed to cultivating a positive and inclusive work environment, with corporate 

events and social activities to strengthen the bonds between Employees. An example of this is the holding of end-

of-year fraternization events in all provinces, from North to South of the country. 

Millennium Bim continued to deserve distinction and awards for the solidity and quality of results, capacity for 

innovation and implementation of a sustainable growth strategy, highlighting the awards: Best Digital Bank at 

regional level; Best Innovative Bank; Best Private Bank in Mozambique; and Best Mobile App for Consumers in 

Mozambique, all awarded by Global Finance magazine; 

The recognition, through international awards, is a source of great pride and reinforces the value of our brand, 

strengthens our continuous commitment to offer excellent financial services. 

The Bank reaffirmed its commitment to the implementation and dissemination of the principles of the United 

Nations Global Compact Initiative on Human Rights, Labor, and the Environment, as well as its support in the 

implementation of the objectives of the Business Forum for the Environment- FEMA. 

In the area of Social Responsibility, the Bank has developed a set of actions that have contributed to improving 

the quality of life of communities, of which the following stand out: 

 

(i) Support for the rehabilitation of 41 Health Centers in Zambezia province, in partnership with the NGO 

Friends in Global Health. The initiative aimed to respond to emergencies arising from the 

consequences of Cyclone Freddy; 
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(ii)  The holding of the 12th edition of the Banking Olympics, a financial literacy project that aims to train 

participants in matters of responsible financial management; 

(iii) Participation in the "Muro da Biodiversidade" project, an action that aims to promote the protection 

of Mozambican wildlife, marine and flora; and 

(iv) Support for the holding of the “1st Conference on the Dissemination of Climate Resilience Potential 

and Attraction of Investments for the Conservation of the Environment". 

(v)  Support for the rehabilitation project of the “São José de Boroma” Sanctuary, in Tete province, a 

historical heritage site with more than 100 years. With this initiative, the Bank joins the effort to 

promote the heritage of the Tete region and its tourism projection at national and international level, 

actively contributing to the improvement, preservation and enhancement of our historical and 

cultural heritage. 

At last, I would like, on behalf of myself and the Board of Directors, to express my deep gratitude to the 

shareholders for their commitment to building this project, to the employees for their dedication in pursuing the 

financial and commercial objectives aligned with the institution's corporate values, to our esteemed Clients and 

institutional partners, who are decisive elements for the success of the business, for the trust and preference. 

 

Together, we can.  
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MAIN INDICATORS – INDIVIDUAL BASIS 

 

 

 

 

 

2020 2021 2022 2023 Var. % 23/22

Balance Sheet

Total Assets 179 937 183 677 191 653 190 385 -0,66%

Loans to customers (net) 44 506 41 830 42 801 44 208 3,29%

Customer deposits 141 022 138 085 152 176 146 447 -3,76%

Equity 34 384 40 283 34 526 36 885 6,83%

Profitability

Bank Products 15 308 17 819 17 942 18 196 1,41%

Operating costs 6 872 7 137 7 651 8 703 13,75%

Provisions and Impairment 2 547 1 087 1 237 -763 -161,67%

Taxes on profits 763 2 649 2 441 3 045 24,75%

Net Income attributable to the Bank´s shareholders 5 125 9 853 6 613 7 211 9,04%

Efficiency Ratio 44,90% 40,06% 42,64% 47,83%

Return on average equity (ROAE) 15,30% 27,72% 19,98% 21,11%

Return on average assets (ROAA) 3,10% 5,49% 3,59% 3,93%

Creditworthiness

Loans overdue for more than 90 days / Total Loans 6,20% 7,96% 7,78% 2,87%

Non-Performing Loans / Total Loans 6,31% 8,07% 7,85% 3,08%

Loan Impairment / Loan overdue for more than 90 days 118,92% 104,76% 104,20% 148,43%

NPE-EBA 5,37% 4,76% 4,00% 1,51%

Cost of risk 522 p.b. 72 p.b. 118 p.b. -371 p.b.

Solvency (*)

Tier I 46,00% 47,20% 38,91% 40,05%

Total 43,88% 44,82% 36,39% 37,15%

Clients (in thousands) 1 754 1 804 1 883 1 970 4,62%

Bank Counters 199 199 197 195 -1,02%

Employees 2 439 2 496 2 504 2 574 2,80%

Millions in  Meticais
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SUMMARY OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS´REPORT  

With the slowdown in economic activity, due to the prevalence of the impacts of the conflict in Ukraine and 

geopolitical tensions in the Middle East, the world economy is expected to slow to 3,1% in 2023 (from 3,5% in 2022). 

The instability in energy and food prices and the maintenance of restrictive monetary conditions by major central 

banks remain at the heart of reduced consumption and private investment. 

For Sub-Saharan Africa, GDP growth is estimated at 3,3% in 2023 (4,0% in 2022), reflecting the reduction in 

investment and financing flows, associated with the tightening of monetary policy and the context of falling prices 

of exported raw materials, with the inherent pressures on external accounts and public finances. 

According to the IMF, the Mozambican economy showed GDP growth of 5,4% in 2023 (compared to 4,4% in 2022), 

driven by the impact of megaprojects, particularly in the mining, energy and natural gas sector in the Rovuma basin. 

Year-on-year inflation reached 5,3% in 2023 (10,9% in 2022), showing the slowdown in the domestic price level, due 

to the stability of the Metical against the US dollar, the reversal of adverse supply shocks and the effective 

transmission of monetary policy. 

In this context, the Bank of Mozambique maintained a conservative monetary policy, highlighting the increase in 

the coefficient of mandatory reserves in national currency (from 10,5% to 39,0%) and in foreign currency (from 11,5% 

to 39,5%), thus increasing the liquidity pressures of the banking system and on interest rates. 

Despite the challenging scenario, Millennium Bim remains solid and resilient, supported by good governance, sound 

and prudent risk management and rigorous compliance with regulatory standards. It maintains its strategy based on 

Digital Transformation and Innovation, continuing, not only past initiatives, but also launching new projects from a 

perspective of continuous Focus on the Customer, supported by a mutual relationship of Trust and strong standards 

of Ethics and Responsibility. 

In terms of Supply, Millennium Bim continues to evolve positively in its digital strategy, reflected in the significant 

growth of its activity, with just over 70% of its customers using mobile channels, carrying out more than 200 million 

digital transactions annually. 

Millennium Bim marks a new chapter in its innovation trajectory with the refurbishment and reopening of the 

counter at the Shoprite Shopping Centre in Maputo City, designed to keep up with the development of the banking 

sector, as well as meeting the growing demand for digital solutions. The refurbishment of this counter represents a 

strategic shift, introducing an innovative image concept being implemented in several branches. 

Also noteworthy is the refurbishment and reopening of the Palma counter in Cabo Delgado Province due to the 

return of the population and companies to the region, favoring the increase in demand for banking services. This 

reopening responds to the growing needs of the inhabitants of the district and the local business fabric. 

At Millennium Bim, Employees are the fundamental axis of the activity. In 2023, several initiatives were 

implemented to improve the performance of Employees, through the optimization of critical recruitment, training, 

and ethical and professional development processes. 

In an era of high complexity and market dynamism, the focus on leadership development was maintained with the 

"Líder Millennium Bim 4.0" program, aimed at Employees with the counter management functions and team 

coordination at the level of central services, as well as several training courses continued, with emphasis on critical 

areas such as the Code of Conduct, Cybersecurity and Operational Risk. 
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Bearing in mind that employees are the institution's greatest resource, the financial services packages were adjusted 

in order to mitigate the impact of the increase in interest rates and, additionally, the amount of financing under 

subsidized conditions was reinforced, as well as the health benefits package. 

Millennium Bim continued to focus on proximity to Mozambicans, developing several community support and medical 

care actions, including: the rehabilitation of 41 health units in Zambezia province; the holding of the festival of 

recreational activities, which was attended by children between 6 and 12 years old; the holding of the 12th edition 

of the Banking Olympics; the distribution of school supplies to more than 1 000 students at the Marocane primary 

school in Cabo Delgado province; support for the holding of the "1st Conference on the Dissemination of Climate 

Resilience Potential and Attraction of Investments for the Conservation of the Environment"; the rehabilitation of 

the “São José de Boroma” sanctuary located in the City of Tete and the sponsorship of culture, sports, education, 

among others. 

In terms of balance sheet, total assets amounted to 190 385 million Meticais, having decreased 0,7% compared to 

prior year. The placements in other Banks and financial assets at amortized cost decreased by 52,1% and 29,7%, 

respectively, in contrast to the 202,2% increase in cash and cash equivalents in the Bank of Mozambique, which now 

accounted for 30,1% of total assets, due to the increase in the Reserve Requirement ratio. The net loans to 

Customers increased from 42 800 million Meticais in 2022 to 44 208 million Meticais, corresponding to an increase 

of 3,3%. 

Banking Product stood at 18 196 million Meticais, showing a slight increase of around 1,4% (+254 million Meticais), 

compared to the 17 942 million Meticais recorded in 2022. The favorable performance of the banking product was 

mainly supported by the increase in net interest margin (+312 million Meticais), the increase in results from fees 

and commissions (+90 million Meticais) and the growth of other operating income (+146 million Meticais). 

Operating costs, which include staff expenses, other administrative expenses, depreciation and amortization, 
amounted to 8 703 million Meticais, representing an increase of 13,7% (+ 1 052 million Meticais) compared to prior 
year. 
 
The impairment on loans (net recoveries of loans written offs) amounted -1 712 million Meticais in 2023, compared 

to 550 million Meticais in 2022 (-411,2%). This reduction was influenced by recoveries of loans with an impact on 

the reversal of impairments. 

Combining the core result with the effect of impairment reversals, Millennium Bim recorded a net profit of 7 211 

million Meticais, which compares with the 6 613 million Meticais recorded in 2022, representing a growth of 9,0%. 

The solvency ratio evolved positively due to the increase in equity, standing at 37,2%, significantly above the 

regulatory limit of 14,0% (12% + systemic buffer), reflecting the Institution's resilience and financial soundness. 

 

The Bank's strategy involves a commitment to digital transformation, maintaining a focus on the sustainability of 

results, efficiency, robustness and its basic principles, namely: 

 

▪ Committed contribution to the acceleration of financial inclusion in the Mozambican economy; 

▪ Maintenance of high levels of customer satisfaction, loyalty and engagement; 

▪ Expansion of the customer base and assets under management in traditional business areas; 

▪ Consolidation of sectoral and regional technological leadership; 

▪ Sustained improvement in profitability and financial soundness; 

▪ Valuing, motivating and compensating Employees; 

▪ Maximizing value for Shareholders. 
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ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE 
 

GOVERNMENT MODEL 
 

The Bank's governance model is established in its statutes and complies with the requirements of the Law on Credit 

Institutions and Financial Companies, approved by Law No. 20/2020, of 31 December. The Governing Bodies are 

the General Assembly, the Board of Directors, the Fiscal Council and the Compensation and Welfare Board. In 

addition, the Corporate Governance Support Committees are part of the governance model, which include: the 

Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, the Risk Assessment Committee and the Nominations and 

Remuneration Committee. 

GENERAL ASSEMBLY 

The General Assembly is the highest body of the company that represents the universality of shareholders, and its 

resolutions are binding on all of them when decided in accordance with the law and the articles of association. 

The General Assembly is responsible for:   
 

▪ To approve the management report and the accounts for the year, including the balance sheet and the 

income statement, as well as the opinion of the Fiscal Council thereon and to resolve on the application 

of the results for the year; 

▪ Elect the board of the general assembly, the managers and the members of the Fiscal Council; 

▪ To decide on any amendments to these statutes; 

▪ To decide on the issuance of bonds; 

▪ To decide on the increase, reduction or reintegration of the share capital; 

▪ To decide on the creation of golden shares; 

▪ To decide on the merger, spin-off or transformation of the company; 

▪ To decide on the dissolution, liquidation or extension of the company; 

▪ To decide on the call and restitution of supplementary capital instalments; 

▪ To decide on the filing and withdrawal of any actions against the Directors or against the members of the 

other corporate bodies. 

 

FISCAL COUNCIL  

 

The Fiscal Council is responsible for the control and legality of the Bank's financial and asset management. Among 

several skills, the following stand out: 

 

▪ Regularly monitor and supervise compliance with the applicable accounting regulations, the financial and 

equity situation of the Bank; 

▪ To give an opinion on the management report and on the Management accounts for each financial year, 

including legal certification documents of annual accounts; 

▪ To pronounce on matters submitted to it by the Bank's Management bodies; 

 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the broadest powers of management and social representation and, such 

as, to deliberate especially on: 

  

▪ Co-optation of directors; 

▪ Risk management policies, standards and procedures; 

▪ Zeal for monitoring the effectiveness of risk management, internal control, internal audit and compliance 

systems; 
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▪ Approval of the Strategic Plan and Budget; 

▪ Annual reports and accounts and application of results; 

▪ Significant extensions or reductions in activity; 

▪ Projects for the merger, spin-off and transformation of the company; 

▪ Provision of personal or real guarantees and guarantees by the company; 

▪ Any other matter on which any director requires deliberation by the board. 

 

 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 
 

The executive management of the Bank is ensured by Executive Directors appointed by the Board of Directors. 

The Executive Committee is responsible for: 

 

▪ To propose to the competent bodies the approval and periodic review of the Bank's general operating 

policies, and to ensure their correct implementation; 

▪ Ensure the operationalization and communication of the organizational structure, with adequate detail 

about the members and those responsible for the functions and structures of the governance model; 

▪ Ensure the existence of adequate processes for obtaining, producing and processing information disclosed 

to Employees, Supervisors or the Public and control mechanisms that guarantee the reliability, integrity, 

consistency, completeness, validity, timeliness, accessibility and granularity of all information produced, 

namely ensuring the integrity of accounting and financial information systems; 

▪ Ensure that formal, transparent, relevant and tailored processes are in place that ensure effective, timely, 

adequate, comprehensive and understandable communication, facilitate the decision-making process and 

promote the necessary information flows between all relevant parties in a process and between the 

management and supervisory bodies and the internal control functions, the information flows established 

in the Bank; 

▪ Ensure that risk-taking structures make decisions weighted by the underlying risk, within tolerance limits, 

and adopt control mechanisms that allow for the timely reporting of risks to internal control functions; 

▪ Ensure that impartial, transparent and auditable internal procedures are adopted, particularly when it 

comes to the contracting of services and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the institution. 

▪ To assess and decide on all other matters of day-to-day management of the Bank that the applicable law 

and/or regulations (in particular commercial and banking legislation and regulations issued by the Bank of 

Mozambique) and/or the statutes and/or regulations of the Board of Directors or deliberation of this body 

do not reserve exclusively to the Board of Directors (or any of its Specialized Committees),  provided that 

it is within the limits and general principles defined by resolution of the Board of Directors; 

▪ To exercise the broadest day-to-day management powers of the Bank that are not delegated, especially 

to other bodies. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MODEL 
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    COMPOSITION 
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Shareholder Structure 

The share capital of Millennium BIM is 4 500 000 000,00Mt (four thousand five hundred million meticais) 

represented by 45 000 000 shares (forty-five million shares), with the following composition: 

 

MISSION, VISION, VALUES AND STRATEGY 

VISION 

Millennium BIM is a universal Bank, which invests in the creation of value in the various market segments, seeking 

to affirm a presence based on excellence, quality and innovation in the distribution of financial products and 

services. It seeks to be a reference Bank in customer service and has as one of its main objectives to achieve a 

higher level of efficiency, translated into the commitment to continue to improve its efficiency ratio through 

careful management of capital and costs. 

MISSION 

To contribute to the modernization and development of the financial system and the Mozambican economy, 

through the commercialization of innovative and personalized financial products and services, designed to meet 

the global financial needs and expectations of the different market segments, with superior quality and 

specialization standards. 

VALUES 

CLOSE 

Choose the place and the moment, the reason or the dream, that we will be here to help make it happen. 

Around the corner, very close to home, next to the market, just a few steps from you, there is always a 

Millennium BIM counter available. For us, nothing is out of hours or inopportune. When you think you're 

far away, we'll come to you via your phone, tablet or computer and make everything more accessible and 

convenient. Thus, being closer to our customers does not only mean having counters everywhere, but 

speaking the same language and understanding their needs, finding ways to quickly and effectively solve 

their issues. Therefore, more than being near, we are closer. 

DYNAMIC 

The Movement is the other name of Life. Whether to the rhythm of the clock or dreams, we are looking 

for more and better. This daily race is won with flexibility and speed. Those who anticipate obstacles and 

make the appropriate decisions win, those who constantly adapt to new realities win. And for this reason 

we know that, as a Bank, we generate solutions, offer services tailored to our customers' challenges and 

66,69%
17,12%

4,95%

4,15%
1,08% 6,01%

BCP África SGPS, Lda

Government of Mozambique

INSS - Instituto Nacional de Segurança Social

EMOSE - Empresa Moçambicana de Seguros, S.A.

FDC - Fundação para o Desenvolvimento da Comunidade

Gestores, Técnicos e Trabalhadores
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become a tool for their achievements. Dynamism! This is a value that is always available to Millennium 

BIM Clients. 

INNOVATIVE 

All it takes is one new idea for us to observe the world with different eyes. And sometimes, the novelty is 

in a gesture that we discover or in a screen that, with a simple click, makes us reach our destination faster. 

This is precious and motivating. This is us every day, creating new ways of overcoming. It is us, the Bank 

of yesterday that today is renewed and tomorrow surprises. On the technology trail, in human relations, 

in the way of doing business, in partnerships, we always try to be in the lead. A Bank that innovates 

because it moves with the passion and creativity that each of our customers demands and deserves. With 

us we give wings to the imagination, get to work and create countless possibilities. If it's new, it's 

Millennium BIM. 

STRATEGY 

The Bank's strategy involves a commitment to digital transformation, maintaining a focus on the sustainability of 

results, efficiency, robustness and ensuring the following: 

▪ Committed contribution to the acceleration of financial inclusion in the Mozambican economy; 

▪ Maintenance of high levels of customer satisfaction, loyalty and engagement; 

▪ Expansion of the customer base and assets under management in traditional business areas; 

▪ Promotion of new initiatives in areas with high potential growth; 

▪ Positioning at the forefront, through the exploitation of new business opportunities created by new 

technologies and in the digital sphere; 

▪ Consolidation of sectoral and regional technological leadership; 

▪ Sustained improvement in profitability and financial soundness; 

▪ Valuing, motivating and compensating Employees; 

▪ Maximizing value for Shareholders. 
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MACROECONOMIC FRAMEWORK 

INTERNATIONAL ECONOMY  

The year of 2023 was marked by a challenging and uncertain international situation. The pace of economic activity 

has slowed down, given the prevalence of the impacts arising from the conflict in Ukraine and geopolitical tensions 

in the Middle East, namely disruptions in supply chains and volatility in energy and food prices, reflected in the rise 

in inflation and, therefore, in the tightening of monetary conditions and the inherent reduction in consumption and 

private investment. In fact, aggregate demand has contracted due to the restrictive measures adopted by the main 

central banks (the US Federal Reserve and the European Central Bank), which has resulted in low levels of economic 

growth, mainly in advanced economies (USA and Eurozone). 

The world economy is expected to grow at a moderate pace in 2024, influenced by financial tightening, adverse 

climate change, and less dynamism in the Chinese economy, with repercussions on investment and trade flows. In 

advanced economies, after 2,6% growth in 2022, annual GDP change is projected to be 1,6% and 1,5% in 2023 and 

2024, respectively. In emerging market and developing economies, growth is estimated at 4,1% in 2024, the same 

level seen in 2023, according to the International Monetary Fund (IMF). 

 

Chart. GDP Growth, % 

 

In Sub-Saharan Africa, GDP growth is estimated at 3,3% in 2023 (down 0,7 percentage points from 2022), reflecting 

the poor performance of the region's largest economies, in particular Nigeria and South Africa, in a context of falling 

prices of exported raw materials, with the inherent pressures on external accounts and public finances. Reduced 

investment and financing flows, coupled with monetary policy tightening, have also contributed to the slowdown in 

growth in African economies.   

 

         Chart. GDP Growth, %  

 

According to IMF estimates, Sub-Saharan Africa's GDP is expected to grow by 3,8% in 2024 (up 0,5 percentage points 

from 2023), driven by the easing of inflationary pressures and the reversal of the restrictive monetary policy cycle, 

which should give way to growing dynamism in the region's economies. However, risks remain skewed to the upside, 
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considering, among others, the impacts of climate change and the conflict between Israel and Hamas, which could 

have negative repercussions on the world economy, putting pressure on commodity prices or reducing trade and 

investment flows. 

NATIONAL ECONONMY 

 The Mozambican economy grew by 5,4%. The economic recovery was mainly due to the impact of megaprojects, 

particularly in the mining, energy and natural gas sector in the Rovuma basin.     

      

Chart. Real GDP Growth, % 

 

Year-on-year inflation reached 5,3% in December 2023 (10,9% in 2022), which denotes the slowdown in the domestic 

price level, reflecting the stability of the Metical against the US Dollar, the reversal of adverse supply shocks, as 

well as an effective transmission of monetary policy. 

 

        Chart. Mozambique Inflation, % 

 

 

The Metical remained stable against the US dollar, due to the balance between demand and supply of foreign 

currency, having appreciated 8% against the Rand and -4% against the Euro, in annual terms. In December 2023, the 

Metical was quoted at USD/MZN 63,90, ZAR/MZN 3,47 and EUR/MZN 70,65, according to data released by the Bank 

of Mozambique.                 

 

 

 

 

2,4

4,4

5,4

2021 2022 2023P

0

3

7

10

13

2021 2022 2023

Annual Average



 

18 
 

Chart. Exchange Rate 

 

 

The monetary policy of the Bank of Mozambique remained restrictive throughout the year, in line with the 

conservative stance of the largest Central Banks in the world (US Federal Reserve and European Central Bank), 

highlighting the significant increase in the coefficient of Reserve Requirements in national currency (from 10,5% to 

39,0%) and foreign currency (from 11,5% to 39,5%), which increased the liquidity pressures of the banking system 

and,  consequently, on interest rates. 

  

        Chart. Reference Interest Rate, % 

 

 

By September 2023, there was an external deficit of USD 29 million. The decrease in imports (USD 206 million less) 

was mainly due to the reduction in public investment expenditure and restrictive financing conditions. In the period 

under review, the main goods imported were machinery (USD 384 million), fuel (USD 325 million) and construction 

material (USD 233 million), according to data released by the Bank of Mozambique. 
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Chart. Balance of Trade, in millions USD 

 

    
 

The budget deficit increased by around 28 billion of Meticais in the third quarter of 2023, resulting from the increase 

in operating expenses (9% y/y), highlighting the growing change in staff expenses (+16% y/y) within the scope of the 

implementation of the “Tabela Salarial Única” initiative. According to IMF projections, the public deficit-to-GDP 

ratio is expected to reach 2,7% in 2023, representing a decrease of 2,5 percentage points compared to 2022. 

 

Chart. State Budget 3 rd T 23, in thousand million MZN 

 

 

             

In 2024, economic growth is expected to be 5%, above world GDP and sub-Saharan Africa (3,1% and 3,8%, 

respectively) according to IMF forecasts. Economic activity will be driven by the dynamics of the extractive industry, 

especially by the production and export of natural gas, which is expected to generate 5 060 million meticais in 

revenue for the Government, according to the 2023-2025 medium-term fiscal scenario. Traditional sectors are 

expected to grow at a moderate pace, given tight financial conditions and lower aggregate demand. 

Inflation may present temporarily high values throughout 2024 (around 6%, according to IMF estimates), remaining 

in the single-digit band. The high figures in 2024 are the result of temporary effects on energy and food prices. 

Energy reflects the impact of the expected increase in the price of a barrel of oil, associated with the worsening of 

geopolitical tensions in the Middle East. In food, the rate of change in prices may also increase with the end of the 

VAT exemption on essential goods (sugar, oil and soap). 
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ACTIVITY FRAMEWORK 

REPORT ON THE BUSINESS AREAS 

Millennium Bim reaffirmed its excellence by winning the award for Best Digital Bank at Regional level. It maintained 

its commitment to contribute to the improvement of the Customer experience continuously and actively in the 

services offered in all business segments. 

MASS MARKET 

In 2023, Millennium Bim focused its efforts on attracting customers and digital transformation, having significantly 

expanded its customer base, in particular Digital customers. The Bank promoted fundraising initiatives, especially 

the Salary Account and Welcome Gift campaigns, which played a significant role in the growth of the Mass Market 

Customer portfolio. 

Regarding credit solutions, Millennium Bim has launched “Crédito na Hora”, a financing modality with immediate 

service aimed at Customers considered to be low risk. At the same time, it continued with the refurbishment and 

reopening of the counter "Balcão do Futuro" at Shoprite Maputo, a new, modern, innovative space supported by 

cash management solutions, ready to provide an efficient and agile experience to Customers. 

MTOP  

Millennium Bim has reinforced its commitment to providing distinctive services in Mozambique, especially for Clients 

who privilege digital solutions in their day-to-day lives. In the Upper Mass Market segment, the Bank prioritized the 

implementation of initiatives to boost the Digital Supply, by launching Mtop and Smart IZI transactional package 

campaigns, thus contributing to the improvement of the service experience provided to Customers. 

PRESTIGE 

In this segment, the Bank has invested in a strategy based on attracting and retaining Customers, as well as improving 

the business model. To support this strategy, it launched campaigns for the domiciliation of salaries and personal 

loan. 

PRIVATE 

In the Private segment, the adoption of a robust strategy to strengthen close relationships with Customers was 

maintained, encouraging the use of digital channels, with special emphasis on the Smart IZI APP. The initiatives 

were aimed at raising funds through a competitive supply, adapted to the needs of the Clients, and based on a fast 

and personalized process. 

COMPANIES 

In Companies, Millennium Bim consolidated its position as the No. 1 partner of Mozambican SMEs and a driving force 

of the Mozambican economy. It launched the "Parceiro Digital" campaign, with the aim of accelerating the digital 

transformation of companies, and, at the same time, promoting the adoption of solutions available in Internet 

Banking. 

Regarding fundraising, the bank launched the campaign "Campanha POS Facturação," designed with the aim of 

boosting the increase in turnover at Millennium Bim’s POS’s. 
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CORPORATE 

At the level of the Corporate network, the Bank has intensified its strategy of proximity to Customers, standing out 

not only as a financial services provider, but also as a strategic partner engaged in supporting and seeking solutions 

for the development of projects for medium and large companies. 

Millennium Bim, aware of the vital importance of the export sector and the Oil & Gas ecosystems for the country's 

economy, maintained its commitment to companies linked to megaprojects, signing a Memorandum of 

Understanding with the company “ENH – Empresa Nacional de Hidrocarbonetos”, with the aim of promoting local 

content in the Oil & Gas industry. 

In recognition of the role played by Millennium Bim in the energy and gas sector, the bank was honored with the 

title of Company of the Year, a distinction that highlights its contribution to the growth of small and medium-sized 

companies operating in the Oil & Gas ecosystem. 

SUPPLY 

Personal loans 

In the granting of loans, Millennium Bim continued its commitment to personal loan, optimizing work processes in 

the counter network and improving service levels in order to ensure the necessary fluidity, capable of supporting 

the growth of the business without affecting the commercial dynamics, highlighting the following initiatives: 

• Loan Disbursement in 24H – to meet immediate service levels, the bank made loan available through the 
automatic decision model and funding in 24 hours. 

• Personal Loan Buyback (TOP-UP) - to customers with outstanding loans without registered incidents, with 
at least 50% of the elapsed term or at least 40% of the debt service amortized. 

• Simplification of the formalization process - waiver of the promissory note and notarial recognition in 
financing contracts up to 250 000 MZN for Public Employees without withholding tax and Private Employees, 
and 500 000 MZN for Civil Servants with withholding tax. 

• Transfer of loan from CI - for public employees with withholding tax made with special conditions. 

• Extension of the deadline - for Public Employees with withholding tax, which went from 72 to 84 months. 

• Increase in loans limits by segment – introduction of new maximum limits in the granting of loan, namely 
2 750 000 MZN for Affluent Customers and 1 750 000 MZN for the traditional network; 

LONG-TERM PLACEMENTS 

Millennium Bim, committed to promoting the culture of savings and providing financial solutions adapted to the 

varied needs of Customers, continued with the launch of initiatives aimed at promoting the capture of savings, with 

emphasis on: 

Savings Plans  

Small savings products aimed at Youth, Women and Families, accessible through the Smart IZI App from 500 MZN 

and automatically renewable. 
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Millennium 4x4 Term Deposit 

The Millennium 4x4 Term Deposit, with a maturity of 180 days and competitive interest rates, was part of the year-

end deposit collection and retention campaign. The initiative offered subscribers the opportunity to participate in 

the raffle of a 4X4 "MITSUBISHI TRITON" vehicle. 

Prestige Special Deposit 

Exclusive for Individuals and Companies in the Prestige segment, the Prestige Special Deposit was developed to 

allow affluents Customers to maximize their earnings, demonstrating Millennium Bim's continuous commitment to 

providing exclusive and advantageous financial experiences for its most distinguished Customers. 

DIGITAL 

Mobile Banking 

The year 2023 was remarkable in terms of the Mobile Banking channel. It registered a significant increase in the 

number of users and transactions, from 750 to 868 thousand active users who conducted 183 million transactions.   

Millennium IZI remained in being the most used mobile platform, with more than 90% of transactions made on the 

channel. The Smart IZI App stood out in innovation, by including new features, among them, the availability of 

Savings Plans, campaign deposits and Salary Loan.  

Digital Loan 

In order to further expand its digital presence and consolidate the image of the best digital Bank, the Bank increased 

the number of Customers covered by the Salary Loan from 2 500 to 25 000. With this initiative, more Customers 

started to enjoy the convenience and agility of the loan process. 

DISTRIBUTION NETWORK 
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HUMAN RESOURCES  

In 2023, within the scope of Human Resources management, policies were developed and implemented to improve 

the performance and potential of Millennium Bim Employees. 

In the optimization of recruitment, training and skills development processes, we sought to ensure that the 

Millennium Bim team is prepared, not only for the demands of the current financial market, but also for future 

challenges, a positioning that reflects the commitment to maintain a highly qualified workforce, motivated and 

aligned with the Bank's values and objectives. 

EMPLOYEE OVERVIEW 

In 2023, Millennium Bim increased its workforce to 2 574, a growth of 2,8% compared to the previous year. 

The Bank's commitment to diversity and equal opportunities is evident in the balanced gender distribution among 

Employees, 53% of the staff is female, and 46% assume leadership roles, with special emphasis on the commercial 

area, where women in leadership positions represent 52%. 

The average age of the Employees was 35,6 years, with an average of 10 years of seniority. 

In addition, the Bank observed a continuous increase in the percentage of employees with higher education, which 

at the end of the year represented 58% of the total. 

Attraction, Selection and Integration of Talent 

Millennium Bim's talent attraction strategy in 2023 focused on the selection and integration of 236 new Employees. 

A significant milestone was the 5th edition of the People Grow Program, which provided young recent graduates and 

university finalists with a unique opportunity for integration and professional development. This program was not 

only a gateway for new talent, but also an accelerator platform for professional growth, equipping participants with 

the skills and experiences necessary to face the challenges of the banking sector. 

At the same time, Millennium Bim strengthened its collaboration with the Mozambican education system, 

establishing curricular internships and strategic partnerships with universities. These initiatives allowed Millennium 

Bim to have access to sources of talent, contributing to the strengthening of the educational ecosystem by ensuring 

that students and recent graduates were more prepared for the demands of the labor market. 

Learning and Training  

Continuous training was a strategic pillar for Millennium Bim in 2023, with an investment of 59 thousand hours in 

training, covering critical areas such as Code of Conduct, Cybersecurity and Operational Risk. This focus on 

operational rigor and risk management demonstrates the bank's commitment to operational integrity and security. 

 

The commercial training of the network's Employees was intensified, with several training sessions on products and 

services and techniques to improve excellence in customer service. 

 

Digital training also played a leading role, with about a thousand hours of specialized training, in collaboration with 

technological partners, highlighting the importance of innovation. This investment in digital training allowed a 

greater dynamization of the learning process of the teams in the technological areas, adjusting the training actions 

to their specific needs. 
 

Talent Management and Development 

In 2023, Millennium Bim maintained a strategic and comprehensive approach to talent development. 
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Emphasis has been placed on structured programs, such as "Talento Millennium Bim," aimed at identifying and 

promoting internal talent with high potential. This strategic partnership with academic institutions, such as NOVA 

SBE, provided access to an accelerated skills development program, over 18 months and more than 200 hours of 

training, thus allowing Employees to access advanced knowledge and prepare for new paradigms. 

The "Líder Millennium Bim 4.0" was another key initiative, designed to equip current leaders with the skills needed 

to navigate the modern banking environment. This program, which in previous years covered top management and 

Employees with first- and second-line functions, was extended in 2023 to Employees with branch management and 

team coordination functions at the level of central services. 

These initiatives demonstrate the bank's commitment to preparing its Employees to assume roles of greater 

responsibility and impact in the organization. 

Employee Engagement, Culture and Values 

Millennium Bim in 2023 maintained a multi-pronged approach to employee motivation, recognizing the vital 

importance of their involvement for organizational success and job satisfaction. 

The Bank promoted the recognition of Employees, based on a culture of meritocracy. This model celebrated both 

individual and team achievements. In addition, motivation was enhanced through opportunities for professional 

development and career growth. 

Millennium Bim has also been committed to cultivating a positive and inclusive work environment, with corporate 

events and social activities to strengthen the bonds between Employees. Examples of this are the holding of end-

of-year get-together events in all provinces, from North to South of the country, to strengthen ties and cohesion 

among Employees, and also the activities carried out for the families of Employees, with activities and programs 

that involve their children, including solidarity actions, aiming to strengthen ties with family and community. 

Benefits and Well-Being 

In 2023, Millennium Bim continued to reinforce its commitment to the well-being of Employees. 

The financial benefits package was adjusted in order to mitigate the impact of the increase in interest rates and, 

additionally, the amount of financing under subsidized conditions was increased in order to ensure the financial 

capacity of Employees to meet their needs. 

The bank also updated the health benefits package, covering Employees and their families. 

In response to unexpected events such as Cyclone Freddy, the bank mobilized significant resources to support 

affected Employees, including immediate assistance for relief goods and financial assistance for housing 

reconstruction. 

It continued to promote well-being by launching health campaigns, workshops, and a new meal service, entering 

into partnerships for health benefits, educational lectures, and screening sessions, thus contributing to the 

improvement of medical care conditions. 
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY AND SPONSORSHIPS 

 

Social Responsibility Actions 2023 -  “Mais Moçambique pra Mim” 

Since 2006, the year in which the Social Responsibility program – “Mais Moçambique para Mim” was created, 

Millennium Bim has supported and developed projects that contribute to improving the quality of life of 

communities. The strategy of action involves the development of a set of measures that invest in human capital as 

an engine for economic and social development. 

The Bank reaffirmed its commitment to the implementation and dissemination of the principles of the United 

Nations Global Compact Initiative on Human Rights, Labor and the Environment, as well as its support in the 

implementation of the objectives of the Business Forum for the Environment - FEMA. 

Guiding Principles of the Bank's Social Responsibility 

Since 2003, the Bank has subscribed to the Principles of the United Nations Global Compact. The objective is to 

contribute to the construction of a more sustainable global market and share values that allow the poorest and most 

vulnerable populations to access opportunities. Participating companies must adopt and promote a set of key values 

in the areas of Human Rights, Labor Standards, Environment and Anti-Corruption. 

 

HEALTH 

Rehabilitation of 41 health facilities in Zambezia province 

In 2023, in partnership with the NGO Friends in Global Health (FGH), we supported the rehabilitation of 41 health 

centers in Zambezia province. This is an initiative whose main objective was to respond to emergencies arising from 

the consequences of Cyclone Freddy. 

Participation in the Festival of Recreational Activities 

In partnership with the Ministry of Education and Human Development and the Helpo Association, the Festival of 

Playful Activities was held at the “São Carlos Lwanga” Community School, located in the Mahate Neighborhood in 

the city of Pemba. This event was attended by 200 children between 6 and 12 years old with and without special 

educational needs. 
 

EDUCATION 

12th edition of the Banking Olympics 

We held for the first time in Nampula province, the 12th edition of the Banking Olympics, a financial literacy project 

that has been in force since 2010, whose main objective is to train young people in matters related to the financial 

system, environment, savings and entrepreneurship. 

 

“Marocane” Project 

More than 1000 students at Marocane Primary School in Cabo Delgado province benefited from school supply kits. 

This support is part of the social responsibility strategy that integrates actions to improve the teaching and learning 

conditions of displaced children and victims of the humanitarian crisis in this part of the country. 
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FINANCIAL LITERACY 

Global Money Week 

On March 24th, at the “Emília Daússe” Secondary School, in Inhambane, we participated in the celebration of the 

Global Money Week, through the exhibition of products and services for the promotion of financial literacy. 

Under the motto “Planifique seu Dinheiro, Plante seu Futuro” (Plan your Money, Plant your Future), this year the 

initiative included workshops, debates, paintings/drawings, staging/simulation, quizzes and a fair, with the aim of 

empowering children and young people to make better financial decisions and ensure greater financial resilience. 

SPORT  

16th edition of the Mini Basketball tournament 

The tournament supported by Millennium Bim for 16 years celebrates the practice of sports and the healthy 

development and well-being of young people. Started on August 5th, the competition took place in the South, Center 

and North zones, with the participation of 1230 children, from 6 to 11 years old. 

 

We note that at the closing event of the tournament that took place in the province of Inhambane, Identity 

Documents were issued to 60 children participating in the tournament and food products were delivered to the 

Provincial Nursery, which houses 25 children in vulnerable situations. 
 

ENVIRONMENT 

Biodiversity Wall 

On March 31, in Maputo, we participated in the inauguration of the "Muro da Biodversidade" project, an action that 

aims to promote the painting of about 40 murals on the protection of Mozambican wildlife, marine and flora. 
 

The murals are located between the exit of Maputo International Airport, and the bridge of “Acordos de Lusaka” 

Avenue, making them the first business card for the country, through its main entrance, the beautiful city “Cidade 

das Acácias.” 
 

Conference to disseminate the potential for climate resilience and environmental conservation 

We support the holding of the " I Conferência de Divulgação de Potencialidades de Resiliência Climática e Atracção 

de Investimentos para a Conservação do Meio Ambiente" conference. 

This conference, promoted by the Government of the District of Gorongosa, served to consolidate commercial 

relations with the institutions present. 

The event was attended by the Governor of the Province and several private entities, both governmental and Non-

Governmental (NGOs). 

 

SOCIAL ACTIONS 

Solidarity Christmas 

How it has been the hallmark of Millennium Bim, every year we support with food to some institutions that have 

helped people in vulnerable situations such as the sick, the elderly and children who for various reasons have been 

removed from the family space. 
 

It was in this context that the Bank supported some institutions to carry out the Christmas festivities, thus providing 

a different day for children. This activity covered several places in our beautiful Mozambique. 
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Rehabilitation of the Sanctuary of “Boroma” 

We supported the rehabilitation of the Sanctuary “Santuário São José de Boroma”, in the province of Tete, a 

historical heritage site with more than 100 years. With this initiative, the Bank joins the effort to promote the 

heritage of the Tete region and its tourism projection at national and international level.  
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MANAGEMENT SYSTEM  

COMPLIANCE 

In its activity, the Bank seeks to adopt the highest standards of compliance with legal and regulatory provisions 

relating to consumer protection, prevention and combating of money laundering, combating the financing of 

terrorism and proliferation of weapons of mass destruction (ML/FT/FP). This commitment is reflected in its code of 

ethics and in the permanent adoption of the best practices in the sector, with a view to safeguarding compliance 

in the relationship with the Bank's different stakeholders. 

The banking sector continues to be in constant transformation and the year 2023 was no exception, having been 

marked by the amendment and revision of several legislation, with emphasis on the measures introduced as part of 

the effort to remove Mozambique from the FATF grey list. This forced the Bank to adapt quickly to accommodate 

the innovations introduced, which, in turn, contributed to improvements in procedures, revision of internal 

regulations, actions to raise awareness among Employees, increase compliance checks and adjustments/contracting 

of increasingly robust IT solutions that are appropriate to the Bank's needs in the dynamic context in which we find 

ourselves. 

Compliance, as a second line of defense, will continue to proactively ensure the identification, measurement and 

monitoring of risks, given the challenges imposed by technological transformation, escalation of geopolitical 

tensions (with enormous relevance to the sanctions program), sustainability in the field of environmental protection 

and above all the constant changes influenced by the international panorama. 

 

RISK MANAGEMENT  

Operational Risk  

Operational risk materializes in the occurrence of losses resulting from failures or inadequacy of processes, systems 

or people, or even from external events. Operational risk management at Millennium bim is based on the process 

structure. Internationally recommended methodologies are used to measure risk, such as: definition of Key Risk 

Indicators, carrying out Risk Self-Assessment and collection and analysis of Operational Losses. The Classification of 

Operating Losses in Millennium Bim is made considering 5 (five) Risk categories defined at Basel II level, namely: 

Personal, External, Procedural, IT and Organizational Risks. The profile of accumulated losses between January and 

December 2023 is shown in the figures below: 

 

 

* Material losses ≥ MZN 35 thousands
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Market Risk  

Market risks consist of the potential losses that may be recorded by a given portfolio, as a result of changes in rates 

(interest or exchange rate) and/or in the prices of the different financial instruments that compose it, considering 

not only the correlations between them, but also their volatilities. 

Interest Rate Risk  

To measure this risk, Millennium Bim adopts methodologies defined by the Bank of Mozambique through Circular 

No. 04/SCO/2013, as well as uses methodologies defined internally and based on gap analysis, distributed by residual 

repricing periods, and subject to a sensitivity analysis by interest rate change. To control this risk, transversal limits 

are defined annually for the Millennium BCP Group regarding the sensitivity of the balance sheet to the interest 

rate, indexed to the Bank's Equity. The Bank complied with the defined limits, despite having recorded a reduction 

in interest rate sensitivity in 2023, compared to the previous year, influenced by the reduction in Assets (highlighting 

the reduction in debt securities and liquidity placements to meet the new reserve requirement that came into force 

throughout 2023). 

 

 
Exchange Rate Risk  

For the control of this risk, limits have been defined by the Bank of Mozambique (Global Position must not exceed 

20% of Own Funds and Position per Currency must not exceed 10%), which are permanently monitored and respected 

by Millennium Bim. 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk consists of the potential inability of Millennium Bim to meet its obligations at the time of their maturity 

without incurring significant losses, resulting from a deterioration in financing conditions (financing risk) and/or the 

sale of its assets at values below market values (market liquidity risk). 

The measurement of Liquidity Risk in Millennium Bim is done through a set of indicators, namely: Immediate and 

Quarterly Liquidity, Commercial Gap (By Currency), Liquidity Gap, LCR (Liquidity Coverage Ratio) and NSFR (Net 

Stable Funding Ratio) for which exposure limits are defined. 

Additionally, Millennium Bim monitors the Liquidity Ratio daily. According to Notice No. 14/GBM/2017 of 09/06 of 

the Bank of Mozambique, Banks must maintain a daily Liquidity Ratio of not less than 25%. Millennium Bim has been 

strictly controlling and complying with this indicator, with results above 25%. 

 

 

 

in millions MZN

100 bp 200 bp 100 bp 200 bp

MZN 384 768 135 269

USD 83 167 -24 -48

ALL CURRENCIES* 485 969 128 256

*includes other currencies

Bank Portfolio Interest Rate Risk Sensitivity Analysis - internal 

methodology

Dec.22 Dec.23
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Credit Risk 

Credit risk is associated with the occurrence of losses resulting from the failure of borrowers, or issuers of securities 

or counterparties to contracts to comply with their financial obligations under the agreed terms. In terms of this 

risk, the Risk Office has developed actions aimed at identifying/measuring and controlling this risk. 

Distribution of Impairment Exposures 

The graph below illustrates the distribution of impairment exposures in BIM in accordance with the approved 

strategies for the development of the activity. 

 

 

 

 

 

Key Credit Risk Indicators 

 

The following is the quarterly evolution of the main credit level indicators with signs of risk and coverage of credit 

exposure between December 2022 and 2023: 

        

      dec/23 sept/23 jun/23 mar/23 dec/22 

On-balance loans impairment / NPE 47,2% 32,2% 59,3% 56,3% 53,5% 
Impairments + Collateral Ratio / NPE 95,0% 94,7% 110,4% 109,6% 108,0% 

        
NPL = Non Performing Loans      
Total Loans = On-balance sheet Loans 

Exposure      
NPE = Non Perfoming Exposure      

 

Compared to Dec.22, there was an increase in the relative weight of on-balance loans impairment on NPEs. 

 

41,0%
34,1%

42,9%
48,7%
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 

BIM - Banco Internacional de Moçambique, S.A., in accordance with the provisions of Notice No. 04/GBM/2007 and 

complementary provisions issued by the Bank of Mozambique, presents in this report the individual financial 

statements for the financial years 2022 and 2023. 

The 2023 financial year was marked by a challenging environment on a global scale, resulting from disruptions in 

supply chains and volatility in energy and food prices, reflected in the rise in inflation and, therefore, in the 

tightening of monetary conditions. 

In Mozambique, the Central Bank increased the reserve requirement ratio from 10,5 percent to 39,0 percent in the 

national currency and from 11,5 percent to 39,5 percent in the foreign currency. This measure, which aimed to 

reduce market liquidity, put the financial system under pressure, influencing the evolution of interest rates, slowing 

credit demand and reviewing pricing policies. 

In the face of a challenging context, Millennium Bim, once again, demonstrated resilience, maintained its 

commitment to digital transformation and the reinforcement of operational efficiency, without neglecting its focus 

on financial soundness, supported by good governance, adequate level of capital, balance sheet robustness, 

comfortable liquidity position, prudent risk management, adoption of good transparency practices in the 

relationship with Customers,  as well as in compliance with regulatory standards. 

 

PROFITABILITY ANALYSIS 

NET PROFIT 

In 2023, Millennium Bim recorded a net profit of 7 211 million Meticais, which compares with the 6 613 million 

Meticais recorded in 2022, representing a growth of 9,0%. 

 

OPERATING INCOME 

The Operating Income amounted to 18 196 million Meticais, showing a slight increase of around 1,4% (+254 million 

Meticais), compared to the 17 942 million Meticais recorded in 2022. This performance was induced by: 

 

This performance reflects:  

▪ The favorable evolution of the banking 

product, supported by the increase in net 

interest margin and commissions; 

▪ The controlled growth of operating costs 

in line with the plan for the improvement 

and expansion of the technological 

infrastructure; and 

▪ The significant reversal of impairments of 

loans resulting from recoveries in the 

year. 
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3 183 3 473

3 418
3 996

1 051
1 234

7 651
8 703

Dec-22 Dec-23

Depreciation and amortization for the year

Other administrative expenses

Staff expenses

Efficiency Ratio

Operating Costs
Millions in MZN

 

 
▪ Increase in Net Interest Margin by 2,3% (+312 

million Meticais), influenced by the increase 

in the profitability of financial assets, 

although the increase in reserves requirement 

contributed to the reduction of the portfolio 

of placements; 

▪ Growth in Income from Fees and Net 

Commissions by 3,4% (+90 million Meticais), 

revealing the expansion of digital channels, 

embodied in the increase in new memberships 

and the number of transactions, favoring the 

positive evolution of the volume of total 

commissions; 

▪ Increase in Other Operating Income by 84,9% 

(+146 million Meticais), mainly explained by 

the result of the reversal of provisions and 

revaluation of investment properties. 

 
 

 

OPERATING COSTS AND EFFICIENCY RATIO 

Operating costs, which include staff costs, other administrative expenses and depreciation and amortization for the 

year, amounted to 8 703 million Meticais, representing an increase of 13,7% (+ 1 052 million Meticais). 
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172 31885 68
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▪ Staff Costs grew by 9,1% (+290 million 

Meticais), reflecting the impact of salary 

adjustments and respective social charges; 

▪ Other Administrative Expenses, with an 

increase of 16,9% (+578 million Meticais), 

influenced by investment in the technological 

platform and other third-party services, 

combined with high inflationary pressures; 

▪ Depreciation and Amortization for the Year 

grew by 17,5% (+183 million Meticais), 

reflecting investments in the IT platform to 

support the effort in the bank's continuous 

digitalization.   

 

42,6% 47,8%
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EFFICIENCY RATIO  

The cost-to-income ratio stood at 47,8% in 2023, compared to 42,6% in 2022. The evolution of this ratio reflects, on 

the one hand, the effect of the increase in reserves requirement on the evolution of net interest margin and, on 

the other hand, the growth in operating costs, as a result of inflationary pressures and investments in IT platforms. 

 

LOAN IMPAIRMENT 

 

▪ In 2023, loan impairment (net of recoveries 

of written off loan) decreased by 411% (-2 

262 million Meticais), when compared to the 

550 million Meticais recorded in 2022; 

▪ This reduction was influenced by the 

recovery of loans, with the inherent 

reversals of impairment; 

▪ The cost of risk, assessed by the proportion 

of loan impairment appropriations (net of 

write-downs), as a function of the loan 

portfolio, stood at -371 basis points in 2023, 

compared to 118 points in 2022. 

 

 

ANALYSIS OF THE PATRIMONIAL STRUCTURE 

Millennium Bim maintained the solidity of its patrimonial structure, with total assets standing at 190 385 million 

Meticais, down 0,7% from the previous year. Placements in other banks and financial assets at amortized cost 

decreased by 52,1% and 29,7%, respectively, offset by the 202,2% increase in cash and cash equivalents at the Bank 

of Mozambique, which now accounted for 30,1% of total assets, due to the increase in the reserve requirement 

ratio. 

Net loan to Customers, representing 23,2% of total assets, increased from 42 800 million Meticais in 2022 to 44 208 

million Meticais, corresponding to an increase of 3,3%. 

In terms of liabilities, there was a reduction of 2,3%, impacted by the evolution of deposits from customers, which 

reduced by 3,8%, to 146 447 million Meticais. 

Net assets stood at 36 885 million Meticais, 6,8% above the previous year, mainly explained by the incorporation of 

2022 results. 

550
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LOANS TO CUSTOMERS (GROSS)  

Given the prevalence of instability in fuel and raw material prices, combined with a restrictive monetary policy, 

with impacts on the reduction of consumption and private investment, Millennium Bim continued with the policy of 

prudence in the granting of loan, supported by the rigorous selection of operations according to risk, profitability 

and the continuous improvement of risk assessment and management processes. 

 

 

▪ In 2023, Loans to Customers (gross) 

decreased by 1%, from 46,6 to 46,2 thousand 

million Meticais; 

▪ This reduction, mainly recorded in the 

corporate segment, is explained by loan 

operations written off, given the absence of 

reasonable expectations of recovery; 

▪ Consumption and individuals loan grew by 

3,2 thousand million Meticais (+29%) in 2023, 

representing a weight of 31% in the structure 

of the loan portfolio (2022: 24%); 

▪ Likewise, the extractive industry and trade 

sectors also evolved favorably, with an 

increase of 913% and 64%, respectively. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2022 2023 Var. %

Cash and Cash Equivalents in Bank of Mozambique 18 978 57 359 202,2%0

Cash equivalents and Placements in other Banks 50 210 26 004 -48,2%0

Loans to customers (net) 42 801 44 208 3,3%0

Financial Assets at amortised cost 57 720 40 572 -29,7%0

Financial Assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 7 173 7 038 -1,9%0

Investiments in associates 100 100 0,0%0,0%

Tangible and Intangible assets 6 476 6 823 5,4%0,0%

Other Assets 8 196 8 281 1,0%0

191 653 190 385 -0,7%

34 851
31 289

10 981
14 160

743 725

46 575 46 175

Dec-22 Dec-23

Housing
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CREDITWORTHINESS  

 

 

▪ The year 2023 was characterized by a cautious 

monitoring of the evolution of portfolio risk in the 

face of a macroeconomic context that was still 

challenging, strongly conditioned by disruptions in 

supply chains, particularly of fuels and raw 

materials. Millennium Bim remained resilient to 

the deterioration of credit risk, safeguarding 

against potential default through the constitution 

of impairments; 

▪ The creditworthiness portfolio translated into a 

ratio of loans overdue for more than 90 days as a 

percentage of the total portfolio of 2,9% and a 

coverage of loans overdue for more than 90 days 

of 148,4%, reflecting the elimination of doubtful 

recovery operations and the prudential criteria 

that ensure comfortable levels of coverage. 

 
 

DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS  

 

 

▪ Deposits from customers, which comprise 

Customer Deposits, checks and orders payable, 

among other resources, decreased from 152 176 to 

146 447 million Meticais, representing a decrease 

of 3,8% when compared to the previous year. This 

reduction was influenced by the decrease of 5,1% 

in demand deposits in national currency and 22,2% 

in demand deposits in foreign currency; 

▪ Millennium Bim maintains a comfortable share of 

deposits in the Mozambican financial system, with 

term and demand deposits representing 52% and 

47% of the total deposit structure, respectively. 

 

 

 

EQUITY  
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Millennium Bim's capital ratios, calculated in compliance with the premises of the prudential regulatory standards 

stipulated by the Central Bank, reflect its financial soundness and robustness, presenting a Solvency ratio of 37,2% 

in 2023, an indicator clearly above the minimum required value of 12%. 

PROPOSAL OF THE APPLICATION OF RESULTS 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

BANK INCOME STATEMENT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31st,2023  

  

 

 

 

To be read with the notes attached to the financial statements.  

MZN'000

Notes 2023 2022

Interest and similar income 4 20 497 345 19 908 860

Interest and similar expense 4                 (6 520 717)                       (6 244 687)

Net interest income 13 976 628 13 664 173

Income from equity instruments 5 67 588 84 555

Fees and commission income/expense 6 2 704 045 2 614 143

Results in financial operations 7 1 129 670 1 407 241

Other operating results 8 317 952 171 927

Total operating income 18 195 883 17 942 039

Staff expenses 9                 (3 472 655)                       (3 182 656)

Other administrative expenses 10                 (3 996 496)                       (3 418 133)

Depreciation and amortization for the year 11                 (1 234 001)                       (1 050 512)

Total operating costs                 (8 703 152)                       (7 651 301)

Impairment of loans to customers 12                  1 711 897                          (550 096)

Other provisions and impairment 13                    (948 930)                          (687 071)

Profit before tax 10 255 698                        9 053 571 

Taxation 

Currents 14                 (2 186 717)                       (2 439 868)

Deferred 14                    (858 082)                                 (888)

                (3 044 799)                       (2 440 756)

Profit for the year 7 210 899 6 612 815

Profit per share 15 160,24 MZN 146,95 MZN
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BANK STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31st,2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                     MZN' 000

2023 2022

Profit for the year             7 210 899                6 612 815 

Items that may be reclassified to the Income Statement 

Financial assets through other comprehensive income - changes in fair value                 125 767                   (90 816)

125 767               (90 816)                  

Items that will not be reclassified to the Income Statement 

Acturial losses and gains for the year                 (17 804)                   110 548 

(17 804)                110 548                 

Other comprehensive income for the post-tax period 107 963               19 732                   

Total Comprehensive Income for the year             7 318 862                6 632 547 
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BANK STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31st,2023 

 

 

 

 

To be read with the notes attached to the financial statements.  

 

MZN'000

Notes

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents in Central Banks 16 57 359 227 18 977 649

Cash and cash equivalents with other Credit Institutions 17 2 783 319 1 722 799

Placements in other Banks 18 23 220 426 48 487 516

Loans to customers 19 44 207 638 42 800 908

Financial assets at amortised cost 20 40 571 937 57 720 007

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 21 7 038 353 7 172 774

Investments in associates 22 99 501 99 501

Non-current assets held for sale 23 582 707 1 391 214

Investment properties 24 2 563 178 854 519

Other tangible assets 25 5 966 088 5 718 513

Intangible assets 26 856 946 757 947

Current tax assets 27 419 213 408 614

Deferred tax assets 28 114 450 955 548

Other Assets 29 4 601 645 4 585 614

Total Assets 190 384 628 191 653 123

Liabilities

Deposits from other Banks 30 1 485 100 231 651

Deposits from customers 31 146 446 844 152 176 154

Provisions 32 515 095 768 371

Current tax liabilities 27 19 48

Other Liabilities 33 5 052 512 3 951 092

Total Liabilities 153 499 570 157 127 316

Equity

Issued Capital 34 4 500 000 4 500 000

Reserves and Retained Earnings 35 32 385 058 30 025 807

Total Equity 36 885 058 34 525 807

Total liabilities and equity 190 384 628 191 653 123

2023 2022
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BANK STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31st,2023 

  

 

To be read with the notes attached to the financial statements.  

Notes 2023 2022

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest and commission received 22 152 535 21 795 372

Interest and commission paid  ( 7 591 751)  ( 6 327 424)

Payments to staff and suppliers  ( 7 849 659)  ( 5 914 285)

Recovery of previously written-off loans 160 107 296 054

Operating results before changes in operating funds

6 871 232 9 849 717

Increase/Decrease in operating assets

Financial assets at amortised cost 19 294 701 13 096 573

Placements in other Banks 25 411 594  ( 29 056 615)

Deposits in Central Banks  ( 38 639 925) 4 775 890

Loans to customers  ( 416 987)  ( 1 713 224)

Other assets  ( 1 045 712)  ( 1 389 071)

Increase/Decrease in operating liabilities

Deposits from other Banks 1 253 548  ( 254 672)

Customer deposits and other loans  ( 5 115 766) 14 543 697

Other Liabilities 1 764 828  ( 303 392)

Net cash flows from operating activities before payment 

of taxes on profits 9 377 513 9 548 903

Taxes paid on profits  ( 2 197 345)  ( 2 451 562)

Net cash flows from operating activities 7 180 168 7 097 341

Cash flows from investing activities

Dividends received 67 588 84 555

Acquisition of tangible and intangible assets 25     26  ( 1 490 384)  ( 916 422)

Amounts received on the sale of tangible and intangible assets 25   26 91 717 4 027

Net cash flows from investing activities  ( 1 331 079)  ( 827 840)

Cash flows from financing activities

Dividends paid  ( 4 959 611)  ( 12 390 100)

Supplementary Capital Instalments

Payment of principal from lease liabilities  ( 295 740)  ( 297 111)

Interest on lease agreements  ( 67 982)  ( 84 924)

Interest paid on financing activities

Net cash flows from financing activities  ( 5 323 333)  ( 12 772 135)

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents

276 416  ( 286 348)

Decrease/Increase in cash and cash equivalents 802 173  ( 6 788 982)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 6 267 862 13 056 844

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 39 7 070 035 6 267 862

MZN'000
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BANK STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31st,2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

               MZN'000

Balance as per 31 December 2021 40 283 360 4 500 000 4 529 645 31 253 715

Dividends distributed in 2022 (12 390 100)  -  - (12 390 100)

Comprehensive income 6 632 547  -  - 6 632 547

Balance as per 31 December 2022 34 525 807 4 500 000 4 529 645 25 496 162

Dividends distributed in 2023 (4 959 611)  -  - (4 959 611)

Transfer to legal reserve  - 2 469 942 (2 469 942)

Comprehensive income 7 318 862  -  - 7 318 862

Balance as per 31 December 2023 36 885 058 4 500 000 6 999 587 25 385 471

Total equity

Issued capital Legal reserve
Reserves and 

Retained Earnings
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1. Introductory note  

BIM – Banco Internacional de Moçambique, S.A. ("the Bank" or "BIM") is an essentially private capital bank with its 

registered office in Maputo. 

BIM is a company domiciled in Mozambique and a subsidiary of Banco Comercial Português SA, a parent company, 

domiciled in Portugal that holds a majority stake of 66,7% of the share capital. 

The Bank's main purpose is to carry out financial operations and provide all services permitted to commercial banks 

in accordance with the legislation in force, namely the granting of loans in national and foreign currency, the 

granting of letters of credit and bank guarantees, transactions in foreign currency, the reception of deposits in 

national and foreign currency. 

The Bank presents financial statements reflecting the results of its operations for the year ended December 31, 

2023. 

Basis of presentation   

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

("IFRS"). IFRS includes standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and interpretations 

issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee and interpretations issued by the 

International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (IFRIC) and its predecessor bodies. 

The financial statements have been prepared on the assumption of continuity of operations and in accordance with 

the principle of historical cost, modified by the application of fair value to investment properties and financial 

assets and liabilities. 

The financial statements now presented reflect the results of the Bank's operations for the year ended December 

31, 2023 and were approved by the Board of Directors on February 20th, 2024. 

Functional and presentation currency 

The financial statements are expressed in Meticais, rounded to the nearest Metical (MT) unit, except where 

indicated. 

Use of Judgments and Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Executive Committee to formulate 

judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the value of assets, 

liabilities, income and costs. The associated estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience and other 

factors deemed reasonable under the circumstances and form the basis for judgments about the values of assets 

and liabilities whose appreciation is not evident from other sources. Actual results may differ from estimates. 

Matters that require a higher level of judgement or complexity or for which assumptions and estimates are 

considered significant are set out in the accounting policy described in the relevant note. 

2. Accounting policies 

The accounting policies were applied in a manner consistent with those used in the preparation of the financial 

statements for the prior period. The changes in accounting policies, applicable from 1 January 2023, described in 

note 1. (u) has no effect on the financial statements. 

a) Basis of consolidation  

The Bank applies IFRS 3 (revised) for the accounting recognition of business combinations. 

The financial statements now presented reflect the assets, liabilities, income and costs of the Bank. 
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b) Financial Instruments (IFRS 9)  

 

FINANCIAL ASSETS  

A. Classification, initial recognition, and subsequent measurement 

At the time of their initial recognition, financial assets are classified into one of the following categories: 

i) Financial assets at amortized cost; 

ii) Financial assets at fair value through comprehensive income; or 

iii) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 

The classification is carried out considering the following aspects: 

• The Bank's business model for the management of financial assets; and 

• The characteristics of the contractual cash flows of the financial asset. 

  

Business Model Assessment  

As observed in the 2022, during 2023 the Bank reassessed the business model in which financial instruments are 

held, at the portfolio level, as this approach best reflects how assets are managed and how information is made 

available to management bodies. Although no changes were made to the business model, this assessment 

included: 

• The policies and objectives established for the portfolio and the practical operability of these policies, 

including the way in which the management strategy focuses on the receipt of contracted interest, 

maintaining a certain interest rate profile, adjusting the duration of financial assets, the duration of the 

liabilities that finance these assets or the realization of cash-flows through the sale of assets; 

• The way in which the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Bank's management 

bodies; 

• The assessment of the risks affecting the performance of the business model (and of the financial assets 

held under that business model) and how those risks are managed; 

• The remuneration of business managers – e.g. the extent to which compensation depends on the fair value 

of assets under management or on the contractual cash flows received; 

• The frequency, volume and frequency of sales in previous periods, the reasons for such sales and 

expectations about future sales. However, information on sales should not be considered in isolation, but 

as part of an overall assessment of how the Bank sets financial asset management objectives and how cash 

flows are obtained. 

The classification of financial assets can be carried out into three categories, using different measurement criteria 

(fair value through profit or loss, fair value through comprehensive income and amortized cost). The classification 

of assets depends on the business model under which the financial assets are managed and the characteristics of 

the contractual cash flows. 
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Evaluation of whether the contractual cash flows correspond only to the receipt of principal and interest 

In the evaluation of financial instruments in which contractual cash-flows refer exclusively to the receipt of 

principal and interest, the Bank considered the original contractual terms of the instrument. In the evaluation 

process, the Bank considered: 

• Contingent events that may modify the frequency and amount of cash-flows; 

• Characteristics that result in leverage; 

• Advance payment and maturity extension clauses; 

• Clauses that may limit the Bank's right to claim cash flows in relation to specific assets (e.g. contracts with 

clauses that prevent access to assets in the event of default – "non-recourse asset"); and 

• Characteristics that can modify the compensation by the time value of money. In addition, an early payment 

is consistent with the amortized cost classification criteria if: 

o The financial asset is acquired or originated at a premium or discount to the nominal contract 

value; 

o The advance payment represents substantially the nominal amount of the contract plus periodized 

but unpaid contractual interest (may include reasonable compensation for the early payment); 

and 

o The fair value of the advance payment is negligible at initial recognition. 

 

B. Financial assets at amortized cost  

 
Classification  

A financial asset is classified in the category of "Financial assets at amortized cost" if it cumulatively meets the 

following conditions: 

• the financial asset is held in a business model whose main objective is to hold assets to collect its contractual 

cash flows; and 

• its contractual cash flows occur on specific dates and correspond only to principal and interest payments of 

the amount owed. 

The category of "Financial assets at amortized cost" includes placements in other banks, loans to Customers and 

debt securities managed on the basis of a business model whose objective is to collect their contractual cash 

flows (government bonds, bonds issued by companies and commercial paper). 

 

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement 

Placements in other banks and loans to Customers are recognized on the date on which the funds are made available 

to the counterparty (settlement date). Debt securities are recognized on the trade date, that is, on the date on 

which the Bank undertakes to acquire them. 

Financial assets at amortized cost are initially recognized at their fair value plus transaction costs and are 

subsequently measured at amortized cost. In addition, they are subject, from their initial recognition to the 
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calculation of impairment losses for expected credit losses, which are recorded against the item "Other impairments 

and provisions". 

The gains or losses generated at the time of their derecognition are recorded under the heading "Other impairments 

and provisions". 

C. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income  

Classification  

A financial asset is classified in the category of "Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 

income" if it cumulatively meets the following conditions: 

• The financial asset is held in a business model where the objective is to collect its contractual cash 

flows and sell that financial asset; 

• its contractual cash flows occur on specific dates and correspond only to principal and interest 

payments of the amount owed. 

 

In addition, on initial recognition of an equity instrument, which is not held for trading, nor a contingent 

consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3 applies, the Bank may irrevocably 

elect to classify it in the category of "Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income" (FVOCI). 

This option is exercised on a case-by-case, investment-by-investment basis and is available only for financial 

instruments that meet the definition of equity instruments in IAS 32 and cannot be used for financial instruments 

that are classified as an equity instrument in the issuer's sphere under the exceptions in paragraphs 16A to 16D of 

IAS 32. 

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement 

Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income are initially recognized at their fair value, plus 

transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at fair value. Changes in the fair value of these financial assets 

are recorded against other comprehensive income and, at the time of their disposal, the respective gains or losses 

accrued in other comprehensive income are recognized under another comprehensive income. 

No impairment is recognized for equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income, and the 

respective accumulated gains or losses are recorded in fair value changes transferred to Retained earnings at the 

time of their derecognition. 

 

RECLASSIFICATION BETWEEN CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS  

Financial assets are reclassified to other categories only if the business model used in their management is 

changed. 

The reclassification is applied prospectively from the date of recognition, and no previously recognized gains, losses 

(including impairment related losses) or interest are restated. 

The reclassification of investments in equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive 

income or financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss shall not be permitted. 
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MODIFICATION AND DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS  

General principles  

I. The Bank shall derecognize a financial asset when, and only when: 

• The contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; or 

• Transfers the financial asset as set out in notes (ii) and (iii) below and the transfer satisfies the 

conditions for derecognition in accordance with point (iv). 

II. The Bank transfers a financial asset if, and only if, it either: 

• Transfer the contractual rights to receive the cash flows resulting from the financial asset; or 

• Retains the contractual rights to receive the cash flows resulting from the financial asset, but 

assumes a contractual obligation to pay the cash flows to one or more recipients in an arrangement 

that satisfies the conditions set out in point iii). 

III. When the Bank retains contractual rights to receive cash flows from a financial asset (the 'original asset') 

but enters into a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to one or more entities (the 'final 

recipients'), the Bank treats the transaction as a transfer of a financial asset if, and only if, all three of 

the following conditions are met:   

• The Bank is under no obligation to pay sums to final recipients unless it receives equivalent sums 

from the original assets. Short-term advances by the entity entitled to full recovery of the amount 

borrowed plus interest accrued at market rates do not breach this condition; 

• The Bank is prohibited by the terms of the transfer agreement from selling or pledging the original 

asset other than as collateral to the final recipients for the obligation to pay them cash flows; and 

• The Bank has an obligation to remit any cash flow it receives on behalf of the final recipients without 

significant delay. In addition, it does not have the right to reinvest such cash flows, except in the 

case of investments in cash or its equivalents (as defined in IAS 7 Statements of Cash Flows) during 

the short settlement period between the date of receipt and the date of required delivery to the 

final recipients, and the interest received as a result of such investments is passed on to the final 

recipients. 

IV. When the Bank transfers a financial asset (see point ii above), it must assess the extent to which it retains 

the risks and rewards arising from the ownership of that asset. In this case: 

• If the Bank transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards arising from the ownership of the 

financial asset, it shall derecognize the financial asset and separately recognize as assets or liabilities 

any rights and obligations created or retained by the transfer;  

• If the Bank retains substantially all the risks and rewards arising from the ownership of the financial 

asset, it continues to recognize the financial asset.  

• If the Bank does not transfer and retain substantially all the risks and rewards arising from the 

ownership of the financial asset, it shall determine whether it has retained control of the financial 

asset. In this case: 

▪ If the Bank has not retained control, it shall derecognize the financial asset and recognize 

separately as assets or liabilities any rights and obligations created or retained by the 

transfer; 
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▪ If the Bank has retained control, it should continue to recognize the financial asset to the 

extent of its continued involvement in the financial asset. 

 

V. The transfer of risks and rewards referred to in the previous point is assessed by comparing the Bank's 

exposure, before and after the transfer, to the variability of the amounts and times of occurrence of the 

net cash flows resulting from the transferred asset. 

VI. The question of whether the Bank retained control (see point iv above) of the transferred asset depends 

on the ability of the transferee to sell the asset. If the transferee has the practical ability to sell the asset 

in its entirety to an unrelated third party and can exercise that ability unilaterally and without having to 

impose additional restrictions on the transfer, the entity shall be deemed not to have retained control. In 

all other cases, the entity is deemed to have retained control. 

Derecognition criteria  

In the context of the general principles described in the previous section, and considering that contract 

amendment processes may lead, in some circumstances, to the derecognition of original financial assets and the 

recognition of new assets (subject to the identification of purchased or originated credit-impaired assets - POCI) 

the purpose of this section is to establish the criteria and circumstances that lead to the derecognition of a 

financial asset. 

The Bank considers that a change in the terms and conditions of a credit exposure will result in the derecognition 

of the transaction and the recognition of a new transaction when the change results in at least one of the 

following conditions: 

- Creation of a new exposure resulting from a debt consolidation; 

- Change in qualitative characteristics, namely: 

o Change of currency, unless the exchange rate between the old and new currency is linked or 

administered within limits restricted by law or relevant monetary authorities; 

o Exclusion or addition of a substantial feature of capital conversion into a debt instrument, unless 

it is not reasonably possible for it to be exercised during its maturity; 

o Transfer of credit risk from the instrument to another borrower, or a significant change in the 

structure of borrowers within the instrument. 

 

 

Write-off of Loans 

The Bank recognizes a loan write-off if it does not have reasonable expectations of recovering it in whole or in 

part. This record comes after all the recovery actions carried out by the Bank proved fruitless. Loans written off 

are recorded in off-balance sheet accounts. 

Purchased or originated credit-impaired assets 

Purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) assets are assets that present objective evidence of credit 

impairment at the time of their initial recognition. An asset is in credit-impaired if one or more events have 

occurred with a negative impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset. 
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IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 

Financial instruments subject to impairment losses recognition  

The Bank recognizes impairment losses for expected credit losses on financial instruments recorded under 

the following accounting items: 

a) Financial assets at amortized cost  

Impairment losses on financial assets at amortized cost reduce the balance sheet value of these financial assets 

against the item "Other Impairments and Provisions" (in the income statement). 

b) Credit commitments, documentary credits and financial guarantees  

Impairment losses associated with credit commitments, documentary credits and financial guarantees are 

recognized in liabilities, under the balance "Provisions for guarantees and other commitments", against the item 

"Other provisions" (in the income statement). 

Classification of financial instruments by stages: 

 

The Bank shall determine the expected credit losses of each operation in the light of the deterioration in credit 

risk observed since its initial recognition. For this purpose, operations are classified into one of the following 

three stages: 

- Stage 1: operations in which there has been no significant increase in credit risk since its initial recognition 

are classified in this stage, regardless of creditworthiness (unless they are purchased or originated with 

objective evidence of loss). Impairment losses associated with transactions classified in this stage are 

expected credit losses resulting from a default event that may occur within 12 months after the reporting 

date (12-month expected credit losses). 

- Stage 2: operations in which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since their initial 

recognition, but which are not impaired, are classified in this stage. Impairment losses associated with 

transactions classified in this stage are the expected credit losses resulting from default events that may 

occur over the expected residual life of the transactions (lifetime expected credit losses). 

- Stage 3: impaired operations are classified in this stage. Impairment losses associated with transactions 

classified at this stage correspond to expected lifetime credit losses. 

Definition of financial assets with a significant increase in credit risk 

1. Delay  

• Entry criteria: Customers with at least one transaction that has been overdue for more than 30 days. 

• Exit criteria: 3 Months without meeting the entry criteria.   

   Change in credit risk since initial recognition 

                               

                                                      Stage 1        Stage 2        Stage 3 

Classification criteria Initial Recognition Significant increase in 

credit risk since initial 

recognition 

Impaired 

Impairment losses Expected 12-month 

credit losses 

Expected lifetime credit losses  
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2. Restructured 

• Entry criteria: Clients with at least one transaction within the restructured booking period due to financial 

difficulties. 

• Exit criteria: Regularization of the situation. 

 

3. Early Warning Signs (EWS) 

• Entry criteria: Clients with at least one of the valid EWS triggers under the impairment model (Bounced 

Checks and Check Use Inhibition). 

• Exit criteria: 3 Months without meeting the entry criteria. 

 

4. Notch Downgrade (Effective Nov.21). 

• Entry criteria: Customers who register historical variation in the degrees of risk in the following ways: 

• Clients with exposures originating at risk level 7 or lower, if their risk degree has increased by more than 3 

notches, are classified at least in stage 2. 

• Clients with exposures originating with risk level 8 or higher, if their risk degree has increased by more than 

2 notches, are classified at least in stage 2 

• Exit Criteria: Customer no longer activates the entry criteria. 

 

5. Other subjective evidence 

• Entry criteria: Customers who are classified in stage 2 through the KIWI questionnaire. 

• Exit criteria: Regularization of the situation. 

 

Definition of financial assets in default 

• Default 

Entry criteria: Client who, at the reference date, simultaneously verifies: 

• At least one operation with capital or interest overdue for more than 90 days; and 

• Sum of overdue loan (principal + interest) higher than the absolute materiality criteria; and 

• Sum of overdue loan (principal + interest) greater than 1% of the client's balance sheet exposure. 

Exit criteria: Companies (12 Months without meeting entry criteria.) and Individuals (3 Months without meeting 

entry criteria) 

• Written-Off  

Entry criteria: Client who, at the reference date, simultaneously verifies: 

• Sum of the amount deducted higher than the absolute materiality criteria; and 

• Sum of the amount written off in excess of 1 % of the client's balance sheet exposure. 

Exit criteria: Payment of the amount deducted by the Client. 

• Litigation 
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Entry Criteria: Client with at least one contract in litigation. 

Exit criteria: Regularization of the situation. 

• Insolvency 

Entry criteria: Client with legally declared insolvency. 

Exit criteria: Regularization of the situation. 

• Restructured 

Entry criteria: Client who, at the reference date, simultaneously verifies: 

• At least one restructured operation; and 

• At least one operation with capital or interest due for more than 30 days; and 

• Sum of overdue loan (principal + interest) higher than the absolute materiality criteria; and 

• Sum of overdue loan (principal + interest) greater than 1% of the Client's balance sheet exposure. 

Exit criteria: 12 Months without meeting the entry criteria1. 

• Double Restructuring  

Entry criteria: Clients with operations restructured due to financial difficulties that, within the period of marking 

restructured, register recurrence of operations restructured due to financial difficulties. 

The trigger is activated if the Client meets at least one of the following conditions: 

• Operation within the restructured marking period that verifies a change in the maturity date between two 

different dates; or 

• New operation restructured due to financial difficulties having at least one other operation that is still 

within the restructured marking period. 

Exit Criteria: 12 Months without meeting the entry criteria. 

• Non-performing loans  

Entry criteria: Client with at least one restructured transaction with an interest rate equal to 0%. 

Exit criteria: Regularization of the situation 

• Individual Analysis  

Entry criteria: Customer with impairment rate resulting from individual analysis. 

Exit criteria: Regularization of the situation. 

Estimation of expected credit losses - Individual analysis 

A. Customers who meet one of the following conditions are subject to individual analysis: 

▪ Stage 3: Exposure ≥ MZN 10.000.000 Customers in Stage 3 or Groups with at least one member 

in Stage 3. 

▪ Stage 2: Exposure ≥ MZN 20.000.000 Customers in Stage 2 or Groups with at least one member 

in Stage 2 

▪ Stage 1: Exposure ≥ MZN 30.000.000 Clients in Stage 1 or Groups with at least one member in 

Stage 1. 
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▪ Economic groups: Only members of the Economic Group with exposure ≥ MZN 8.000.000 are 

selected. 

 

B. The individual analysis includes the following procedures: 

For Customers who are captured in the first group, ". Stage 3", it is directly assumed that the Group/Customer has 

objective evidence of impairment, and the loss is determined through the Discounted Cash Flow (DCF) method. 

For Customers who are captured in one or more of the remaining groups, "Stage 2", "Stage 1", the analysis will 

include filling out a questionnaire to verify whether the Customer has objective evidence of impairment. 

 Individually significant Clients without any evidence of impairment or with an individual impairment 

rate equal to 0%, the impairment is calculated according to the criteria of the collective. 

In determining impairment losses on an individual basis, the following factors are considered, among others: 

• The total exposure of each Customer with the Bank and the existence of overdue loan; 

• The economic and financial viability of the Client's business and its ability to generate sufficient 

means to service the debt in the future; 

• The existence, nature and estimated value of the collateral associated with each loan; 

• The significant deterioration in the Client's rating; 

• The Client's assets in situations of liquidation or bankruptcy; 

• The amount and estimated recovery times. 

The individual analysis is the responsibility of the Credit Directorate and the Credit Recovery Directorates. 

Each of the units referred to in the previous point is responsible for carrying out the Client's risk assessment that 

allows the classification in the 3 stages of risk and determination of the loss 

There are two types of recovery strategy: 

- "Going Concern", in which the estimate is made based on the cash flows of the business; 

- "Gone Concern", in which the recovery estimate is carried out based on the execution of collateral. 

The Risk Office is responsible for reviewing the information collected and validating the results obtained, 

and it is responsible for the final decision on the Client's impairment. 

As a result of the deterioration of the economic and financial situation of the Clients, BIM has adopted 

additional criteria for monitoring the signs of worsening of their financial performance and has 

increased the frequency of individual analyses. 

Estimation of expected credit losses - Collective analysis 

All loans not subject to individual analysis constitute the basis for calculating the collective impairment, as well 

as Customers that result in stage 1, 2 and stage 3 customers with zero rate. 

The main inputs used for the measurement of expected credit losses on a collective basis include the following 

variables: 

i. Exposure at Default – EAD. 
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ii. Probability of Default – PD; 

iii. Loss Given Default – LGD; and 

iv. Contract discount factor (D). 

These parameters are obtained through internal statistical models, and other relevant historical data, considering 

existing regulatory models adapted according to the requirements of IFRS 9. 

PDs are estimated on the basis of a given historical period and calculated on the basis of statistical models, which 

in turn are based on internal data. The PDs are calculated considering the contractual maturities of the 

exposures. 

The Bank collects performance and default indicators on its credit risk exposures with analysis by types of 

Customers and products. 

LGD is the magnitude of the loss that is expected to occur if the exposure defaults. The Bank estimates LGD 

parameters based on the history of recovery rates after counterparties default. 

The EAD represents the expected exposure if the exposure and/or Client defaults. The Bank derives the EAD 

values from the counterparty's current exposure. For commitments and financial guarantees, the EAD value 

considers both the credit value used and the expectation of the potential future value that can be used according 

to the contract. 

As described above, with the exception of financial assets that consider a 12-month PD because they do not 

present a significant increase in credit risk, the Bank calculates the value of the expected credit losses taking into 

account the risk of default during the maximum contractual maturity period of the contract, even if, for the 

purposes of risk management, is considered a longer period. The maximum contractual period shall be considered 

as the period up to the date on which the Bank is entitled to demand payment or terminate the commitment or 

guarantee. 

 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES   

A. Classification, initial recognition and subsequent measurement  

At the time of its initial recognition, the Bank records its financial liabilities at amortized cost. 

Financial Liabilities at amortized costs  

Classification  

Financial liabilities that have not been classified at fair value through profit or loss, nor correspond to financial 

guarantee agreements described in Note 1(s), are measured at amortized cost. 

The category of "Financial liabilities at amortized cost" includes deposits other banks, deposits from Customers and 

subordinated and non-subordinated debt securities. 

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost are initially recognized at their fair value, plus transaction costs, and are 

subsequently measured at amortized cost. Interest on financial liabilities at amortized cost is recognized under 

the item "Interest and similar expenses". 

 

Reclassification between categories of financial liabilities   
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Reclassifications of financial liabilities are not allowed. 

B. Derecognition of financial liabilities  

The Bank derecognizes financial liabilities when these are cancelled or extinct. 

 

Interest recognition  

Income from interest on financial instruments, assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost, is recognized under 

the items “Interest and similar income” or “Interest and similar expenses” (net interest margin). 

The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future payments or receipts over the expected life 

of the financial instrument (or, where appropriate, for a shorter period) to the net present balance sheet value of 

the financial asset or liability. 

To determine the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates future cash flows considering all the contractual terms 

of the financial instrument (e.g. early payment options), not considering any impairment losses. The calculation 

includes the fees paid or received considered as part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all 

premiums or discounts directly related to the transaction. 

In the case of financial assets or groups of similar financial assets for which impairment losses have been recognized, 

the interest recorded in income statement is determined on the basis of the interest rate used to discount future 

cash flows in the measurement of impairment loss. 

Specifically with regard to the policy for recording interest on overdue loans, the following aspects are considered: 

• Interest on loans overdue with real guarantees, until the prudently assessed coverage limit is reached, is 

recorded as a profit or loss on the assumption that there is a reasonable probability of its recovery; and 

• Interest already recognized and unpaid relating to loan overdue for more than 90 days that is not covered 

by a collateral is cancelled, and it is only recognized when received because it is considered that its recovery 

is remote. 

 

c) Equity Instruments  

A financial instrument is classified as an equity instrument when there is no contractual obligation for its settlement 

to be affected by the delivery of cash or other financial asset to a third party, regardless of its legal form, evidencing 

a residual interest in an entity's assets after deduction of all its liabilities. 

Transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of equity instruments are recorded against equity as a 

deduction from the value of the issue. The amounts paid and received for purchases and sales of equity instruments 

are recorded in equity, net of transaction costs. 

Preferred shares issued by the Bank are classified as equity when redemption occurs only at the Bank's option and 

dividends are paid by the Bank on a discretionary basis. 

Income from equity instruments (dividends) is recognized when the right to receive them is established and 

deducted from equity. 

 

d) Securities borrowing and repurchase agreement transactions 

(i) Securities borrowing  
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Securities lent under securities lending agreements continue to be recognized in the balance sheet and are measured 

in accordance with the applicable accounting policy of the category to which they belong. Cash collateral received 

in respect of securities lent is recognized as a financial liability. Securities borrowed under securities borrowing 

agreements are not recognized as equity. Cash collateral placements in respect of securities borrowed are 

recognized as a debt to Customers or financial institutions. Income or expenses arising from securities borrowing 

are periodized during the period of operations and are included in interest and income or similar expenses (net 

interest margin). 

(ii) Repurchase agreements   

The Bank conducts acquisition/sales of securities with a reselling/repurchase agreement of substantially identical 

securities at a future date at a pre-defined price. Securities acquired that are subject to reverse repurchase 

agreements at a future date are not recognized on the balance sheet. The amounts paid are recognized in loan to 

Customers or placements in other banks. The amounts receivable are collateralized by the associated securities. 

Securities sold through repurchase agreements continue to be recognized on the balance sheet and are revalued in 

accordance with the accounting policy of the category to which they belong. Receipts from the sale of investments 

are considered as deposits from Customers or other credit institutions. 

The difference between the conditions of purchase/sale and those of resale/repurchase is periodized during the 

period of the operations and is recorded in interest and income or interest and equivalent expenses. 

 

e) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinuing operations  

Groups of non-current assets held for sale (groups of assets together with related liabilities, which include at least 

one non-current asset) are classified as held for sale when there is an intention to dispose of those assets and 

liabilities and the assets or groups of assets are available for immediate sale and their sale is very likely. 

The Bank also classifies as non-current assets held for sale, non-current assets or groups of assets acquired solely 

for the purpose of subsequent sale, which are available for immediate sale and whose sale is very likely. 

Immediately prior to their classification as non-current assets held for sale, the measurement of all non-current 

assets and all assets and liabilities included in a group of assets for sale is carried out in accordance with the 

applicable IFRS. After their reclassification, these assets or groups of assets are measured at the lesser of their cost 

and their fair value less the costs of sale. 

Subsidiaries acquired solely for the purpose of short-term sale are consolidated until the time of their sale. 

The Bank also classifies as non-current assets held for sale real estate held by credit recovery, which are initially 

measured by the lesser between their fair value net of sale costs and the book value of the loan existing on the date 

on which the donation or judicial auction of the property was made. 

Fair value is based on market value, which is determined on the basis of the expected sale price obtained through 

periodic appraisals by the Bank. 

The subsequent measurement of these assets is carried out at the lesser of their book value and the corresponding 

fair value, net of the costs of sale, and they are not subject to depreciation. If there are unrealized losses, these 

are recorded as impairment losses against the profit or loss for the year. 

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable 

amount. For the purposes of the impairment assessment, assets are grouped at the lowest level, for which there 

are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). 

Below is described the Haircut criteria used by the bank, which is based on the time that the property has been in 

the bank's possession. 
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• First, the Presumed Transaction Value x (1-haircut) ratio is determined, which was assigned the acronym 

PTV; 

• Second, the result obtained above is compared with the Carrying Book Value (CBV). If the PTV is higher than 

the CBV, the carrying value is maintained. Otherwise, the PTV is compared with the PVI. If the PTV is higher 

than the PVI, the new carrying value is considered equal to the PTV. If it is not, the PVI is considered to be 

the new book value. 

Below is the grid considered when applying Haircuts: 

 

Fair value of properties recorded in non-current assets held for sale and in other assets are valued at each balance 

sheet date to ensure that their balance sheet value does not differ significantly from their fair value. The Bank 

has established a maximum reference period of 2 years between evaluations carried out by qualified expert 

evaluators. 

Property valuations are carried out to obtain the presumed transaction value, usually the market value (fair 

value). The valuation techniques commonly used are the market approach, cost approach, and yield approach. 

As envisaged by IFRS 13, properties valuations maximize the use of observable market data.     

However, since most valuations also consider unobservable data, the fair value of the Bank's buildings is classified 

at level 3 of the fair value hierarchy defined by IFRS 13. 

The Bank considers that the valuations obtained based on these methodologies correspond to the best estimate of 

the fair value of these assets at the balance sheet date. 

The Bank considers that the buildings it owns are subject to their greatest and best possible use, so the valuations 

carried out to determine their fair value are prepared considering their current use, as provided for by IFRS 13 – 

"Fair Value Measurement". 

The determination of the Market Value is based on internationally standards of valuation methods and which, in 

particular: 

• The Market Comparison Method: compares the property to be valued with other similar properties that 

perform the same function, recently transacted on the site or in comparable areas. The known values are 

adjusted to make the comparison relevant, considering the variables: size, location, existing 

infrastructures, state of conservation and others, which may be in some way relevant. 

• The Amortized Replacement Cost Method consists of determining the replacement value of the property 

under analysis and is based on the assumption that a knowledgeable and informed investor would not be 

willing to pay more for the property than the cost of producing another one with the same utility, less the 

amount related to depreciation and/or functional obsolescence, physical and economic aspects.   

Discontinuing operations  

A discontinued or discontinuing operation unit is a component of an entity that has either been divested or is 

classified as held for sale, and: 

Property Useful Life Haircut

Less than 2 years 0%

Between 2 and 5 years 10%

Between 5 and 10 years 20%

More than 10 years 30%
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• represents a major separate line of business or geographic area of operations; 

• is an integral part of a single coordinated plan to divest a major business line or separate geographic area 

of operations; or 

• is a subsidiary acquired solely for resale. 

Results from discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as a 

lump sum comprising the after-tax profit or loss from discontinued operations on the income statement. 

f) Leasing  

The Bank adopted IFRS 16 – Leases on 1 January 2019 to replace IAS 17 – Leases, which was in force until 31 December 

2018. The Bank has not adopted any of the requirements of IFRS 16 in advance in previous periods. 

This standard establishes new requirements regarding the scope, classification and measurement of leases: 

• From the lessor's point of view, leases continue to be classified as financial leases; 

• From the lessee's point of view, the standard defines a single accounting model for lease contracts, which 

results in the recognition of the acquired right of use of an asset and a lease liability for all lease 

agreements, except for leases with a period of less than 12 months or for leases that focus on assets of 

reduced value in which the lessee may opt for the exemption from recognition provided for in IFRS 16,  and 

it must recognize the lease payments associated with these agreements as Other administrative expenses. 

 

The Bank has chosen not to apply this rule to short-term financial leasing agreements, less than or equal to 12 

months and to lease agreements in which the underlying asset has a reduced value, considering for this purpose the 

amount of USD 5 000. The option of not applying this standard to leases of intangible assets was also used. 

 

Definition of Lease 

The new definition of lease entails an approach to the control of the asset identified in the agreement, i.e. an 

agreement constitutes or contains a lease if it conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, i.e. 

obtaining substantially all the economic benefits from the use of that asset and the right to direct the use of that 

identified asset during the period covered by the contract in exchange for a consideration. 

 

 

Impacts from the lessee´s perspective  

The Bank recognizes for all leases, with the exception of leases of a period of less than 12 months or for leases 

relating to assets with a low unit value: 

• An asset by the acquired right of use, initially measured at cost, considering the Present Value (NPV) of the 

lease liability, plus payments made less lease incentives received, as well as any cost estimates to be borne 

by the lessee with the dismantling and removal of the underlying asset and/or restoration of the place 

where it is located. Subsequently, it is measured according to the cost model (subject to 

depreciation/amortization according to the lease term of each contract); 

• A lease liability, initially accounted for at the present value of future lease cash flows (NPV), which includes: 

- Fixed payments, less rental incentives receivable; 

- Variable lease payments, which depend on an incentive or rate, initially measured using the index or 

rate at the start date of the contract; 
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To determine the interest rate implied in the lease (paragraph 26 of IFRS 16), lease payments are discounted 

according to the rate of the Libor swaps for contracts in or indexed to USD and in accordance with the expected 

yield curve calculated (with reference to the remuneration of the public debt) for the contracts in MZN,  applied to 

the weighted average term of each lease agreement. For contracts expiring in 2023, it has been assumed that they 

will be automatically renewed, as provided for in the contract. 

 

 

The lease liability is subsequently measured as follows: 

• By increasing its amount accounted for in order to reflect the interest on it; 

• By the decrease in its amount accounted for in order to reflect the lease payments; 

• The amount accounted for is recalculated to reflect any revaluations or changes to the lease, as well as to 

reflect the revision of fixed lease payments in substance and the revision of the lease term. 

The Bank revalues a lease liability and calculates its asset-related adjustment for the right of use whenever: 

• There is a change in the lease term and the lease liability is revalued by discounting the revised lease 

payments using a revised discount rate; 

• If there is a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine 

those payments, the liability is revalued by discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged 

discount rate (unless the change in lease payments results from a change in variable interest rates, in which 

case a revised discount rate shall be used); 

• A lease agreement is amended, but that lease change is not accounted for as a separate lease, the lease 

liability is revalued, discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate. 

The Bank has not made any adjustments for previous periods. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated/amortized from the date of commencement of use of the underlying asset until 

the end of the lease term. If the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset, or if the cost of the right-of-use 

asset reflects the Bank's exercise of a call option, the right-of-use asset shall be depreciated/amortized from the 

effective date until the end of the useful life of the underlying asset. Depreciation/amortization begins on the 

effective date of the lease. 

 

g) Recognition of income from services and commissions  

The results of services and commissions are recognized according to the following criteria: 

• Where they are obtained as services are provided, they are recognized in terms of results in the 

period to which they relate; 

• Where they are the result of a supply of services, they are recognized when that service has been 

completed. 

When income from services and commissions is an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial 

instrument, income from services and commissions is recorded in the net interest margin. 

A contract with a Customer that results in the recognition of a financial instrument in the Bank's financial statements 

may be partly within the scope of IFRS 9 and partly within the scope of IFRS 15. If this is the case, the Bank first 

applies IFRS 9 to separate and measure the portion of the contract that falls under IFRS 9 and then applies IFRS 15 

to the residual. 
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Other fees and commissions mainly refer to transaction and service fees, which are recognized as expenses when 

the services are received. 

The following table provides information on the nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance obligations in 

contracts with Customers, including significant payment terms and the related revenue recognition policies. 

 

 

Type of service: 

Nature and timing of performance 

obligations, including significant payment 

timings 

 

 

Recognition of revenue under IFRS 15 

(applicable from 1 January 2018) 

  

 

Revenue from account services and 

service fees is recognized over time as the 

services are rendered.  

Revenue related to transactions is 

recognized when the transaction occurs. 

Retail and corporate banking services  

The Bank provides retail and corporate banking 

services, including account management, lending 

in the form of overdrafts, foreign currency 

transactions, credit cards and service fees. 

Fees for ongoing account management are charged 

monthly to the Client's account. The Bank sets the 

fees separately for retail and corporate banking 

clients each year. 

 Fees applied to interbank commission-based 

transactions, foreign currency transactions and 

overdrafts are charged to the Client's account when 

the transaction takes place. 

Service fees are charged monthly and are based on 

fixed rates reviewed annually by the Bank. 

 

 

 

 

 

Investment Banking Services:  

 

The Bank's investment banking segment provides 

various finance-related services, including loan 

administration and agency services, administration 

of a syndicated loan, execution of transactions with 

Clients with exchanges, and underwriting of 

securities. 

Fees for ongoing services are charged annually at 

the end of each financial year to the Client's 

account. However, if a Client terminates the 

contract before December 31st, a fee will be 

Revenue from administrative agency 

services is recognized over time as services 

are provided. Amounts receivable from 

Customers on 31 December are recognized 

as accounts receivable from Customers. 

Revenue related to transactions is 

recognized at the time the transaction 

occurs. 
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charged upon termination for the services 

performed to date. 

Transaction-based fees for administering a 

syndicated loan, executing transactions, and 

subscribing securities are charged when the 

transaction occurs. 

 

 

h) Results in financial operations  

Results in financial operations includes gains and losses arising from foreign currency trading transactions and the 

translation of monetary items from foreign currency to local currency. 

It also registers gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities classified at amortized cost and the dividends 

associated with these portfolios. 

 

i) Tangible Assets  

Tangible assets are recorded at acquisition cost, less their accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Subsequent costs are recognized as a separate asset only if they are likely to result in future economic benefits for 

the Bank. 

Maintenance and repair expenses are recognized as costs as they are incurred in accordance with the accrual 

principle. 

Depreciation is calculated using the constant share method according to the following expected useful life periods: 

 Number of 

years 

Properties 50 

Works on third party buildings 10 

Equipment 4 a 10 

Other tangible assets  3 

 

Where there is an indication that a tangible asset may be impaired, an estimate of its recoverable value is made 

and an impairment loss shall be recognized where the net value of that asset exceeds the recoverable amount. 

Recoverable amount is determined as the higher of its fair value less costs of sale and its value in use, which is 

calculated on the basis of the present value of the estimated future cash flows that are expected to be obtained 

from the continued use of the asset and its disposal at the end of its useful life. 

Impairment losses on tangible assets are recognized in income statement for the period. 

j) Investment properties  

Investment properties are initially recognized at acquisition cost, including transaction costs, and are subsequently 

measured at fair value. The fair value of investment properties should reflect market conditions at the reporting 

date. Changes in fair value are recognized in income statement for the year under Other Operating Income. 

The evaluations are carried out annually by external evaluators duly certified for this purpose. 
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k) Intangible Assets  

The intangible assets acquired by the Bank are recorded at acquisition cost, less their accumulated depreciation 

and impairment losses. 

The amortization is charged to the profit and loss account according to the constant share criteria, during the 

expected useful life period: 

Software 

The Bank records in intangible assets the costs associated with the software acquired from third parties and proceeds 

to its linear amortization for the estimated useful life of 3 years. The Bank does not capitalize internally generated 

costs related to software development. 

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not amortized on a scheduled basis, but are tested annually for 

impairment. Impairment losses for this type of asset are not reversed. 

 

l) Cash and cash equivalents  

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents includes the amounts recorded in the 

balance sheet with a maturity of less than three months from the reporting date, which include cash and cash 

equivalents with other credit institutions. 

Cash and cash equivalents exclude deposits of a mandatory nature made with the Bank of Mozambique. 

m) Foreign currency transactions   

Transactions in foreign currency are converted into the functional currency at the exchange rate prevailing on the 

date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are converted to Meticais 

at the closing rate published by the Bank of Mozambique at the reporting date, and the exchange rate differences 

resulting from this conversion are recognized as profits or losses in the period to which they relate. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities recognized at historical cost, denominated in foreign currency, are translated 

at the exchange rate at the time of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currency recorded at fair value are translated at the exchange rate prevailing on the date on which fair value was 

determined. 

The resulting exchange rate differences are recognized in profit or loss. 

 

n) Employee benefits  

(i) Defined benefit plans  

The Bank provides Employees with a defined benefits plan, which is financed through insurance that is managed by 

its associate Fidelidade Moçambique – Companhia de Seguros, S.A. 

For the benefit plan, the Bank finances a remitted pension that it guarantees to its Employees through a retirement 

supplement, which operates on an autonomous basis. 

The remitted pension will be granted to active Employees hired until December 31, 2011, when they reach the age 

of 60, in the case of men and 55 in the case of women, and it is a mandatory condition that the Employee is already 

benefiting from an old-age pension granted by the National Institute of Social Security (INSS) or if the Executive 

Committee so decides. 
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Determining pension payment liabilities requires the use of assumptions and estimates, including the use of actuarial 

projections, estimated return on investments, and other factors that may impact pension plan costs and obligations.   

Changes to these assumptions could have a significant impact on the determined values. 

(ii) Short-term employee benefits 

Benefícios de curto prazo consistem em salários e quaisquer benefícios não monetários, tais como contribuições de 

ajuda médica em que o Banco suporta o custo com uma apólice de seguros e a Fidelidade Moçambique – Companhia 

de Seguros, S.A. suporta o equivalente a 75% do custo com as despesas médicas.  

Short-term benefits consist of salaries and any non-cash benefits, such as medical aid contributions in which the 

Bank bears the cost of an insurance policy and Fidelidade Moçambique – Companhia de Seguros, S.A. bears the 

equivalent of 75% of the cost of medical expenses. 

A liability is recognized by the amount to be paid if the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay 

that amount based on the past service rendered by the employee, and the obligation to be reliably estimated. 

(iii) Termination of benefits   

The benefits inherent to the termination of the employment relationship are recognized as an expense when the 

Bank is not in a position to revoke commitments formally assumed before the retirement date or when they relate 

to negotiated benefits resulting from a voluntary termination of the Employee. 

If the benefits are not expected to be paid out within 12 months, they are discounted. 

 

o) Income taxes  

The Bank is subject to the tax regime enshrined in the Income Tax Code, and the profits attributable to each 

financial year are subject to the incidence of Corporate Income Tax (IRPC). 

Income taxes are recorded in the income statement.  

The tax is recognized in the income statement, except when related to items that are moved in equity, which 

implies its recognition in equity. 

Current taxes are the amount that is expected to be paid on taxable income for the year, using the rates prescribed 

by law, or that are in force at the date of reporting and any adjustments to taxes from previous periods. 

To determine the overall amount of income taxes, certain interpretations and estimates had to be made. There are 

a number of transactions and calculations for which the determination of taxes payable is uncertain during the 

normal business cycle. 

Other interpretations and estimates could result in a different level of current and deferred income tax recognized 

in the period. 

The Mozambican Tax Authority has the possibility to review the calculation of the taxable amount made by the Bank 

and its resident associate over a period of five years, in the event of reportable losses. Thus, it is possible that there 

will be corrections to the taxable amount, resulting mainly from differences in the interpretation of the tax 

legislation, which due to their probability, the Executive Committee considers will not have a materially relevant 

effect at the level of the financial statements. 

Deferred taxes are calculated, in accordance with the balance sheet liability method, on the temporary differences 

between the carrying values of assets and liabilities and their tax base, using the tax rates approved or substantively 

approved at the reporting date and expected to be applied when the temporary differences reverse. 
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Deferred tax assets are recognized when there is likely to be future taxable profits absorbing temporary tax-

deductible differences (including reportable tax losses). 

The Bank shall, as set out in IAS 12, paragraph 74, set off deferred tax assets and liabilities where: (i) it has a 

legally enforceable right to set off assets against current taxes and liabilities against current taxes; and (ii) the 

deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxing authority on the same taxable 

entity or different taxable entities that intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or realize 

the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which the deferred tax liabilities or 

assets are expected to be settled or recovered. 

p) Segmental reporting  

A business segment is an identifiable component of the Bank that is intended to provide an individual product or 

service or a set of related products or services, and that is subject to risks and benefits that are differentiable from 

other business segments. 

The Bank controls its activity through the following main segments: 

• Retail Banking;  

• Corporate Banking; and  

• Insurance. 

q) Provisions  

The Bank reserves provisions when it has a present obligation (legal or constructive), resulting from past events, for 

which the future expenditure of financial resources is probable and can be reliably determined. The amount of the 

provision is the best estimate of the amount to be disbursed to settle the liability at the balance sheet date. 

The measurement of provisions considers the principles set out in IAS 37 regarding the best estimate of the expected 

cost, the most likely outcome of ongoing actions and taking into account the risks and uncertainties inherent in the 

process. In cases where the effect of the discount is material, provisions corresponding to the present value of 

expected future payments, discounted at a rate that takes into account the risk associated with the obligation.  

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the best estimate and are reversed 

by profit or loss in proportion to payments that are not likely. 

Provisions are derecognized by their use for the obligations for which they were originally constituted or in cases 

where they are no longer observed. 

r) Earnings per share  

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing net income attributable to shareholders of the Bank by the 

average number of ordinary shares issued and outstanding. 

s) Financial Guarantees and Loan Commitments 

"Financial guarantees" are contracts that require the Bank to make a specific payment to reimburse the holder for 

a loss incurred as a result of a specific debtor's default on payment under the terms of a debt instrument. 

"Loan commitments" are firm commitments to extend loan under pre-specified terms and conditions. 

Financial guarantees issued or commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate are initially measured 

at fair value. These are then measured at the greater of the loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9 

and the amount initially recognized minus, where appropriate, the accumulated amount of the credit recognized in 

accordance with the principles of IFRS 15. 
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The Bank has not issued loan commitments measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

For other loan commitments, the Bank recognizes the loss provision; 

Liabilities resulting from financial guarantees and loan commitments are included in the provisions. 

t) Accounting Estimates in the Application of Accounting Policies 

IFRS sets out a set of accounting treatments that require the Executive Committee to use judgments and make 

necessary estimates to decide which accounting treatment is most appropriate. The main accounting estimates and 

judgments used in the Bank's application of accounting principles are analyzed in the following paragraphs to 

improve the understanding of how their application affects the Bank's reported results and disclosure.   

Considering that in some situations accounting standards allow for an alternative accounting treatment to that 

adopted by the Executive Committee, the results reported by the Bank could be different if a distinctive treatment 

were chosen. The Executive Committee considers that the criteria adopted are appropriate and that the financial 

statements present adequately the financial position of the Bank and its operations in all material respects. 

The results of the alternatives analyzed below are presented only to assist the reader in understanding the financial 

statements and are not intended to suggest that other alternatives or estimates may be more appropriate. 

Financial assets impairment  

The Bank determines the impairment rate on its financial assets by applying risk factors calculated on the basis of 

the behavior of the portfolio of assets subject to credit risk at their fair value. 

Loans to customer impairment  

The Bank carries out a periodic review of its loan portfolio to assess the existence of expected credit loss (ECL). 

The current portfolio valuation process to determine whether an impairment loss should be recognized is subject 

to various estimates and judgments. This process includes factors such as the probability of default, credit ratings, 

the value of the collateral associated with each transaction, recovery rates and estimates of both future cash flows 

and the timing of their receipt. 

It should be noted that the application of alternative methodologies or the use of other assumptions could result in 

a different quantification of the estimate of impairment losses to be recognized, with the consequent impact on 

the Bank's results. 

The expected credit loss (ECL) is the present value of the difference between the cash flows that the entity is 

entitled to receive, and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive. In line with what is defined in IFRS 9, the 

ECL can be calculated at 12 months or lifetime (until the residual maturity of the asset). The 12-month ECL is the 

portion of the lifetime ECL that represents the expected credit losses that result from default events that may occur 

in the 12 months following the reporting date. On the other hand, ECL lifetime represents the expected credit losses 

that result from default events until the residual maturity of each operation. The Bank assesses which ECL to apply 

based on the definition of IFRS 9. 

The methodologies applied by the Bank in quantifying the estimate for loans impairment are described in more 

detail in the note "Impairment Losses", namely in the sections relating to the estimates of expected credit losses - 

Individual Analysis and Collective Analysis. 
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Fair value of financial assets at amortized cost through other comprehensive income 

For the estimation of the Fair Value of the securities, a yield curve is considered. The yield curve is based on the 

average rates of the last auctions of Treasury Bills and Government Bonds in the primary market for the different 

maturities. 

The methodologies used in the estimates for the determination of the fair value of these financial assets are 

described in more detail in note 41 "Fair value". 

Income Taxes  

The Bank is subject to the payment of income taxes. To determine the overall amount of income taxes, certain 

interpretations and estimates had to be made. There are a number of transactions and calculations for which the 

determination of taxes payable is uncertain during the normal business cycle. 

Other interpretations and estimates could result in a different level of taxes on current and deferred profits 

recognized in the period. 

The Mozambican Tax Authority has the possibility to review the calculation of the taxable amount made by the Bank 

over a period of five years, in the event of carry-forward losses. Thus, it is possible that there will be corrections 

to the taxable amount, resulting mainly from differences in the interpretation of the tax legislation, which due to 

their probability, the Executive Committee considers will not have a materially relevant effect at the level of the 

financial statements. 

Pensions and other employee benefits  

Determining pension payment liabilities requires the use of assumptions and estimates, including the use of actuarial 

projections, estimated return on investments, and other factors that may impact pension plan costs and obligations. 

Changes to these assumptions could have a significant impact on the determined values. 

u) Changes in accounting policies  

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those used in the previous year. Changes to IFRS 

standards applicable as of January 1, 2023 have had no effect on the financial statements, namely: 

1) Amendments to IFRS 17 – Insurance contracts – Initial application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 – 

Comparative information (09-Dec-2021); 

2) Amendments to IAS 12 – Income tax – second pillar (23-May-2023); 

3) Amendments to IAS 12 income taxes - deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from 

a single transaction (07-May-2021); 

4) Amendments to IAS 1- presentation of financial statements - disclosure of accounting policies 

(12-Feb-2021); 

5) amendments to IAS 8 - Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors - 

definition of accounting estimates (25-Jun-2020); 

These changes had no material impact on the Bank's financial statements. 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those used in the previous year. Changes to IFRS 

standards applicable as of 1 January 2024 have had no effect on the financial statements, namely: 

1) Amendments to IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements - Non-Current Liabilities with 

Covenants (25-Jan-2023); 
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2) Amendments to IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements - classification of liabilities as 

current or non-current (23-Jan-2020); 

3)  Amendments to IFRS 16 – Leases – Lease liability on a sale or lease (22-Sep-2022). 

 

 

v) Investments in Associates 

The bank measures the investment in associates by the acquisition cost. 

The financial interests in associated companies are detailed in Note 22. 

3. Income Statement by operating segments  

The segment reporting presented follows, with respect to the business and geographic segments, the provisions of 

IFRS 8. 

The Bank develops a set of banking and financial services activities with special emphasis on the Commercial Banking 

business. 

Segment Characterization 

Commercial Banking remained the dominant business in the Bank's activity, both in terms of volume and in terms of 

the level of contribution to results. 

The Commercial Banking business, oriented to the Retail and Corporate Banking segments, focuses its activity on 

satisfying the needs of private and corporate Customers. 

The approach strategy of Retail Banking is designed considering Customers who appreciate a value proposition based 

on innovation and speed, called mass market Customers, and Customers whose specific interests, size of financial 

assets or income level, justify a value proposition based on innovation and personalization of service through a 

dedicated Customer manager. 

The Corporate segment, aimed at institutional entities and companies whose size of their activity fits within the 

selection criteria established for this segment, offers a complete range of value-added products and services 

adapted to its needs. 

The reports used by management essentially have an accounting basis supported by IFRS's. 

 

 

Business segment activities as at December 31st, 2023 

The values of the operating account reflect the process of allocation of profits, based on average values, reported 

by each business segment. 

The information presented below has been prepared on the basis of the financial statements prepared in accordance 

with IFRS. 
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0,90 MZN' 000

31 December 2023 Retail Banking
Corporate 

Banking
Total Bank 

Net interest margin 7 949 788 6 026 840 13 976 628                 

Fees and commission income/expense 2 446 192 257 853 2 704 045                   

Results of financial operations 768 586 361 084 1 129 670                   

Other operating results 270 872 47 080 317 952                      

Income from equity instruments -                                  67 588 67 588                        

Total operating income 11 435 438               6 760 445           18 195 883              

Staff expenses (2 689 767)                  (782 888)               (3 472 655)                  

Other administrative expenses (2 972 072)                  (1 024 424)            (3 996 496)                  

Amortization for the year (979 549)                     (254 452)               (1 234 001)                  

Total operating costs (6 641 388)                (2 061 764)          (8 703 152)               

Impairment of loans to customers 686 920                       1 024 977             1 711 897                   

Other provisions and impairment (380 770)                     (568 160)               (948 930)                     

Profit before tax 5 100 200                 5 155 498           10 255 698              

Taxation (1 514 191)                  (1 530 608)            (3 044 799)                  

Income for the year attributable to Shareholders 3 586 009                 3 624 890           7 210 899                 

0,274000            66 903,093

MZN' 000

31 December 2023 Retail Banking
Corporate 

Banking
Total Bank 

Asset 

Loans to customers 17 553 480 26 654 158 44 207 638

Liability 

Customer deposits 96 995 729                  49 451 115           146 446 844               

MZN' 000

31 December 2022 Retail Banking
Corporate 

Banking
Total Bank 

Net interest margin 8 472 687 5 191 486 13 664 173                                   

Fees and commission income/expense 2 307 378 306 765 2 614 143                                     

Results of financial operations 1 020 665 386 576 1 407 241                                     

Other operating results 124 208 47 719 171 927                                        

Income from equity instruments -                              84 555 84 555                                           

Total operating income 11 924 938           6 017 101           17 942 039                                   

Staff expenses (2 542 990)              (639 666)               (3 182 656)                                    

Other administrative expenses (2 668 866)              (749 267)               (3 418 133)                                    

Amortization for the year (871 933)                 (178 579)               (1 050 512)                                    

Total operating costs (6 083 789)            (1 567 512)         (7 651 301)                                    

Impairment of loans to customers (172 364)                 (377 732)               (550 096)                                       

Other provisions and impairment (215 283)                 (471 788)               (687 071)                                       

Profit before tax 5 453 502             3 600 069           9 053 571                                     

Taxation (1 468 416)              (972 340)               (2 440 756)                                    

Income for the year attributable to Shareholders 3 985 086             2 627 729           6 612 815                                     

MZN' 000

31 December 2022 Retail Banking
Corporate 

Banking
Total Bank 

Asset 

Loans to customers 13 410 991 29 389 917 42 800 908                                     

Liability 

Customer deposits 95 082 031 57 094 123 152 176 154                                   
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4. Net interest margin 

 

5. Income from equity instruments  

 

The item “Income from investments in associates” corresponds to dividends received by the Bank, associated with 

the financial interest held in Fidelidade Moçambique – Companhia de Seguros, S.A.   

6. Fees and commission income/expense  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Revenue from fees and commissions from contracts with Clients is measured based on the remuneration 

specified in the contract with the Client. The Bank recognizes revenue when it transfers control over the service 

to the Customer. 

 

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Interest and similar income

Interest on loans 8 936 232 7 330 053

Interest on deposits and other investments 2 315 744 3 544 818

Interest on other financial assets at amortised cost 9 245 369 9 033 990

20 497 345 19 908 861

Interest and similar expenses

Interest on deposit and other funds 6 434 599 6 156 228

Interest on leases 67 982 84 926

Other costs and similar interests 18 136 3 534

6 520 717 6 244 688

Net interest margin 13 976 628 13 664 173

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Dividends from associates 67 588 84 555

67 588 84 555

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Fees and commission income

For bank warranties provided 200 395 239 588

For banking services provided 2 764 753 2 249 466

Other  fees and commissions 687 691 669 507

3 652 839 3 158 561

Fees and commission expenses

For bank warranties received 7 063 7 636

For banking services received 561 1 404

Other  fees and commissions 941 170 535 378

948 794 544 418

Fees and commission income/expense 2 704 045 2 614 143
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7. Results of financial operations  

  

8. Other operating results  

  

The increase of MZN 333 158 thousand observed in Other operating income results mainly from the accounting of a 

profit resulting from the revaluation of the Fair Value of the assets classified as Investment Properties in the amount 

of 80 368 thousand Meticais, as well as from the accounting of an extraordinary profit of about 200 285 thousand 

Meticais resulting from the regularization of a balance recorded in Other Liabilities (the operation having been 

settled by BIM for an amount lower than initially accounted for). 

On the other hand, the increase of MZN 174 915 thousand observed in Other operating costs results mainly from the 

accounting of a cost of about 131 631 thousand Meticais resulting from the derecognition of some balances 

receivable (associated with legal and legal costs incurred by the Bank in the context of the recovery of some credit 

operations historically granted in syndicates,  and which in 2023 were derecognized given their age and the low 

prospect of recovery), as well as the accounting of a cost resulting from the revaluation of the Fair Value of the 

assets classified as Investment Properties in the amount of 4 808 thousand Meticais." 

9. Staff expenses  

  

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Profits from financial operations

Foreign exchange operations 1,122,941 1,373,005

Other operations 8,010 34,236

1,130,951 1,407,241

Losses on financial operations 

Foreign exchange operations 1,221  -

Other operations 60  -

1,281  -

1,129,670 1,407,241

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Other operating income

Property income 41,905 31,919

Services rendered 91,695 79,708

Reimbursement of expenses 105,669 116,672

Other operating income 416,325 83,167

655,594 311,466

Other operating costs

Taxes 85,016 68,096

Donations and contributions 30,552 24,284

Other operating costs 222,074 47,159

337,642 139,539

317,952 171,927

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Salaries 3 133 956 2 853 857

Compulsory social security charges 122 305 124 778

Optional social security charges 186 628 185 157

Other costs 29 766 18 864

3 472 655 3 182 656
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The average number of employees employed by the Bank, broken down into major professional categories, is shown 

as follows: 

  

The total amount of remuneration attributed by the Bank to the Management and Supervisory bodies in the year 

ended 31 December 2023, recorded under the item of “Remuneration”, was 311 593 thousand Meticais (2022: 279 

207 thousand Meticais). 

The staff costs item also includes the costs associated with pension obligations for the Bank in the year ended 

December 31st, 2023, in the amount of 54 994 thousand Meticais (2022: 102 567 thousand Meticais). 

 

10. Other administrative expenses  

  

The detail of rents and leasing is shown as follows: 

  

The item “Rents and leasing” contains lease contracts for which IFRS 16 was not applied because they are valid 

for up to 12 months, short-term, condominiums whose contract is valid for up to 12 months, rents under counter 

management whose validity is up to 12 months, equipment rentals for which IFRS 16 was not applied due to the 

characteristics of the contracts. Also, for car rentals, IFRS 16 was not applied since they are short-term contracts. 

The item “IT and Consulting” contains contracts for technical assistance and software maintenance that represent 

78% of the amount of the item. 

 

2023 2022

Board and Management 129 129

Specifics/Techniques 1 021 1 010

Other functions 1 390 1 371

2 540 2 510

MZN' 000

2023 2022

IT and Consulting 1 789 487 1 553 842

Communications 416 317 375 670

Costs with independent work 333 679 186 862

Maintenance and repair 249 820 183 938

Current consumables 207 835 203 239

Water, energy and fuel 199 223 199 670

Security and surveillance 193 855 194 955

Advertising 150 465 115 853

Cash transportation 102 263 73 272

Insurance 92 737 82 695

Judicial, litigation and notary services 80 096 54 833

Facilities cleaning 60 914 64 867

Rents and leases 54 885 54 318

Travel, accomodation and representation 54 505 50 215

Staff Training 10 415 23 904

3 996 496 3 418 133

MZN' 000

2023 2022

House rents 9 445 11 472

Vehicle rents 4 253 4 313

Equipment rents 41 187 38 533

54 885 54 318
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11. Depreciation and amortization for the year  

  

12. Impairment of loans to customers  

  

The amount of 2 599 798 thousand Meticais, related to the Recovery of loan and interest written off, includes the 

amount of 2 439 691 thousand Meticais associated with the profit resulting from the recovery of a loan operation 

that had been written-off by the Bank in 2020. The write-off recorded in 2020 resulted from the analysis carried 

out by the Bank on that date, and the gross exposure of the loan operation on that date (including interest) totaled 

around 3 753 371 thousand Meticais. It should be noted that on that date the Bank recorded an impairment loss in 

the same amount, depending on the analysis of recovery by legal means carried out on that date. The conclusion 

of the respective legal process during the 2023 financial year allowed the Bank to recover about 65% (2 439 691 

thousand Meticais) of the amount previously accounted for as a loss by the Bank. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Intangible Assets

    Software 283 596 203 112

Tangible Assets

Property 159 294 164 128

Equipment 565 467 457 320

Furniture 24 726 24 497

Machines 16 363 12 016

IT equipment 335 671 245 724

Interior fittings 70 561 64 332

Vehicles 96 002 95 971

Security equipment 21 130 13 776

Other equipment 1 014 1 004

Right of Use - IFRS 16

Properties 225 644 225 952

950 405 847 400

1 234 001 1 050 512

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Impairment on Loans granted to customers

   Net allocation for the year 887 901 846 150

  Recovery of loans and interest written off against assets          (2 599 798)     (296 054)

         (1 711 897) 550 096
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13. Others provisions and impairment  

  

The provisions for general banking risks are intended to cover potential contingencies arising from ongoing legal 

proceedings. 

 

14. Taxes  

  

 

 

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Provisions for off-balance credit exposure risk

Allocation for the year 124 949 112 135

Reversal for the year              (110 831)       (97 714)

Impairment of other financial assets

Allocation for the year               346 162         78 002 

Reversal for the year                (47 626)       (65 511)

Provisions for general banking risks

Allocation for the year 30 194 7 140

Reversal for the year                (40 940)         (2 858)

Other provisions for risks and charges

Allocation for the year               165 150       368 753 

Reversal for the year                             -                  - 

Impairment of other assets

Allocation for the year               383 558       210 579 

Reversal for the year                             -                  - 

Impairment for non-current assets held-for-sale

Allocation for the year                  98 314         76 546 

Reversal for the year                             -                  - 

948 930              687 071     

          MZN' 000

2023 2022

Profit before tax 10 255 698 9 053 572

Changes in equity 47 465 19 349

Profit after changes in equity 10 303 163 9 072 921

Non-deductible costs 621 607 772 985

Non-deductible expenses 228 209 95 844

Sum of tax additions 849 816 868 829

Profit after tax additions 11 152 979 9 941 750

Tax-exempt or non-taxable income 284 059 39 879

Economic double taxation of distributed profits 67 588 84 555

Income from public debt securities - clearance fee 10 933 489 12 199 098

Sum of the tax deductions 11 285 135 12 323 532

Taxable profit            (132 157)       (2 381 782)

Tax at the interest rate of the Public Debt 2 186 698 2 439 820

Deferred Taxes 858 082 888

Autonomous Taxation 19 48

Provision for Current Tax 3 044 799 2 440 757
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The table below details the existing tax losses by year of occurrence, and the year of expiration, as well as the 

deferred tax assets related to tax losses not recognized by the Bank, with reference to December 31st, 2023, because 

the conditions for recognition set out in IAS 12 are not met. 

  

The Deferred Tax Assets, in the amount of 114 450 thousand Meticais, relate to the temporary differences between 

the accounting basis and the tax base, referring to the potential gain arising from the revaluation of real estate 

and equipment received by donation in payment or by repossession, recognized under the items of “Investment 

Properties”, “Non-current Assets held for sale” and “Other assets”, and unrealized exchange rate differences. 

The Bank has accumulated tax losses in the amount of 5 811 332 thousand Meticais. Based on the five-year business 

plan, the Bank's Management believes that the Bank will not generate sufficient tax profits to reverse all tax losses 

by 2028 and, therefore, did not recognize deferred taxes in the amount of 1 859 626 thousand Meticais. However, 

if the situation improves faster than expected or extraordinary events arise, in the next financial years, the Bank 

may recognize deferred tax assets not accounted for in the amount of 1 859 626 thousand Meticais. 

15. Profit per share 

  

16. Cash and Cash equivalents at Bank of Mozambique 

  

The balance of cash equivalents with the Bank of Mozambique is intended to meet the legal requirements of 

minimum cash reserves, calculated based on the amount of deposits and other effective obligations. The mandatory 

cash reserve regime requires the maintenance of a balance in deposits at the Bank of Mozambique equivalent to 

39,0% (December 2022: 10,5%) for liabilities in national currency and 39,5% (December 2022: 11,5%) for liabilities 

in foreign currency on the average monthly amount of deposits. 

 

MZN' 000

Year of 

occurrence
Expiry year

Amount of loss
Utilised value Balance Deferred Tax

2020 2025 2 965 339 -                             2 965 339 948 908

2022 2027 2 638 275 -                             2 638 275 844 248

2023 2028 207 717 -                             207 717 66.470

5 811 332 -                             5 811 332 1 859 626

-                               

1 859 626

As per Model 22

Deferred tax (tax losses) recognised

Deferred tax (tax loss) not recognised

MZN

2023 2022

Net profit 7 210 898 719 6 612 815 237

Number of shares 45 000 000 45 000 000

Profit per share (from continuing activities attributable to shareholders of the Bank) 160,24 146,95

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Cash 4 286 716 4 545 063

Bank of Mozambique 53 072 511 14 432 586

57 359 227 18 977 649
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17. Cash and cash equivalents with other Credit Institution  

 

 

 

The item of “Local Credit Institutions” includes amounts to be collected in the amount of 251 226 thousand 

Meticais that represent, essentially, cheques drawn by third parties on other credit institutions in collection on 

December 31, 2023 (2022: 327 874 thousand Meticais).   

Disaggregation of Cash and Cash Equivalents in Other Credit Institutions abroad by currency: 

 

 

18. Placements in other Banks  

 

 

 

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Local Credit Institutions 251 226 327 874

Foreign Credit Institutions 2 532 093 1 394 925

2 783 319 1 722 799

MZN' 000

2023 2022

USD 1 768 167 1 072 022

EUR 262 266 222 534

NOK 242 256 25 545

CNY 158 631 -

ZAR 49 801 16 807

CHF 19 283 26 911

GBP 11 448 10 925

CAD 5 544 9 442

AUD 4 384 855

JPY 4 246 3 451

SEK 3 429 1 508

DKK 2 638 1 873

2 532 093 1 394 925

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Investments in credit institution in the country 13 030 720 26 049 294

Investments in credit institution abroad 10 189 706 22 438 222

23 220 426 48 487 516
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19. Loans to customer  

 

 

The analysis of loan to Customers by type of operation is as follows:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Loans with collateral 6 413 881 631 802

Loans with other collateral 15 527 724 23 844 273

Loans without collateral 5 108 495 859 014

Loans to the public sector 16 602 471 16 475 834

Leasing loans 1 101 123 1 108 250

44 753 694                 42 919 173

Loans overdue - less than 90 days 95 781                         33 686

Loans overdue - more than 90 days 1 325 218                   3 622 174

46 174 693                 46 575 033

Impairment for loans to customers (1 967 055)                  (3 774 125)                     

44 207 638                 42 800 908

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Short-term

Discounted loans securitised by effects 891 442 860 086                            

Loan in current account 1 865 142 2 072 649                         

Overdrafts on current account 1 120 259 431 822                            

Loans 1 175 312 3 358 169                         

5 052 155                   6 722 726

Medium and long term

Discounted loans securitised by effects

Loans 21 465 306                 18 092 597                       

Property lending 17 478 960 17 434 718                       

   Lease capital 757 273 669 132                            

39 701 539                 36 196 447

Loans overdue - less than 90 days 95 781                         33 686                              

Loans overdue - more than 90 days 1 325 218                   3 622 174                         

1 420 999                   3 655 860

Impairment for loans to customers (1 967 055)                  (3 774 125)                       

44 207 638                 42 800 908
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The analysis of loan to Customers by sector of activity is as follows: 

 

The customer loan portfolio includes loans that have been formally restructured with customers, in terms of 

reinforcing guarantees, extending maturities and changing interest rates. 

 

The analysis of loans restructured by sectors of activity is as follows: 

 

 

 

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Agriculture and forestry 644 278 976 204

Extractive industries 345 145 34 075

Food, beverages and tobacco 1 184 188 2 840 091

Textile 3 516 3 825

Paper, graphic arts and publishing 40 783 34 483

Chemical 69 837 2 606 075

Machine and equipment 38 656 1 280 227

Electricity, water and gas 74 987 23 865

Construction 483 032 455 917

Trade 5 630 828 3 433 636

Hospitality and tourism 345 413 246 564

Transport and communications 3 174 135 3 075 835

Services 1 741 424 2 431 841

Consumer loans 14 160 211 10 980 902

Housing loans 725 078 742 929

Mozambican State 16 638 067 16 475 139

Other activities 875 115 933 425

46 174 693                 
46 575 033

Impairment for loans to customers (1 967 055)                  (3 774 125)                       

44 207 638                 42 800 908

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Agriculture and forestry 140 721 150 182

Extractive industries 1 755 1 755                                

Food, beverages and tobacco 13 600 13 600                              

Paper, graphic arts and publishing 189 1 286

Chemical -                                    160 428

Machine and equipment 97 501 928 762

Electricity, water and gas 41 225                                    648 

Construction 105 916 271 557

Trade 143 672 326 418

Hospitality and tourism 151 714 177 204

Transport and communications 21 297 1 349 778

Services 4 497 304 4 500 165

Consumer loans 301 701 452 127                            

Housing loans 20 778 21 544                              

Other activities 48 980 66 372

5 586 353                   8 421 826
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The analysis of overdue loan by type of loan is as follows: 

 

The analysis of overdue loan by sectors of activity is as follows: 

 

 
 
 
Impairment changes for credit risks are analyzed as follows: 

 

 

 

 

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Loans with collateral 283 228 51 414

Loans with other collateral 846 529 3 308 064

Loans without collateral 228 515 48 877

Loans to the public sector 2 845 5

Leasing loans 59 882 247 500

1 420 999                   3 655 860

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Agriculture and forestry 227 638 126 912

Extractive industries 22 117 23 546

Food, beverages and tobacco 1 815                               19 761 

Textile -                                    -                                       

Paper, graphic arts and publishing 3 910 2 319

Chemical 1 1 665 646

Machine and equipment 12 117 446 075

Electricity, water and gas 13 3                                       

Construction 60 218 36 849

Trade 251 529 422 529

Hospitality and tourism 38 700 28 885

Transport and communications 64 015 14 691

Services 64 181 79 529

Consumer loans 582 264 459 947

Housing loans 55 135 47 820

Mozambican State 2 845 5                                       

Other activities 34 501 281 343

1 420 999 3 655 860

MZN' 000

2023 2022

  Balance as per 1 January 3 774 125 3 807 522

   Allocation for the year 2 189 921 1 923 849

   Reversal for the year (1 070 436)                  (779 676)                          

Utilisation of impairment (2 926 872)                  (1 177 295)                       

Differences in exchange rate 317                              (275)                                 

   Balance as per 31 December 1 967 055 3 774 125
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The following table shows, by default classes, the breakdown of impairment for credit risks existing as of 31 

December 2023: 

 

 

The following table shows, by default classes, the breakdown of impairment for credit risks existing as of 31 

December 2022: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MZN'000

Classes of default

Up to 6 months From 6 months More than 1 Total

to 1 year year

Overdue loans with collateral 826 987 84 714 296 505 1 208 206

Existing impairment (388 138) (57 817) (163 076) (609 031)

Overdue loans without callateral 212 793 -                                -                           212 793

Existing impairment (150 140) -                                -                           (150 140)

Total overdue loans 1 039 780 84 714 296 505 1 420 999

Total impairment for overdue loans (538 278) (57 817) (163 076) (759 171)

Total impairment for 

maturing loans (1 207 884)

Total impairment for loans to customers (1 967 055)

MZN'000

Classes of default

Up to 6 months From 6 months More than 1 Total

to 1 year year

Overdue loans with collateral 1 209 894 105 603 2 291 486 3 606 982

Existing impairment (653 824) (49 543) (1 473 478) (2 176 845)

Overdue loans without callateral 48 877  -  - 48 877

Existing impairment (42 213)  -  - (42 213)

Total overdue loans 1 258 771 105 603 2 291 486 3 655 860

Total impairment for overdue loans (696 037) (49 543) (1 473 478) (2 219 058)

Total impairment for 

maturing loans (1 555 067)

Total impairment for loans to customers (3 774 125)
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The analysis of impairment by sectors of activity is as follows: 

 

Impairment by type of loan is analyzed as follows: 

 

The cancellation of loan for the use of provision by sector of activity is as follows: 

 

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Agriculture and forestry 46 815 19 323

Extractive industries 26 755 22 130

Food, beverages and tobacco 8 291 40 834

Textile 48 536

Paper, graphic arts and publishing 3 618 2 825

Chemical 929 1 856 811

Machine and equipment 17 099 155 160

Electricity, water and gas 1 266 302

Construction 81 412 52 064

Trade 343 068 320 957

Hospitality and tourism 70 977 39 814

Transport and communications 88 754 49 639

Services 69 120 111 071

Consumer loans 981 209 728 662

Housing loans 44 852 35 395

Mozambican State 143 434 117 232

Other activities 39 408 221 370

1 967 055 3 774 125

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Loans with collateral 159 343 38 172

Loans with other collateral 1 305 869 3 392 969

Loans without collateral 263 442 86 217

Loans to the public sector 143 337 117 311

Leasing loans 95 064 139 456

1 967 055 3 774 125

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Agriculture and forestry -                                    232                                   

Textile -                                    42                                     

Paper, graphic arts and publishing -                                    57                                     

Chemical 2 590 032                   -                                       

Machine and equipment
8 051                           4                                       

Electricity, water and gas -                                    38 920                              

Construction 207                              129 590                            

Trade 40 980                         315 997                            

Hospitality and tourism -                                    1 304                                

Transport and communications -                                    683                                   

Services -                                    1 149                                

Consumer loans 176 852 246 795                            

Other activities 110 750 442 522                            

2 926 872 1 177 295
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The cancellation of loan by use of the respective provision, analyzed by type of loan, is as follows: 

 

The recovery of loans and interest cancelled in the year or in previous years, carried out during 2023 presented by 

type of loan, is as follows: 

 

20. Financial assets at amortized cost 

 

 

Changes in the Impairment of Other Financial Assets at amortized cost are analyzed as follows: 

 

 

 

 

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Loans with other collateral 2 892 090 991 600

Loans without collateral 34 782 185 695

2 926 872 1 177 295

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Loans with other collateral 2,590,659 287,999

Loans without collateral 9,139 8,055

2,599,798 296,054

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Government bonds 38 805 946 35 769 640

Other securities 2 189 169 22 140 277

40 995 115 57 909 917

Impairment of securities 
                   (423 178)                         (189 910)

40 571 937               57 720 007                    

MZN' 000

2023 2022

  Balance at 1 January                      189 910                           178 428 

   Allocation for the year 280 243 71 012

Reversal for the year                       (46 975)                           (59 530)

   Balance at 31 December                      423 178                           189 910 
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21. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income   

 

The item “other securities” is mainly composed by Treasury bills held for trading. 

 

22. Investments in associates  

 

The investment in associates, in the amount of 99 501 thousand Meticais, corresponds to the cost of acquiring the 

shareholding in Fidelidade Moçambique – Companhia de Seguros, S.A. 

 

As at 31 December 2023, the percentage of the Bank's shareholding in the associate is shown as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Other securities                   6 164 785                        6 031 769 

Government bonds                      824 726                        1 058 718 

Shares 48 842 82 287

7 038 353                        7 172 774 

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Associates:

Fidelidade Moçambique- Companhia de Seguros, S.A. 99 501 99 501

99 501                         99 501                                      

MZN

Subsidiaries Headquarter Share Economic %  in

Capital Activity Participation

Fidelidade Moçambique- Companhia de Seguros, S.A. Maputo 295 000 000 Seguros 21,99
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Below is the Associate's income statement for the year ended 31 December 2023: 

 

 

 

             000  MZN

Prior

Notes Profit and loss account Life technical Non-life Non-technical Year

account technical account account Total

2 g); 5 Premiums earned net of reinsurance 318 375          2 293 026          -              2 611 400   2 347 207          

Gross written premiums 343 174            2 939 577            -               3 282 751      2 942 873            

Premiums ceded to reinsurers (24 799)             (519 198)             -               (543 997)       (527 135)             

Provision for unearned premiums (change) -                   (183 931)             -               (183 931)       (47 884)               

Provision for unearned premiums, reinsurers´part (change) -                   56 577                -               56 577          (20 647)               

Commissions on insurance contracts and operations -                   -                     -               -               -                     

considered for accounting purposes as investment -                   -                     -               -               -                     

contracts or as contracts for the provision of services -                   -                     -               -               -                     

-                   -                     -               -               -                     

6 Claims costs, net of reinsurance (53 711)           (1 334 536)        -              (1 388 247)  (1 155 254)        

Amounts paid (38 611)             (1 341 152)           -               (1 379 763)    (1 162 497)           

Gross amounts (64 307)             (1 584 603)           -               (1 648 911)    (1 427 418)           

from reinsurers 25 696              243 451               -               269 148        264 921               

Provision for claims (change) (15 100)             6 616                  -               (8 485)           7 243                  

Gross amounts 5 893                18 491                -               24 384          40 602                

from reinsurers (20 994)             (11 875)               -               (32 869)         (33 359)               

7 Other technical provisions, net of reinsurance -                   (4 310)                 -               (4 310)           (6 169)                 

8 Mathematical provision - Life, net of reinsurance 4 798              -                    -              4 798          (77 450)             

Amounts paid 7 978                -                     -               7 978            (79 619)               

from reinsurers (3 179)               -                     -               (3 179)           2 169                  

9 Profit sharing, net of reinsurance -                   (3 288)                 -               (3 288)           (3 448)                 

2 g); 10 Operating costs, net (261 989)         (736 884)           -              (998 873)     (817 742)           

Acquisition costs (131 067)           (345 359)             -               (476 426)       (438 742)             

  Deferred acquisition costs (change) 3 573                16 711                -               20 285          43 532                

Administrative costs (144 526)           (465 143)             -               (609 669)       (509 540)             

    Reinsurance commissions and profit sharing 10 030              56 907                -               66 937          87 008                

2 c); 11 Income 68 488            559 878             13 869        642 235      520 602             

Interest on financial assets not recognised at -                   -                     -               -               -                     

 fair value through profit and loss 64 705              492 654               13 099          570 458        447 687               

Interest on financial liabilities not recognised at -                   -                     -               -               -                     

fair value through profit or loss -                   -                     -               -               -                     

Others 3 783                67 224                769               71 777          72 915                

12 Financial costs (94)                  (3 184)               -              (3 279)         (1 718)               

Interest on assets not recognised at fair -                   -                     -               -               -                     

value through profit or loss -                   -                     -               -               -                     

Interest on financial liabilities not recognised at -                   -                     -               -               -                     

fair value through profit or loss -                   -                     -               -               -                     

Others (94)                   (3 184)                 -               (3 279)           (1 718)                 

Net gains on financial assets and liabilities not recognised -                  -                    -              -              -                     

at fair value through profit or loss -                  -                    -              -              -                    

   Assets available for sale -                   -                     -               -               -                     

Loans and accounts receivable -                   -                     -               -               -                     

   Investments held to maturity -                   -                     -               -               -                     

Financial liabilities valued at amortised cost -                   -                     -               -               -                     

Others -                   -                     -               -               -                     

Net gains on financial assets and liabilities valued at fair -                  -                    -              -              -                     

value through profit and loss -                  (43 990)             -              (43 990)       (31 763)             

Net gains on financial assets and liabilities held for trading -                   -                     -               -               -                     

-                   -                     -               -               -                     

Net gains on financial assets and liabilities on initial -                   -                     -               -               -                     

recognition at fair value through profit or loss -                   -                     -               -               -                     

Others -                   (43 990)               -               (43 990)         (31 763)               

13 Exchange rate differences (7)                     3 225                  (1 431)           1 788            2 749                  

Net gains on the sale of assets not that are not classified -                  -                    -              -              -                     

as non-current assets held for sale and discontinued -                  -                    -              -              -                     

14 operating units -                  11 143               -              11 143        1 232                 

Impairment losses (net of reversal) -                   -                     -               -               -                     

Assets available for sale -                   -                     -               -               -                     

Loans and receivables valued at amortised cost -                   -                     -               -               -                     

Investments to be held to maturity -                   -                     -               -               -                     

Others -                   11 143                -               11 143          1 232                  

Other income/technical expenses, net of reinsurance -                   19                       -               19                367                     

15 Other provisions (change) 1 254                1 875                  -               3 129            17 589                

Other income/expenses -                   -                     (6 938)           (6 938)           (4 327)                 

Negative goodwill recognised immediately in profit and loss -                   -                     -               -               -                     

Gains and losses os associates and ventures accounted for -                   -                     -               -               -                     

using the equity method -                   -                     -               -               -                     

Gains and losses on non-current assets (or disposal groups) -                   -                     -               -               -                     

classified as held for sale -                   -                     -               -               -                     

Profit before tax 77 114            742 972             5 499          825 586      791 873             

2 i); 27 Income taxes for the year - Current taxes (24 412)             (235 207)             (1 741)           (261 360)       (214 063)             

2 i); 27 Income taxes for the year - Deferred taxes -                   64 359                -               64 359          4 958                  

31 Net profit for the year 52 702            572 124             3 758          628 584      582 768             

2023
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Below is the Associate’s Balance Sheet for the year ended 31 December 2023 

 

 

 

000 MZN

December 2023 December 2022

Notes Asset Gross Asset Amortization Net Assets Net Assets

and Provisions Prior Year

2 a); 17 Cash and cash equivalents and current deposits 765 241 -                       765 241 323 891

2 b); 18 Investments in subsidiaries, associates -                     -                       -                           

and Joint Ventures 211 351 -                       211 351 211 351

Financial assets held for trading -                     -                       -                           -                             

Financial assets classified at initial recognition at fair -                     -                       -                           -                             

value through profit and loss -                     -                       -                           -                             

2 c); 19 Assets available for sale 3 231 816 -                       3 231 816 2 920 739

2 c); 21 Loans and accounts receivable 72 200 -                       72 200 170 540

Deposits with transferor companies -                     -                       -                           -                             

Other deposits 72 200 -                       72 200 170 540

Loans granted -                     -                       -                           -                             

Account receivable -                     -                       -                           -                             

Others -                     -                       -                           -                             

2 c); 20 Investments to hold until maturity 232 818 -                       232 818 224 104

2 e); 22 Properties 1 730 168 11 018 1 719 150 1 990 043

Properties held for own use 67 656 11 018 56 638 57 992

Properties held for income 1 662 512 -                       1 662 512 1 932 051

2 f); 23 Other tangible assets 486 834 145 623 341 210 230 053

23 Inventory 415 -                       415 1 293

Goodwill -                     -                       -                           -                             

2 g); 24 Other intangible assets 113 605 102 825 10 779 17 638

2 h); 25 Technical provisions for reinsurance ceded 950 936 -                       950 936 949 794

Provision for unearned premiums 149 531 -                       149 531 93 239

   Mathematical provision for Life - Insurance 2 917 -                       2 917 5 724

   Provision for claims 788 642 -                       788 642 850 175

   Provision for profit sharing 9 847 -                       9 847 656

Other technical provision -                     -                       -                           -                             

Assets for post-employment benefits and

 other long-term benefits 11 991 -                       11 991 12 731

26 Other debtors for insurance and other operations

1 162 096 26 734 1 135 362 726 281

   Accounts receivable from direct insurance operations 858 341 26 734 831 607 481 390

 Accounts receivable from other reinsurance operations 148 988 -                       148 988 95 035

   Accounts receivable for other operations 154 766 -                       154 766 149 856

2 l); 27 Tax assets 54 003 -                       54 003 103 838

  Current tax assets 51 497 -                       51 497 101 331

Deferred tax assets 2 507 -                       2 507 2 507

28 Accruals and deferrals 193 752 -                       193 752 106 513

   Interest receivable 169 611 -                       169 611 105 015

Other accruals and deferrals 24 141 -                       24 141 1 499

Other assets elements -                     -                       -                           -                             

-                     -                       -                           -                             

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued -                     -                       -                           -                             

operating units -                     -                       -                           -                             

Total Assets 9 217 224 286 201 8 931 024 7 988 810
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000 MZN

December 2023 December 2022

Liability and Equity Current year Prior year

LIABILITY

2 h); 25 Technical Provisions 2 884 562 2 767 128

Provision for unearned premium 925 778 758 901

Mathematical provision - Life 190 275 201 335

  Provisions for claim 1 753 817 1 797 274

From Life insurance 35 591 41 755

From the field of occupational accidents and occupational diseases 453 668 442 649

  From other business lines 1 264 559 1 312 870

Profit share provision 4 213 3 448

Claims deviation reserve -                             -                              

Unexpired risk reserve 10 479 6 169

Other technical provision

Financial liabilities from the deposit component of insurance

 policy holders and from insurance policies and operations considered

 for accounting purposes as investments contracts

Other financial liabilities

     Subordinated liabilities 

     Deposits received from reinsurers 

Others

2 j); 29 Liabilities for post-employment benefits and

 other long-term benefits 20 185 17 721

-                             -                              

30 Other creditors for insurance operations in other operations 1 262 028 721 736

-                             -                              

Accounts payables for direct insurance operations 475 967 325 872

Accounts payable for other reinsurance operations 576 169 224 764

Accounts payables for other operations 209 892 171 100

-                             -                              

-                             -                              

2 l); 27 Tax liabilities 432 398 478 252

-                             -                              

Current tax liabilities 60 255 40 625

Deferred tax liabilities 372 144 437 627

-                             -                              

28 Accruals and deferrals 108 676 99 728

-                             -                              

2 m) Other provisions 999 999

Other liabilities -                             -                              

Liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale -                             -                              

-                             -                              

-                             -                              

TOTAL LIABILITIES 4 708 848 4 085 563

-                             -                              

EQUITY -                             -                              

-                             -                              

2 n); 31 Share Capital 295 000 295 000

(Own shares) -                             -                              

Other equity instruments -                             -                              

-                             -                              

Revaluation reserves (13 211)                       (11 220)                        

-                             -                              

31 For readjustments in the fair value of financial assets (13 211)                       (11 220)                        

For revaluation property for own use -                             -                              

For revaluation of intangible assets -                             -                              

For revaluation of other tangible assets -                             -                              

For exchange rate difference -                             -                              

-                             -                              

-                             -                              

31 Reserve for deferred taxes 4 228 3 590

-                             -                              

31 Other reserves 2 445 166 2 138 936

-                             -                              

31 Retained earnings 862 409 894 172

-                             -                              

31 Profit for the year 628 584 582 768

-                             -                              

TOTAL EQUITY 4 222 176 3 903 247

-                             -                              

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 8 931 024 7 988 810
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23. Non-current assets held for sale  

 

Impairment changes for non-current assets held for sale are analyzed as follows: 

 

 

24. Investment Properties  

The “Investment Properties” item consists of property and equipment received, which are being leased by the Bank. 

Investment Properties are initially recognized at acquisition cost, including transaction costs, and are subsequently 

measured at fair value. The fair value of investment properties should reflect market conditions at the reporting 

date. Changes in fair value are recognized in income statement for the year under the “Other Operating Income” 

item. 

Evaluations are carried out annually by external evaluators duly certified for this purpose. 

The changes of the “Investment Properties” item during 2023 are analyzed as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Collateral from Loans

Properties 692 190 1 483 918

692 190 1 483 918

Impairment (109 483) (92 704)

582 707 1 391 214

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Balance at 1 January 92 704 31 264

Increases for the year 19 879 76 546

Transfers (3 100)                          (15 106)                                      

Balance at the end of the year 109 483 92 704

MZN' 000

             25 413                            -                             -                   71 720                                - 97 133                   4 680 101 813

           829 106                  42 970                             -                 555 488                                - 1 427 564                 66 174 1 493 738

Industrial Equipment                         -                967 627                             -                             -                                - 967 627                           - 967 627

           854 519             1 010 597                             -                 627 207                                -                2 492 324                 70 855             2 563 178 

Revaluation
Balance at 

31.12.23

Gross Amount Net value

Residential property

Comercial/Operational Property

Balance at 

01.01.23
Acquisitions Disposals Transfers Regularization

Balance at 

31.12.23
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25. Other Tangible Assets  
 

 

The changes of the Tangible Assets item during the year 2023 are analyzed as follows: 

 

 

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Buildings 3 994 498 3 742 672

Works in rented buildings 1 230 620 1 241 521

Equipment

Furniture 401 434 388 493

Machines 209 616 183 017

IT equipment 2 984 897 2 726 994

    Interior fittings 1 041 903 983 550

Vehicles 627 652 600 135

    Security equipment 397 818 374 511

Other tangible assets 28 582 27 979

Right-of-use

Properties 1 764 670 1 582 761

Assets under construction 327 209 215 276

13 008 899 12 066 909

Accumulated amortization (7 042 811)                   (6 348 396)                 

5 966 088 5 718 513

MZN' 000

Balance at 01 

January 2023

Acquisitions / 

Appropriations
Disposals Transfers

Balance at 31 

December 2023

Cost

Properties 3 742 672 237 514 (521)                             14 833                        3 994 498

Works in rented buildings 1 241 521 8 418 (20 283)                        964                            1 230 620

Equipment

Furniture 388 493 19 389 (7 234)                          786                            401 434

Machines 183 017 5 968 (406)                             21 037                        209 616

IT equipment 2 726 994 174 456 (170 168)                       253 615                      2 984 897

Interior fittings 983 550 46 078 (23 567)                        35 842                        1 041 903

Vehicles 600 135 67 556 (52 724)                        12 685                        627 652

Security equipment 374 511 8 838 (58)                               14 527                        397 818

Other tangible assets 27 979 1 222 (619)                             -                                28 582

Right-of-use -IFRS 16

Properties 1 582 761 181 909              -                                  -                                1 764 670

Assets under construction 215 276 466 894 (672)                             (354 289)                     327 209

12 066 909 1 218 242           (276 252)                       -                                13 008 899

Accumulated amortization

Properties (762 184)                (78 533)              268                              1                                (840 448)                

Works in rented buildings (804 881)                (80 761)              14 896                          (1)                              (870 747)                

Equipment

Furniture (289 615)                (24 726)              5 672                           -                                (308 669)                

Machines (130 095)                (16 363)              399                              -                                (146 059)                

IT Equipment (2 155 544)             (335 671)            170 108                        -                                (2 321 107)             

Interior Fittings (619 114)                (70 561)              16 884                          -                                (672 791)                

Vehicles (384 640)                (96 002)              47 180                          -                                (433 462)                

Security equipment (281 636)                (21 130)              25                                -                                (302 741)                

Other tangible assets (23 113)                  (1 014)                557                              -                                (23 570)                  

Right-of-use

Properties (897 574)                (225 644)            1                                  -                                (1 123 217)             

(6 348 396)             (950 405)            255 990                        -                                (7 042 811)             

Net value 5 718 513              267 837              (20 262)                        -                                5 966 088              
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The changes of the Tangible Assets item during the year 2022 are analyzed as follows: 

 

26. Other Intangible Assets  

 

 

 

 

 

MZN' 000

Balance at 01 

January 2022

Acquisitions / 

Appropriations
Disposals Transfers

Balance at 31 

December 2022

Cost

Properties 3 627 573 1 013 (176)                             114 262 3 742 672

Works in rented buildings 1 135 780 3 129 (14 818)                        117 430 1 241 521

Equipment

Furniture 371 572 4 878 (1 446)                          13 489                        388 493

Machines 163 263 19 806 (52)                               -                                183 017

IT equipment 2 489 387 172 384 (61 130)                        126 353                      2 726 994

Interior fittings 850 071 51 956 (6 690)                          88 213 983 550

Vehicles 550 732 96 346 (67 523)                        20 580 600 135

Security equipment 313 103 32 016 (944)                             30 336                        374 511

Other tangible assets 27 237 753 (163)                             152                            27 979

Right-of-use -IFRS 16

Properties 1 365 501 217 260 -                                  -                                1 582 761

Assets work in progress 434 216 291 875 -                                  (510 815)                     215 276

11 328 435 891 416              (152 942)                       -                                12 066 909             

Accumulated amortization

Properties (683 504)                (78 766)              84                                2                                (762 184)                

Works in rented buildings (732 587)                (85 362)              13 070                          (2)                              (804 881)                

Equipment

Furniture (266 378)                (24 497)              1 260                           -                                (289 615)                

Machines (118 131)                (12 016)              52                                -                                (130 095)                

IT Equipment (1 970 852)             (245 724)            61 032                          -                                (2 155 544)             

Interior Fittings (559 836)                (64 332)              5 054                           -                                (619 114)                

Vehicles (356 088)                (95 971)              67 419                          -                                (384 640)                

Security equipment (268 661)                (13 776)              801                              -                                (281 636)                

Other tangible assets (22 239)                  (1 004)                130                              -                                (23 113)                  

Right-of-use

Properties (671 634)                (225 952)            12                                -                                (897 574)                

(5 649 910)             (847 400)            148 914                        -                                (6 348 396)             

Net value 5 678 525              44 016               (4 028)                          -                                5 718 513              

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Intangible Assets

      'Software' 2 252 489 1 858 892

Assets under construction 138 025 149 026

2 390 514 2 007 918

Accumulated amortization (1 533 568)        (1 249 971)           

856 946 757 947
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The changes of the intangible assets item during the year 2023 are analyzed as follows: 

 

The changes of the intangible assets item during the year 2022 are analyzed as follows: 

 

27. Current tax assets and liabilities  

 

28. Deferred tax assets and liabilities   

 

 

 

 

MZN' 000

Balance at 01 

January 2023

Acquisitions / 

Appropriations
Disposals Transfers

Balance at 31 

December 2023

Cost

   Software 1 858 892 297 964 (71 455)          167 088               2 252 489

Assets under construction 149 026 156 087 (167 088)              138 025

2 007 918 454 051                    (71 455)          -                           2 390 514

Accumulated amortization

   Software (1 249 971)           (283 597)                   -                     -                           (1 533 568)                  

Net Value 757 947               170 454                    (71 455)          -                           856 946                      

MZN' 000

Balance at 01 

January 2022

Acquisitions / 

Appropriations
Disposals Transfers

Balance at 31 

December 2022

Cost

   Software 1 375 195 35 009 -                     448 688               1 858 892

Inverstments in progress 390 458 207 256 -                     (448 688)              149 026

1 765 653 242 265                    -                     -                           2 007 918

Accumulated amortization

   Software (1 046 859)           (203 112)                   -                     -                           (1 249 971)                  

Net Value 718 794               39 153                      -                     -                           757 947                      

MZN' 000

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

   Corporate Income Tax (IRPC) to be recovered 419 213 - 408 614 -

   Corporate Income Tax (IRPC) to be paid - 19 - 48

419 213 19 408 614 48

2023 2022

MZN' 000

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Deferred tax assets - tax losses               -                    -         955 548                       - 

Deferred tax assets - temporary differences 141 260         (26 810) -                       - 

Deferred Tax Assets/Liabilities 141 260         (26 810) 955 548                       - 

Total recognised as Assets (+) / Liabilities (-) 114 450  955 548       

2023 2022
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The change for the year of deferred tax assets and liabilities is as follows: 

 

29. Other Assets  

 

On December 31st, 2023, the debtors item included the amount of 3.345.550 thousand Meticais referring to 

properties received in donation for more than 12 months. 

Changes in the impairment of other assets are analyzed as follows: 

 

30. Deposits from other Banks  

 

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Balance at 1 of January 955 548 960 864

Appropriation (+) / Reversal (-) Deferred Taxes -tax losses (955 548) (888)

Appropriation (+) / Reversal (-) Deferred Taxes - temporary differences 114 450                    - 

Other changes               - (4 428)

114 450  955 548        

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Debtors 4 624 442 4 445 040

Accrued income 117 450 115 169

Prepaid expenses 131 833 107 169

Other receivables 925 496 666 937

5 799 221 5 334 315

Impairment for other assets (1 197 576) (748 701)

4 601 645 4 585 614

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Balance at 1 January 748 701 770 889

Appropriation for the year 457 288 210 579                                     

Utilizations (11 513)                       (247 874)                                    

Tramsfers 3 100 15 107                                       

Balance at the end of the year 1 197 576 748 701

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Deposits from the Central Bank of Mozambique

   Medium and long term loans 104 126                      148 173                                     

Deposits from other Banks in-country 

Current deposits 337 811 17 730

Other deposits 144 985                      -                                                 

Deposits from other Banks abroad

Current deposits 897 417 23 093

Short term loans 761 42 655

1 485 100 231 651
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31. Deposits from customers 

 

32. Provisions  

 

Changes in the provisions for off-balance credit exposures are analyzed as follows:  

 

The provision for off-balance credit refers to provisions for guarantees provided and other commitments. 

Changes in the Provisions for general banking risks are analyzed as follows: 

 

The provision for general banking risks is intended to cover potential contingencies arising from ongoing legal 

proceedings. 

 

 

 

 

 

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Current deposits 69 256 982 75 317 052

Term deposits 76 536 305 75 918 456

Other deposits 653 557 940 646

146 446 844 152 176 154

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Provisions for off-balance credit exposures 118 486 104 338

Provisions for general banking risks 90 969 122 271

Provisions for other risks and charges 305 640 541 762

515 095 768 371

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Balance at 1 January 104 338 90 809

Allocation for the year 124 949 112 135

Reversal for the year (110 831)                     (97 714)                                      

Exchange rate differences 30                                 (892)                                           

Balance at the end of period 118 486 104 338

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Balance at 1 January 122 271 124 094

Allocation for the year                          30 194                                           7 140 

Reversal for the year                         (40 940)                                         (2 858)

Exchange rate differences                                  10                                                13 

Utilizations for the year                         (20 566)                                         (6 118)

Saldo no fim do período 90 969 122 271
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Changes in the Provisions for other risks and charges are analyzed as follows: 

 

This item includes provisions for potential losses to the Bank resulting from fraud, account clean-up and tax 

proceedings. 

 

33. Other Liabilities  

 

34. Equity 

The Bank's equity in the amount of 4.500.000 thousand Meticais is represented by 45.000.000 shares, with a 

nominal value of 100 Meticais each and is fully subscribed and paid up. 

The shareholder structure as of December 31st, 2023 is as follows: 

 

 

 

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Balance at 1 January 541 762 535 403

Allocation for the year                        163 500                                       368 753 

Transfers                                    -                                           35 052 

Utilizations for the year                      (399 622)                                     (397 446)

Balance at the end of period 305 640 541 762

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Other liabilities 1 504 315 582 604

Staff costs payable 1 053 734 959 084

Costs payable 950 945 1 053 409

Lease liabilities 777 097 794 754

Retained taxes 233 328 147 341

Defferred income revenue 202 070 175 931

Other creditors 115 538 123 807

VAT to be paid 101 086 41 646

Suppliers 79 014 28 869

Consigned funds 22 490 22 490

Social Secutiry contributions                          12 895 21 157

5 052 512 3 951 092

2023 %  participation 2022 % participation

No. Of shares equity No. Of shares equity

BCP África, SGPS 30 008 460 66,69% 30 008 460 66,69%

Government of Mozambicque 7 704 747 17,12% 7 704 747 17,12%

 INSS - Instituto Nacional de Segurança Social (Social Securites) 2 227 809 4,95% 2 227 809 4,95%

EMOSE - Empresa Moçambicana de Seguros, SARL 1 866 309 4,15% 1 866 309 4,15%

FDC - Fundação para Desenvolvimento da Comunidade 487 860 1,08% 487 860 1,08%

Gestores, Técnicos e Trabalhadores ( GTTs) 2 704 815 6,01% 2 704 815 6,01%

45 000 000 100,00% 45 000 000 100,00%
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35. Reserves and retained earnings  

 

Under the terms of the Mozambican legislation in force, Law No. 20/20 - Credit Institutions, the Bank must annually 

reinforce the legal reserve by at least 15% of annual net profits, and this reserve cannot normally be distributed. 

36. Dividends 

The Board of Directors, meeting on February 20th, 2024, decided to propose to the General Assembly the distribution 

to the Shareholders of 82,5% of the Net Profit calculated on December 31, 2023, in the amount of 5.948.992 thousand 

Meticais (In 2023, the General Assembly approved the distribution of 75% of the Net Income calculated on December 

31, 2022,  in the amount of 4.959.611 thousand Meticais). 

 

37. Guarantees and other commitments  

Off-balance sheet values are analyzed as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Legal Reserves 6 999 587 6 999 587

Other reserves and retained earnings 18 174 572 16 413 405

Profit for the year 7 210 899 6 612 815

32 385 058 30 025 807

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Guarantees provided

Personal guarantees 11 167 328 16 788 236

Real guarantees 951 706 971 929

Guarantees and sureties received

Personal guarantees 278 035 233 266 826 112

Real guarantees 51 497 147 58 761 036

Commitments to third parties 6 950 658 6 637 241

Spot foreign exchange transactions:

Bid 447 902 1 481 312

Sell 404 170 1 437 157

Forward exchange transactions:

Bid                        191 700                                                   - 

Sell                        197 910                                                   - 
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38. Related Parties   

As of December 31st, 2023, the income and expenses held by the Bank arising from transactions with related 

parties (Millennium BCP Group) and associated – Fidelidade Moçambique – Companhia de Seguros, SA, are 

represented as follows: 

 

 

As of December 31st, 2023, the debits and credits held by the Bank arising from transactions with related parties 

(Millennium BCP Group) and its associate – Fidelidade Moçambique Companhia de Seguros, SA, are represented as 

follows: 

 

 

In relation to the Management Bodies and their direct families, the loan registered as of December 31st, 2023 

amounted to 4.184 thousand Meticais (December 31st, 2022: 5.141 thousand Meticais). These loans were granted 

in accordance with the applicable legal and regulatory standards. 

Regarding Deposits as of December 31st, 2023, it amounted to 768.851 thousand Meticais (December 31st, 2022: 

711.940 thousand Meticais). 

 

 

39. Cash and cash equivalents  

MZN' 000

Interest and similar Fee and commissions Other operating Interest and similar Fee and commissions Other operating

income results results income results results

Banco Comercial Português S.A 332 070 -                              -                            249 214 -                           -                           

Fidelidade Moçambique- Companhia de Seguros, S.A. -                         66 728                    68 810                  92 124                 130 674                 52 930                  

332 070 66 728                    68 810                  341 339                130 674                 52 930                  

Dec-23 Dec-22

Income Income

MZN' 000

Interest and similar Fee and commissions Staff Other Admi- Interest and similar Fee and commissions Staff Other Admi-

expense results Costs nistrative costs expense results Costs nistrative costs

Banco Comercial Português S.A -                         -                              -                            930 106 -                          -                           -                           913 286

Fidelidade Moçambique- Companhia de Seguros, S.A. -                         -                              228 016                93 723            -                          -                           202 050                48 820                

-                         -                              228 016                1 023 829       -                          -                           202 050                962 107              

Costs Costs

Dec-23 Dec-22

MZN' 000

Off-balance sheet Off-balance sheet

Cash equivalents Investments Other Collateral Cash equivalents Investments Other Collateral 

in CI´s in CI´s Assets provided in CI´s in CI´s Assets provided

Banco Comercial Português S.A 817 777 4 675 177 -                  8 946                    345 603 15 252 722 -                 8 942                 

Fidelidade Moçambique- Companhia de Seguros, S.A. -                         -                     144 149      -                           -                     -                      112 423       -                        

817 777 4 675 177 144 149      8 946 345 603 15 252 722 112 423       8 942                 

Dec-23 Dec-22

Assets Assets

MZN' 000

Debits Customer Other Subordinated Debits Customer Other Subordinated 

in CI´s deposits liabilities Liabilities in CI´s deposits liabilities Liabilities

Banco Comercial Português S.A 13 245 -                     203 054 -                           12 784             -                      238 511 -                        

Millennium BCP Partic SGPS LDA -                         38 518 -                  -                           -                     38 520 -                 -                        

Millennium BCP Africa SGPS 870 023 -                     -                  -                           890                 -                      -                 -                        

Fidelidade Moçambique- Companhia de Seguros, S.A. -                         1 039 758      -                  -                           -                     624 647           -                 -                        

883 268 1 078 276 203 054 -                           13 674             663 167           238 511       -                        

Liabilities Liabilities

Dec-23 Dec-22
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For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Cash and cash equivalents item is composed as follows: 

 

40. Lease Agreement  

As of December 31st, 2023, the lease agreements were registered as follows: 
 

 
 
The Bank acts as lessor in some properties received in lieu of payment, this income is recognized as income from 

property under the item “Other Operating Income” (note 8). 

 

41. Fair Value  

Fair value is based on market quotation prices, where available. If these do not exist, as is the case with many of 
the products placed with Customers, the fair value must be estimated through internal models based on cash flow 
discounting techniques.  
The following are the main methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair value of financial assets and 
liabilities: 
 
 
Loans to Customers   
 
Loans to Customers without defined maturity 
 
Given the short term of this type of instruments, the conditions of this portfolio are similar to those practiced at 
the reporting date, so its balance sheet value is considered a reasonable estimate of its fair value. 
 
 

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Cash 4 286 716 4 545 063

Cash in Credit Institution in country 251 226 327 874

Cash in Credit Institution abroad 2 532 093 1 394 925

7 070 035 6 267 862

000MZN

2023 2022

225 644 225 952

67 982 84 924

1 764 670 1 582 761

Carrying amount of lease liabilities 777 097 794 754

12 669 12 231

355 015 263 959

409 412 518 563

Carrying amount of right-of-use assets

Leases

Amortization for the year for right-of-use assets

Interest costs of lease liabilities

Maturity of lease liabilities

Up to 1 year

From 1 to 5 years

More than 5 years

The lease agreement includes only properties 
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Loans to Customers with defined maturity 
 
The fair value of these financial instruments is calculated based on the update of the expected future principal and 
interest cash flows for those instruments. Instalment payments are deemed to take place on the contractually 
defined dates. For loans with impairment signs, the net impairment value of these operations is considered as a 
reasonable estimate of their fair value, considering the economic valuation that is carried out in the clearance of 
this impairment. 
  
The discount rate used is the money market index rate (PLR, EURIBOR and SOFR) according to the index of each 
instrument. 
 
 
 
 
Financial assets at amortized cost and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
 
The Bank uses the following 3-tier Fair Value hierarchy in the valuation of financial instruments (assets or liabilities), 
which reflects the level of judgment, the observability of the data used and the importance of the parameters 
applied in determining the instrument's fair value valuation in accordance with IFRS 13: 
 

- Level 1: Fair value is determined based on unadjusted quoted prices captured in active market transactions 
involving financial instruments identical to the instruments to be valued. Where there is more than one active 
market for the same financial instrument, the relevant price is the one that prevails in the main market for the 
instrument, or the most advantageous market for which access exists; 

 
- Level 2: Fair value is determined from valuation techniques supported by data observable in active markets, 

whether direct (prices, rates, spreads, etc.) or indirect (derivatives), and valuation assumptions similar to those 
that an unrelated party would use in estimating the fair value of the same financial instrument; 

 
- Level 3: Fair value is determined on the basis of data that are not observable in active markets, using techniques 

and assumptions that market participants would use to value the same instruments, including assumptions about 
the inherent risks, the valuation technique used and the inputs used, and processes for reviewing the accuracy 
of the values thus obtained. 

 
 
The financial assets at fair value for the Bank as of 31 December 2023 are: 
 

- Level 2 - Mozambican Government Bonds and Treasury Bills; 

At the time of the business model review, part of the Bank's financial asset portfolio was classified as Held to Collect 

and Sell ("HTC&S"). The objective of the financial assets held under this business model is achieved either by 

collecting the contractual cash flows (principal and interest) or by selling these financial assets when market 

opportunities arise, which will typically involve a higher frequency and amount of sales when compared to the HTC 

model. 

For these assets, the Bank considers that the value of the assets will be mostly recovered through the collection of 

contractual cash flows. However, the Bank is considering the possibility of selling some securities in this portfolio 

depending on market conditions or other strategic decisions. 

The method of evaluating Fair Value considered by the Bank is the mark-to-model, which assumes the use of internal 

assumptions or financial models due to the lack of a regular market that provides accurate prices, or valuations 

depend on a set of reference variables and timeframes in which expert assumptions should be used to assign value 

to a financial instrument. 

The valuation model at the BIM level is supported by the income approach technique, which is based on the 

conversion of future values (discounted cash flows or revenues and expenses) into present value, leveraging current 

expectations about said future values through a yield curve. 
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Given that financial liabilities are made up of items (deposits with central banks, financial institutions and customer 

deposits) that mature in the short term, the fair value was not calculated, as the amortized cost value is 

approximate. 

At the time, the Bank only has assets at Fair value level 2, which have not undergone any transfer throughout the 

year at the different levels of valuation. 

The following is a comparison of the book values and the Fair Value of the Bank's financial instruments at the time. 

MZN ' 000

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets at fair value

Financial assets not held for trading mandatorily at fair value 

through profit or loss

Debt securities                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          - 

Other securities                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          - 

Loans to customer 44 207 638                          -                          -                          - 44 207 638 48 961 908

44 207 638                          -                          -                          - 44 207 638 48 961 908

Other financial assets held for trading at fair value through profit or 

loss

Debt securities                          -                          -                          -                          - 

Other securities                          -                          -                          -                          - 

                         -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          - 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Debt securities                          -                          - 6 989 511                          - 6 989 511 6 989 511

Other securities                          -                          - 48 842                          - 48 842 48 842

                         -                          - 7 038 353                          - 7 038 353 7 038 353

7 038 353

Total Financial Assets at Fair Value 44 207 638                          - 7 038 353                          - 51 245 991 56 000 261

Assets for which fair value is disclosed

Cash and cash equivalents in central banks 57 359 227                          -                          -                          - 57 359 227 57 359 227

Cash equivalents in other credit institutions 2 783 319                          -                          -                          - 2 783 319 2 783 319

Placements in other Banks 23 220 426                          -                          -                          - 23 220 426 23 220 426

Loans to credit 44 207 638                          -                          -                          - 44 207 638 48 961 908

Other financial assets at amortised cost 40 571 937                          -                          -                          - 40 571 937 40 571 937

Non-current assets held for sale 582 707                          -                          -                          - 582 707 807 522

Investment properties 2 563 178                          -                          -                          - 2 563 178 2 913 413

168 725 254                          -                          -                          - 171 288 432 176 617 752

Total Financial Assets 212 932 892                          - 7 038 353                          - 222 534 423 232 618 013

Amortised 

cost

Fair value category Amount on 

the Balance 
Fair value 
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42. Other post-employment benefits 

The Bank contributes to the post-employment benefit plan by: 

Workers in active employment hired until 31 December 2011 are entitled to a pension remitted when they reach 

the age of 60, in the case of men and 55 in the case of women, and it is a mandatory condition that the Employee 

is already benefiting from an old-age pension granted by the National Institute of Social Security (INSS) or if the 

Executive Committee so decides. 

The Bank has determined that, in accordance with the terms and conditions of the retirement benefit plan, and in 

accordance with local regulations, the present value of future repayments or reductions of future contributions is 

not less than the total fair value of the workers in active plan less the present value of the obligations. 

The amount of the normal contribution to the Pension Fund to be made by the Bank during the next annual period 

is MZN 53.348.506,98. 

Benefit Plan Closed-End Pension Fund BIM 

The fund's pension plan is a defined benefit complementary to Social Security, the regulation is in accordance with 

the company agreement, with the following benefits: 

▪ A) GUARANTEED CAPITAL (REMITTED PENSION) FOR OLD-AGE RETIREMENT  

 

The Remitted Pension will be granted to employees hired until December 31, 2011 when they reach the age of 60, 

in the case of men and 55 in the case of women, and it is a mandatory condition that the employee is already 

benefiting from an old-age pension granted by the INSS or if the Executive Committee so decides. 

▪ B) CAPITAL GUARANTEED (REMITTED PENSION) OF REFORM FOR TOTAL AND PERMANENT DISABILITY   

 
The Remitted Pension will be awarded to employees hired until December 31, 2011, provided that they cease to 

work in BIM due to Total and Permanent Disability and that this is recognized by the bank's Executive Committee. 

▪ C) SURVIVORSHIP RETIREMENT SUPPLEMENT 

 
It is mandatory to indicate the beneficiaries in case of death through a specific form for this purpose, if there is no 

indication of beneficiary(ies), no capital will be allocated. Employees hired from 31 December 2011 onwards do not 

benefit from it. 

MZN ' 000

Book Value Fair Value Book Value Fair Value 

Financial Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents in Central Banks 57 359 227 57 359 227 18 977 649 18 977 649

Cash equivalents in other Credit Institutions 2 783 319 2 783 319 1 722 799 1 722 799

Placements in other Banks 23 220 426 23 220 426 48 487 516 48 487 516

Loans to Customer 44 207 638 48 961 908 42 800 908 45 041 727

Other financial assets at amortised cost 40 571 937 40 571 937 57 720 007 57 720 007

Non-current assets held for sale 582 707 807 522 1 391 214 1 704 970

Debt securities 7 377 515 6 989 511 7 573 289 7 090 486

Investment properties 2 563 178 2 913 413 854 519 1 104 159

Total Financial Assets 178 665 947 183 607 263 179 527 900 181 849 313

2023 2022
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In addition, there are obligations with pensioners and pensioners associated with retirement supplements granted 

through annuities of employees who transferred from the institutions acquired by the Bank in 2000. The income 

benefit is reversible by 50% regardless of the number of beneficiaries. 

The financing of the benefits in force is the responsibility of the members. 

The pension fund is a defined benefit plan, with an unlimited duration, whose assets are exclusively allocated to 

the payment of the pensions established in this Regulation. 

The benefits of this plan are previously defined and will only be attributed to the participants under this contract, 

and the pension fund is exclusively financed by contributions from members. 

Through this benefit plan, Members finance a Remitted Pension that they guarantee to their employees through a 

Retirement Supplement. 

The BIM Closed-End Pension Fund was established and is managed in accordance with Decree-Law No. 25/2009 of 

17 August. 

The investment policy seeks to ensure that the assets under management limit risk, maximizing their profitability 

and ensuring that the assets are sufficient to cover the liabilities assumed by the Fund, and also safeguarding: 

 

• The adequate degree of liquidity to comply with the payment of pensions and pension redemption capital; 

• Limitation and mitigation of financial risks; 

• Diversity and prudential dispersion of assets in order to avoid accumulation and excessive concentration. 

 

As of 31 December, the number of participants in the BIM Closed-End Pension Fund is as follows: 

 

In accordance with the policy described in note 2(n), the Bank's Obligations for retirement pensions and other 

benefits and their coverage as at 31 December are analyzed as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Number of participants 2023 2022
Workers in active employment 1 041 1 105
Retirees and pensioners 408 449

                 1 449                1 554 

MZN' 000

Projected benefit obligation 2023 2022

Retirees and pensioners             (622 058)           (637 330)

Workers in active employment          (1 279 922)        (1 309 804)

         (1 901 980)        (1 947 135)

Active values 1 937 201 2 045 177

Net Active 35 221 98 042
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Changes in obligations and the fair value of benefit plan for active workers is analyzed as follows: 

 

Workers in active employment  
 

 
 

 

 

 
 
Old-age and survivors´pensions (ex-BCM employees) 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

MZN' 000

1 January 2023

Cost of current 

service

Cost of 

interest

Subtotal 

included in 

the profit 

and loss 

Benefits paid 

by the fund

Return on plan for 

active workers 

(excluding 

interest costs)

Acturial 

gains/(losses) - 

Demographic 

changes

Acturial 

gains/(losses) - 

attributable to 

financial 

assumptions 

Adjustem

ents 

(others)

Subtotal 

recognised in 

equity Contributions

31 December 

2023

Defined benefit obligations
            (637 330)  -        (77 365)       (77 365)             84 427  -  -                   8 211  - 8 211  - (622 058)

Fair value of benefit plan for active workers at the beginning of 

the year
                     755 219  -          92 691         92 691           (84 427)                            -                                -                (26 147)  - (26 147)  - 737 336

Balance of the fund
             117 889  - 15 326                15 326                       -                            -                                -                (17 936)               -          (17 936)                           -          115 278 

2023- Changes in obligations and the fair value of benefit plan for active workers

Annual change in obligations Recognition of gains/(losses) in reserves

MZN' 000

1 January 2023

Cost of current 

service

Cost of 

interest

Subtotal 

included in 

the profit 

and loss 

Benefits paid 

by the fund

Return on plan for 

active workers 

(excluding 

interest costs)

Acturial 

gains/(losses) - 

Demographic 

changes

Acturial 

gains/(losses) - 

attributable to 

financial 

assumptions 

Adjustem

ents 

(others)

Subtotal 

recognised in 

equity Contributions

31 December 

2023

Defined benefit obligations
         (1 309 804)             (54 994)      (157 063)     (212 058)           258 247  -                                - (16 307)  - (16 307)  -

    (1 279 922)

Fair value of benefit plan for active workers at the beginning of 

the year
          1 289 958                        -        154 483       154 483         (258 247)  -                                - (41 323)  - (41 323) 54 994

      1 199 865 

Balance of the fund
              (19 847) (54 994)            (2 580)         (57 575)      -                                                -                                -                (57 630)               -          (57 630)                 54 994          (80 057)

2023- Changes in obligations and the fair value of benefit plan for active workers

Annual change in obligations Recognition of gains/(losses) in reserves

MZN' 000

1 January 2022

Cost of current 

service

Cost of 

interest 

Subtotal 

included in 

the profit and 

loss

Benefits paid by 

the fund

Return on plan for 

active workers 

(excluding interest 

costs)

Acturial gains/(losses) 

- Demographic 

changes

Acturial 

gains/(losses) - 

attributable to 

financial 

asssumptions 

Adjustme

nts 

(others)

Subtotal 

recognised in 

equity Contributions

31 December 

2022

Defined benefit obligations          (1 327 255)             (58 955)         (107 199)       (166 154)                191 172  -                          (2 531) (4 985)  - (7 516)
    (1 309 804)

Fair value of benefit plan for active workers at the beginning of 

the year
          1 266 056  -  -  -              (191 172)                    101 996                            2 531               7 981  - (8 284)             102 567       1 289 959 

Balance of the fund
              (61 199) (58 955)            (107 199)              (166 154)                           -                    101 996                                   -               2 996               -           (15 800)             102 567          (19 845)

2022-Changes in obligations and the fair value of benefit plan for active workers 

Annual change in obligations Recognition of gains/(losses) in reserves 

MZN' 000

1 January 2022

Cost of current 

service 

Cost of 

interest 

Subtotal 

included in 

the profit and 

loss

Benefits paid by 

the fund 

Return on plan for 

active workers 

(excluding interest 

costs)

Acturial gains/(losses) 

- Demographic 

changes

Acturial 

gains/(losses) - 

attributable to 

financial 

assumptions 

Adjustem

ents 

(others)

Subtotal 

recognised in 

equity Contributions

31 December 

2022

Defined benefit obligations             (766 085)                        -           (61 641)         (61 641)                  81 742  -                        108 656  -  - 108 603  - (637 330)

Fair value of benefit plan for active workers at the beginning of 

the year
                     776 941  -                      -                    -                (81 742)                      62 566                                   -              (2 546)  - 60 020  - 755 219

Balance of the fund
               10 856                        -           (61 641)         (61 641)                           -                      62 566                        108 656              (2 546)               -          168 623                         -          117 889 

Annual change in obligations Recognition of gains/(losses) in reserves

2022-Changes in obligations and the fair value of benefit plan for active workers 
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The changes on the value of the Bank's Benefit Plan for the active workers can be analyzed as follows: 

 

The elements that make up the value of the asset portfolio  

 
 

Acturial assumptions for calculating obligations: 
 

 

As of December 31, 2023, the weighted average duration of the retirement benefit plan is 14 years. (2022: 15 years) 
 
Sensitivity Analysis  
 
Sensitivity analysis for the Fund’s liabilities is as follows: 
 

 
 
 

2023 2022

Balance at 01 of January 2 045 177 2 042 998

 Financial Gains/(losses) (67 470) 5 434

Technical transformations associated with rotations 2 531

Contribuitions from Millennium bim 54 994 102 567

Benefits paid by the fund (342 674) (272 914)

Expected income 247 174 164 561

 Balance at 31 of December 1 937 201 2 045 177

MZN' 000

2023 2022

Bonds and other fixed-income securities 62,42% 64,23%

Properties 33,50% 33,47%

Other Assets 4,08% 2,30%

100% 100%

2023 2022

Normal retirement age:

Male 60 60

Female 55 55

Wage growth 8,50% 8,50%

Pensions growth 4,00% 4,00%

Fund ś rate of return 13,00% 13,00%

Discount rate 13,00% 13,00%

Mortality table SA 85/90 SA 85/90

MZN' 000

                                                                        

Discount rate

(45 645)

48 621

Future growth in wages

50 465

(47 690)

Average life expectancy

6 917

(7 573)

Decrease 0,5%

Increase in 1 year
Decrease in 1 year

2023

Impact of the 

responsabilities for active 

workers

Increase 0,5%
Decrease 0,5%

Increase 0,5%
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Other Long-Term Benefits – seniority award 

The seniority bonus is awarded to the Bank's employees according to the years of service, and one, two and three 

salaries are paid when they reach fifteen, twenty and thirty years of service, respectively. 

The present value of the seniority bonuses is monthly in each financial year, and the provision is recognized in the 

Balance Sheet against the costs of Personnel, which includes the cost of current services, the cost of interest and 

actuarial gains/losses. 

43. Risk Management  

As stated in the management report, the Bank is subject to various risks in the development of its activity. Its risk 

management policy aims to maintain, at all times, an adequate relationship between its equity and the activity 

carried out, as well as the corresponding assessment of the risk/return profile by business line. In this context, the 

monitoring and control of the main types of financial risks – credit, market, liquidity and operational – to which the 

Bank's activity is subject is particularly important. 

Main Types of Risk 

 

Credit – Credit risk is associated with the degree of uncertainty of expected returns, due to the inability of both 

the borrower (and its guarantor, if any), and the issuer of a security or the counterparty to a contract, to meet its 

obligations as a borrower of the Bank. 

 

Market – The concept of market risk reflects the potential loss that may be recorded by a given portfolio as a result 

of changes in rates (interest and exchange rates) and/or in the prices of the different financial instruments that 

compose it, considering both the correlations between these instruments and the volatility of their prices. 

 

Liquidity – Liquidity risk reflects the Bank's inability to meet its obligations at maturity without incurring significant 

losses arising from a deterioration in financing conditions (funding risk) and/or the sale of its assets at values below 

market values (market liquidity risk). 

 

Operational – Operational risk is defined as the potential loss resulting from failures or inadequacies in internal 

processes, people or systems, or even the potential losses resulting from external events. 

 

Credit Risk  

The granting of loan is based on the Customers' prior risk classification and on the rigorous assessment of the level 

of protection provided by the underlying collateral. To this end, a scoring and rating model is applied, which allows 

the identification of an expected probability of default, allowing a greater discriminant capacity in the evaluation 

of Customers and a better hierarchy of the associated risk. 
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At the reference date, the Bank's portfolio was characterized as follows: 

 

 

   MZN’000 

Typology On-balance exposure On-balance impairment Exposure At Default 

Consumer loan 9 914 648 446 457 9 915 726 

Housing loans 735 042 44 854 735 192 

Entities 13 850 844 976 364 20 540 619 

Entities - DDA 1 163 075 67 538 1 433 319 

Leasing & ALD 17 622 792 230 515 17 622 739 

Individuals 2 825 047 163 225 2 826 231 

Individuals - DDA 63 246 38 103 65 173 

    
Total 46 174 693 1 967 055 53 138 999 

    
 

   MZN’000 

Typology On-balance exposure On-balance impairment Exposure At Default 

Consumer loan 7 214 580 292 240 7 215 201 

Housing loans 742 929 35 395 743 148 

Entities 18 130 942 2 986 230 24 683 705 

Entities - DDA 461 076 44 486 1 110 022 

Leasing & ALD 17 656 240 247 679 17 656 328 

Individuals 2 318 315 132 767 2 320 438 

Individuals - DDA 50 950 35 328 54 507 

    
Total 46 575 034 3 774 125 53 783 349 

 

Notes: Gross exposure considers unused limits, guarantee provided and documentary credit without application of 

the Credit Conversion Factor. 

 

The assessment of the risk associated with the loan portfolio and quantification of the respective losses incurred 

take into account the following methodological notes: 
 

 

Collateral and Guarantees 

 

In assessing the risk of an operation or set of operations, the credit risk mitigation elements associated with them 

are taken into account, in accordance with internal rules and procedures that comply with the requirements defined 

in the regulations in force. 

 

Collateral and relevant guarantees can be grouped into the following categories: 

 

• Financial collateral, real estate collateral or other collateral; 

• Sovereign guarantees. 

 

Regarding the valuation of real estate, the procedures are subdivided into three major groups, the first concerning 

the subsequent verification of the value of the property by the institution, the second on the review of the valuation 

Reference date 31st                               

December 2023 

Reference date 31st                               

December 2022 
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of the value of the property by an official and independent appraiser and, the last, on the revaluation of the 

guarantees associated with the overdue loan. 

 

The following prudential procedures must be followed for the subsequent verification of the value of the immovable 

property by the institution: 

 

• Frequently verify, at least once every three years, the value of the immovable property pledged; 

 

• Carry out more frequent checks in case market conditions are subject to significant changes; 

 

• Document, in a clear and rigorous manner, the verification of the value of the property, namely with a 

description of the criteria and the periodicity of review; 

 

• Use, for the purpose of verifying the value of the immovable property, indices or statistical methods 

recognized and that it deems appropriate, justifying its use. 

 

Regarding the review of the valuation of the value of the property by an official and independent appraiser, it is 

necessary to: 

 

• Ensure that the valuations of immovable property mortgaged to the Bank by an official valuer are reviewed 

where the available information indicates that there may have been a substantial decrease in the value of 

the immovable property or that the value may have materially decreased in relation to general market 

prices; 

 

• Ensure that for loans that exceed 5% of the institution's own funds or when the value of the mortgaged 

property exceeds 30.000.000 Meticais, the valuation of the property is reviewed by an official and 

independent appraiser at least every three years. 

 

 

Regarding the revaluation of the guarantees associated with overdue loan, the following prudential procedures are 

respected: 

 

 

• Ensure the revaluation of the mortgage security by an independent valuer within 90 days of the first default, 

if more than 720 days have elapsed since the last revaluation, and; 

 

• Ensure the revaluation of non-mortgage collateral associated with overdue loans, by the lender, within 90 

days after the first default, if more than 180 days have elapsed since the last evaluation. It should also 

ensure that subsequent evaluations take place on a bi-annual basis. 

 

Impairment 

 

The process for calculating loan impairment as of 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 integrates the general 

principles set out in the International Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS 9. 

 

The financial instruments subject to the impairment requirements set out in IFRS 9 recorded in the loan to Customers 

analyzed by stage are detailed in the following tables: 
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Loans to Customers  

 

              

                                                                                        

Securities  

                                         

 

 

 

 

 

MZN’ 000

On-balance 

exposure

On-balance 

impairment

On-balance 

exposure

On-balance 

impairment

On-balance 

exposure

On-balance 

impairment

On-balance 

exposure

On-balance 

impairment

Collective 12 053 452 105 367 3 213 023 281 192 1 268 596 793 577 16 535 070 1 180 136

Individual 7 309 413 59 814 21 166 401 243 134 1 163 810 483 971 29 639 623 786 920

Total 19 362 864 165 181 24 379 424 524 327 2 432 405 1 277 548 46 174 693 1 967 055

Impairment 

Analysis 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

MZN’ 000

On-balance 

exposure

On-balance 

impairment

On-balance 

exposure

On-balance 

impairment

On-balance 

exposure

On-balance 

impairment

On-balance 

exposure

On-balance 

impairment

Collective 10 627 145 89 891 1 452 854 173 458 1 158 273 568 812 13 238 272 832 161

Individual 7 193 600 69 829 21 147 561 147 692 4 995 601 2 724 444 33 336 762 2 941 965

Total 17 820 745 159 720 22 600 415 321 149 6 153 873 3 293 256 46 575 034 3 774 125

Impairment 

Analysis 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

MZN’ 000

Description Accounting method Exposure Impairment

Treasury bills 3 000 000 -                                            

Government bonds Amortised cost 34 420 182 423 178

Treasury bills 6 500 000 -                                            

Government bonds Fair value 4 471 037 70 620

Total 48 391 219 493 798

Stage 1

MZN’ 000

Description Accounting method Exposure Impairment

Treasury bills 23 892 793 -                                            

Government bonds Amortised cost 34 976 371 189 910

Treasury bills 6 384 000 -                                            

Government bonds Fair value 1 189 289 5 351

Total 66 442 452 195 261

Stage 1

Reference date 31st                               

December 2023 

 

Reference date 31st                               

December 2023 

 

 

Reference date 31st                               

December 2022 

 

Reference date 31st                               

December 2022 
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The loans to Customers at amortized cost, guarantees and other commitments, analyzed by product and stage, 

are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MZN’ 000

Products On-balance exposureOn-balance impairmentOn-balance exposureOn-balance impairmentOn-balance exposureOn-balance impairmentOn-balance exposureOn-balance impairment

Consumer loan 7 505 714 68 179 2 155 653 182 271 253 281 196 007 9 914 648 446 457

Housing loan 536 745 394 98 914 1 675 99 384 42 786 735 042 44 854

Entities 7 812 374 58 214 4 305 572 130 072 1 732 898 788 078 13 850 844 976 364

Entities - DDA 605 605 13 095 514 080 10 214 43 390 44 230 1 163 075 67 538

Leasing & ALD 602 277 5 690 16 888 225 146 928 132 289 77 898 17 622 792 230 515

Individuals 2 275 729 19 411 413 981 52 629 135 337 91 185 2 825 047 163 225

Individuals - DDA 24 420 199 2 999 539 35 827 37 365 63 246 38 103

Total 19 362 864 165 181 24 379 424 524 327 2 432 405 1 277 548 46 174 693 1 967 055

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

MZN’ 000

Products On-balance exposureOn-balance impairmentOn-balance exposureOn-balance impairmentOn-balance exposureOn-balance impairmentOn-balance exposureOn-balance impairment

Consumer loan 6 273 882 51 951 731 778 101 309 208 920 138 980 7 214 580 292 240

Housing loan 642 914 765 25 037 212 74 978 34 418 742 929 35 395

Entities 8 204 443 80 664 4 974 849 60 822 4 951 651 2 844 744 18 130 942 2 986 230

Entities - DDA 213 280 2 682 205 368 5 364 42 429 36 440 461 076 44 486

Leasing & ALD 503 632 7 516 16 443 412 114 367 709 197 125 796 17 656 240 247 679

Individuals 1 969 468 16 132 218 758 38 677 130 088 77 957 2 318 315 132 767

Individuals - DDA 13 126 10 1 213 398 36 612 34 919 50 950 35 328

Total 17 820 745 159 720 22 600 415 321 149 6 153 873 3 293 256 46 575 034 3 774 125

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Reference date 31st                               

December 2023 

 

Reference date 31st                               

December 2022 
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Loans to Customers at amortized cost, guarantees and other commitments, analyzed by sector of activity and 

stage, are as follows: 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MZN’ 000

On-balance 

exposure

On-balance 

impairment

On-balance 

exposure

On-balance 

impairment

On-balance 

exposure

On-balance 

impairment

On-balance 

exposure

On-balance 

impairment

Agriculture and forestry 58 950 1 313 346 950 3 209 238 378 42 293 644 278 46 815

Food, beverages and 

tobacco
1 181 245 7 533 531 38 2 412 720 1 184 188 8 291

Trade 3 897 547 40 939 1 311 064 33 529 422 217 268 600 5 630 828 343 068

Construction 145 460 792 195 706 9 639 141 863 70 980 483 030 81 412

Consumer loans 10 431 950 91 729 2 802 804 248 279 925 377 641 201 14 160 131 981 209

Electricity, water and gas 60 119 623 14 868 644             -               -   74 987 1 266

Mozambican State 31 337 78 16 606 823 143 356             -               -   16 638 159 143 434

Extractive industries 42 1 322 975 2 124 22 128 24 630 345 145 26 755

Housing loans 526 780 391 98 914 1 675 99 384 42 786 725 078 44 852

Machine and equipment 667 11 20 422 116 17 567 16 972 38 656 17 099

Other activities 581 660 4 492 211 699 6 109 81 747 28 806 875 106 39 407

Paper, graphic arts and 

publishing
15 757 172 3 766 669 21 261 2 777 40 783 3 618

Chemical 48 710 741 21 127 188             -               -   69 837 929

Hospitality and tourism 86 214 653 60 766 2 914 198 433 67 410 345 413 70 977

Services 1 086 845 7 928 415 950 12 756 238 629 48 437 1 741 424 69 120

Textile 3 516 48             -               -               -               -   3 516 48

Transport and 

communications
1 206 066 7 735 1 945 060 59 081 23 009 21 938 3 174 135 88 754

Total 19 362 864 165 181 24 379 424 524 327 2 432 405 1 277 548 46 174 693 1 967 055

Sector of activity

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Reference date 31st                               

December 2023 
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Below is the table for reconciling changes in loan exposures and corresponding ECL by stage: 

 

 
 
 
Notes: 
- New exposure: Includes restructuring loans; 
- Payments: Includes settlement of loans due to restructuring. 
 

MZN’ 000

On-balance 

exposure

On-balance 

impairment

On-balance 

exposure

On-balance 

impairment

On-balance 

exposure

On-balance 

impairment

On-balance 

exposure

On-balance 

impairment

1 January 2023 17 820 745 159 720 22 600 415 321 149 6 153 873 3 293 256 46 575 034 3 774 125

New exposure 1 10 521 981 289 861 3 235 330 221 311 356 437 339 120 14 113 749 850 292

Payments 2 (7 471 985)   (70 610)        (2 680 149)   (74 662)        (1 729 737)   (520 067)      (11 881 870) (665 339)      

Transferred to stage 1 834 341 4 353 (833 372)      (4 305)          (969)             (48)               -               -               

Transferred to stage 2 (2 195 887)   (133 172)      2 223 346 135 574 (27 459)        (2 402)          -               -               

Transferred to stage 3 (146 024)      (84 968)        (127 987)      (63 313)        274 011 148 281 -               -               

Values in Write off (294)             (3)                 (38 252)        (11 428)        (2 593 673)   (1 980 592)   (2 632 219)   (1 992 023)   

30 December 2023 19 362 877 165 181 24 379 332 524 327 2 432 485 1 277 548 46 174 693 1 967 055

Description

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Reference date 31st                               

December 2022 

 

Reference date 31st                               

December 2023 

 

MZN’ 000

On-balance 

exposure

On-balance 

impairment

On-balance 

exposure

On-balance 

impairment

On-balance 

exposure

On-balance 

impairment

On-balance 

exposure

On-balance 

impairment

Agriculture and forestry 678 895 5 017 163 062 4 937 134 246 9 369 976 204 19 323

Food, beverages and tobacco 2 748 092 37 045 61 176 1 958 30 823 1 831 2 840 091 40 834

Trade 887 406 8 254 1 968 865 18 474 577 366 294 229 3 433 636 320 957

Construction 203 234 3 220 173 928 5 859 78 754 42 986 455 917 52 064

Consumer loans 8 828 641 74 060 1 265 242 148 024 887 020 506 578 10 980 902 728 662

Electricity, water and gas 23 380 253 485 48 -          -          23 865 302

Mozambican State 106 3 16 475 034 117 229 -          -          16 475 139 117 232

Extractive industries 1 354 33 8 137 136 24 583 21 961 34 075 22 130

Housing loans 642 914 765 25 037 212 74 978 34 418 742 929 35 395

Machine and equipment 126 919 403 112 900 1 357 1 040 409 153 399 1 280 227 155 160

Other activities 473 831 2 242 105 938 3 189 353 658 215 940 933 426 221 370

Paper, graphic arts and 

publishing
23 164 347 3 048 41 8 272 2 437 34 483 2 825

Chemical 482 6 170 610 1 425 2 434 982 1 855 380 2 606 075 1 856 811

Hospitality and tourism 36 967 419 27 583 668 182 014 38 726 246 564 39 814

Services 1 509 644 9 209 655 795 10 464 266 402 91 399 2 431 841 111 071

Textile 60 2 3 765 535 3 825 536

Transport and communications 1 635 659 18 443 1 379 811 6 592 60 365 24 604 3 075 835 49 639

Total 17 820 745 159 720 22 600 415 321 149 6 153 873 3 293 256 46 575 034 3 774 125

Sector of activity

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
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Market Risk 

Market risks can be classified into different modalities, such as interest rate risk, currency risk, commodity price 

risk, and stock price. Each modality represents the risk of losses due to fluctuations in the variation in its 

respective variable. 

Sensitivity Analysis and Gaps (Interest Rate Differential) 

For the measurement of interest rate risk (with gaps consisting of residual repricing periods of live contracts), as 

shown in the tables below for the years 2023 and 2022: 

 

 

MZN’ 000

D escript io n Direct loan Impairment Direct loan Impairment Direct loan Impairment Direct loan Impairment

1 January 2022 13 358 671 152 299 25 047 298 314 522 7 231 725 3 340 702 45 637 693 3 807 522

New exposure 1 8 359 649 239 967 941 687 144 729 -9 490 692 367 9 291 846 1 077 063

Payments 2 (3 797 953)   (76 071)        (3 153 406)   (86 714)        (346 423)      (127 752)      (7 297 783)   (290 537)      

Transferred to stage 1 1 279 284 7 866 (1 270 488)   (7 790)          (8 797)          (76)               -               -               

Transferred to stage 2 (1 224 455)   (83 332)        1 318 259 97 600 (93 804)        (14 268)        -               -               

Transferred to stage 3 (154 418)      (81 008)        (259 748)      (132 664)      414 166 213 671 -               -               

Values in Write off (33)               (1)                 (23 187)        (8 534)          (1 033 504)   (811 388)      (1 056 723)   (819 923)      

30 December 2022 17 820 745 159 720 22 600 415 321 149 6 153 873 3 293 256 46 575 033 3 774 125

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

MZN' 000

31 December of 2023 Up to 1 month
Between 1 and 3 

months

Between 3 

months and 1 

year

Between 1 and 3 

years

Greater than 3 

years

Without interest-rate 

risk 
Total

Assets

Cash and Cash equivalents at Bank of Mozambique 57 359 227  -  -  -  -  - 57 359 227

Cash equivalents in other Credit Institution 2 783 319  -  -  -  -  - 2 783 319

Investments in Credit Institution 22 789 007 287 550 82 431  -  - 61 438 23 220 426

Loans to customer 13 251 490 11 679 562 8 252 082 3 079 710 6 879 043 1 065 751 44 207 638

Financial Assets at amortised cost 4 644 394 8 205 218 27 000 191  -  - 722 134 40 571 937

Financial Assets at fair value through comprehensive income 500 220 4 304 215 2 520 006  -  - (286 088) 7 038 353

Other assets with no interest-rate risk  -  -  -  -  - 15 203 728 15 203 728

Total Assets 101 327 657 24 476 545 37 854 710 3 079 710 6 879 043 16 766 963 190 384 628

Liabilities

Deposits from other Credit Institution 1 235 988  - 103 679  -  - 145 433 1 485 100

Deposits from customer 42 990 718 16 529 042 16 180 247 98 325  - 70 648 512 146 446 844

Other liabilities with no interest-rate risk  -  -  -  -  - 5 567 626 5 567 626

Total liability 44 226 706 16 529 042 16 283 926 98 325  - 76 361 571 153 499 570

Total liabilities and equity 44 226 706 16 529 042 16 283 926 98 325  - 113 246 629 190 384 628

Gaps in interest rate risk 57 100 951 7 947 503 21 570 784 2 981 385 6 879 043  ( 96 479 666)  -

Gaps in accumulated interest rate risk 57 100 951 65 048 454 86 619 238 89 600 623 96 479 666  -  -

MZN' 000

31 December of 2022 Up to 1 month
Between 1 and 3 

months

Between 3 

months and 1 

year

Between 1 and 3 

years

Greater than 3 

years

Without interest-rate 

risk 
Total

Assets

Cash and Cash equivalents at Bank of Mozambique  -  -  -  -  - 18,977,649 18,977,649

Cash equivalents in other Credit Institution 1,722,799  -  -  -  -  - 1,722,799

Investments in Credit Institution 44,384,529 3,965,722 8,942  -  - 128,323 48,487,516

Loans to customer 16,220,706 10,378,650 7,180,385 3,784,457 4,325,949 910,761 42,800,908

Financial Assets at amortised cost 13,659,949 12,145,276 32,040,370  -  - (125,588) 57,720,007

Financial Assets at fair value through comprehensive income 1,500,670 2,280,164 3,633,399  -  - (241,459) 7,172,774

Other assets with no interest-rate risk  -  -  -  -  - 14,771,470 14,771,470

Total Assets 77,488,653 28,769,812 42,863,096 3,784,457 4,325,949 34,421,156 191,653,123

Liabilities

Deposits from other Credit Institution 83,478  - 147,627  -  - 546 231,651

Deposits from customer 98,137,051 19,829,264 32,153,736 184,644  - 1,871,459 152,176,154

Other liabilities with no interest-rate risk  -  -  -  -  - 4,484,510 4,484,510

Total liability 98,220,529 19,829,264 32,301,363 184,644  - 6,356,515 156,892,315

Total liabilities and equity 98,220,529 19,829,264 32,301,363 184,644  - 40,882,323 191,418,123

Gaps in interest rate risk  ( 20,731,876) 8,940,548 10,561,733 3,599,813 4,325,949  ( 6,461,167) -

Gaps in accumulated interest rate risk  ( 20,731,876)  ( 11,791,328)  ( 1,229,595) 2,370,218 6,696,167 - -

Bank

Reference date 31st                               

December 2022 
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Analysis of sensitivity to Interest Rate Risk in the banking portfolio 

 

Interest rate risk is understood as the possibility of financial losses resulting from adverse market interest rate 

changes through a reduction in profit and/or through a reduction in the value of assets. The relationship between 

profit and interest rates arises from lags in maturities or interest rate resetting periods, the lack of a perfect 

correlation between the interest rates of borrowing and lending operations in the different instruments, and/or the 

existence of options embedded in asset, liability, and off-balance sheet positions. 

The interest rate risk originating in the loan portfolio is monitored every six months through a risk sensitivity analysis 

process for the universe of operations that make up the Bank, with the aim of assessing the Bank's exposure to this 

risk and inferring its ability to absorb adverse variations in these rates. Measurements of the respective interest 

rate gaps are made for both the overall portfolio and the dollar portfolio. 

Changes in interest rates have an effect on the Bank's net interest income and affect the economic value of the 

bank. The risk factors arise from the mismatch of repricing portfolio positions (repricing risk) and the risk of the 

level of market interest rates. It should be noted that, although with less impact, there is a risk of uneven variances 

in different indexes with the same repricing period. 

The results of the sensitivity analysis carried out are presented below: 

 

Sensitivity Analysis to the Public Debt Rating 

 

The PD that BIM applies to public debt is obtained from S&P's Default, Transition, and Recovery study: 2022 Annual 

Global Sovereign Default And Rating Transition Study (updated annually).  

According to the study, the PD for the CCC+ rating amounts to 3,51% (table 60). 

In the event of a new downgrade, to CCC, the PD to be applied increases to 18,97%, which would imply an 

impairment reinforcement of around 2,175 million Meticais of impairment, considering the Government Bonds 

portfolio held on December 31st, 2023. 

Exchange rate risk  

It is assessed by measuring the indicators defined in the prudential regulations of the Bank of Mozambique, whose 

analysis is carried out using indicators such as: 

a) Net open position - Collected at the level of the Bank's computer system by the Risk Office, and validated 

by the Accounting Department and the Financial Department, referring to the last day of each month. 

b) Sensitivity Indicator - calculated by simulating the impact on the Bank's results of a hypothetical 10% 

variation in the value exchange rates. 

 

 

 

 

in millions MZN

100 bp 200 bp 100 bp 200 bp

MZN 384 768 135 269

USD 83 167 -24 -48

ALL CURRENCIES* 485 969 128 256

*includes other currencies

Bank Portfolio Interest Rate Risk Sensitivity Analysis - internal 

methodology

Dec.22 Dec.23
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The Bank's exposure to exchange rate risk is presented in the following tables: 

 

 

The figures presented regarding the exposure of exchange risk show that the predominant foreign currency on the 

Bank's balance sheet is the US Dollar. 

The results show that the Bank falls within the limits of tolerance to foreign exchange risk, defined within the 

scope of the prudential rules established by the Bank of Mozambique, both by currency and in all currencies. 

Exposure to foreign exchange risk is managed on a daily basis using exposure limits per currency and aggregated 

based on prudential indicators set by the Bank of Mozambique. Both currency and global positions as of 31 

December 2023 were within the limits set by the Bank of Mozambique. 

The capital requirements for hedging foreign exchange risk for the Bank as of 31 December 2023 were as follows: 

 

The capital requirements for hedging foreign exchange risk for the Bank as of 31 December 2022 were as follows: 

 

Liquidity Risk 

The following tables analyze the Bank's financial assets and liabilities by relevant maturity groups, with the 

amounts being composed of the value of assets, liabilities considering the residual contractual maturity. 

USD Other foreign USD Other foreign

Dollars currencies Total Dollars currencies Total

Asset

Cash and Cash equivalents at Bank of Mozambique 9 549 159 231 674 9 780 833 3 761 689 276 576 4 038 265

Cash equivalents in other Credit Institutions 1 651 971 763 925 2 415 896 920 176 322 903 1 243 079

Placements in other Banks 8 992 138 1 197 567 10 189 705 21 430 136 1 008 087 22 438 223

Loans to customers 2 959 779 1 073 689 4 033 468 1 305 964 1 009 633 2 315 597

Investment properties  -  -  -  -  -  -

Financial Assets at fair value through comprehensive income  - 1 454 1 454  - 1 403 1 403

Other assets 2 415 834  - 2 415 834 417 316  - 417 316

25 568 880 3 268 310 28 837 190 27 835 281 2 618 602 30 453 883

Liability

Deposits from other Banks 337 664 13 714 351 378 16 497 56 163 72 660

Deposits from customers 24 964 263 1 743 277 26 707 540 27 748 804 1 784 394 29 533 198

Provisions 70 638 26 834 97 472 73 591 6 859 80 450

Other liabilities 79 920 1 344 507 1 424 426 60 263 757 411 817 674

 -  -  -

25 452 485 3 128 332 28 580 816 27 899 155 2 604 827 30 503 982

 -  -  -

GLOBAL OPERATIONAL POSITION 116 395 139 978 256 374 (63 874) 13 775 (50 099)

                                                                                                                                                                                                 MZN' 000

2023 2022

MZN'000

USD -                                  116 395          116 395                                                                  116 395                              128 035   

Other currencies -                                  139 978          139 978                                          139 978                       153 976                          

Impact 10%
Capital Requirement for 

Hedging Market Risk

106 743

Long Position
Short 

Position

Maximum between 

Positions

Final Global 

Position

MZN'000

USD 63 874                           -                  63 874                                            -                        63 874   -                            70 261   

Other currencies -                                  13 773            13 773                                            13 773                         15 150                            
116 058

Long Position
Short 

Position

Maximum between 

Positions

Final Global 

Position
Impact 10%

Capital Requirement for 

Hedging Market Risk
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For current deposits, it is the firm conviction of the Management that the contractual maturities do not adequately 

represent the period of permanence of these deposits in the Bank. 

For the year 2022, the liquidity risk for the bank is analyzed as follows: 

 

Operational Risk  

The Bank has adopted principles and practices that ensure efficient management of operational risk, namely 

through the definition and documentation of these principles and the implementation of the respective control 

mechanisms, such as: the segregation of duties; the lines of responsibility and respective authorizations; the limits 

of tolerance and exposures to risks; the code of ethics and conduct; the key risk indicators; physical and logical 

access controls; reconciliation activities; exception reports; the contracting of insurance; contingency planning; 

internal training on processes, products and systems, among other measures. 

Operational risk is the direct and indirect risk of loss arising from various causes associated with the Bank's process, 

staff, technology and infrastructure and from external factors other than credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk. 

For example, risks arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted norms of corporate 

behavior. Operational risks arising from all of the Bank's operations.   

MZN' 000

31 December of 2023 Up to 1 month
Between 1 and 

3 months

Between 3 

months and 1 

year

Between 1 and 

3 years

Greater than 3 

years
Total

Assets

Cash and Cash equivalents at Bank of Mozambique 57 359 227  -  -  -  - 57 359 227

Cash equivalents in other Credit Institutions 2 783 319  -  -  -  - 2 783 319

Placements in other Banks 22 850 445 287 550 82 431  -  - 23 220 426

Loans to customers 2 769 673 749 830 2 715 204 6 837 209 31 681 779 44 753 695

Financial Assets at amortised cost 1 765 991  - 9 409 786 15 060 521 14 335 639 40 571 937

Financial Assets at fair value through comprehensive income 151 722 4 304 215 1 697 369 822 637 62 410 7 038 353

Total Assets 87 680 377 5 341 595 13 904 790 22 720 367 46 079 828 175 726 957

Liabilities

Deposits from other Banks 1 381 421  - 103 679  -  - 1 485 100

Deposits from customers 94 492 632 20 595 403 31 256 786 102 023  - 146 446 844

IFRS 16 lease liabilities  -  - 12 669 97 013 667 415 777 097

Total liabilities 95 874 053 20 595 403 31 373 134 199 036 667 415 148 709 041

Gaps in liquidity  ( 8 193 676)  ( 15 253 808)  ( 17 468 344) 22 521 331 45 412 413 27 017 916

Gaps in accumulated liquidity  ( 8 193 676)  ( 23 447 484)  ( 40 915 828)  ( 18 394 497) 27 017 916  -

MZN' 000

31 December of 2022 Up to 1 month
Between 1 and 

3 months

Between 3 

months and 1 

year

Between 1 and 

3 years

Greater than 3 

years
Total

Assets

Cash and Cash equivalents at Bank of Mozambique 18 977 649  -  -  -  - 18 977 649

Cash equivalents in other Credit Institutions 1 722 799  -  -  -  - 1 722 799

Placements in other Banks 44 512 852 3 965 722 8 942  -  - 48 487 516

Loans to customers 4 032 382 1 458 038 3 244 047 7 087 921 27 096 786 42 919 174

Financial Assets at amortised cost 10 983 914 8 109 519 8 411 514 14 327 421 15 887 639 57 720 007

Financial Assets at fair value through comprehensive income 1 147 951 2 295 568 2 896 519 337 736 495 000 7 172 774

Total Assets 81 377 547 15 828 847 14 561 022 21 753 078 43 479 425 176 999 919

Liabilities

Deposits from other Banks 83 478  - 148 173  -  - 231 651

Deposits from customers 100 008 509 19 829 264 32 153 736 184 645  - 152 176 154

IFRS 16 lease liabilities  -  - 12 231 53 504 729 019 794 754

Total liabilities 100 091 987 19 829 264 32 314 140 238 149 729 019 153 202 559

Gaps in liquidity  ( 18 714 440)  ( 4 000 417)  ( 17 753 118) 21 514 929 42 750 406 23 797 360

Gaps in accumulated liquidity  ( 18 714 440)  ( 22 714 857)  ( 40 467 975)  ( 18 953 046) 23 797 360  -

Group
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The Bank's objective is to manage operational risk in a way that balances financial losses and reputational damage 

to the Bank with cost-effectiveness and innovation. In all cases, the Bank's policy requires compliance with all 

legal and regulatory requirements. 

The Board of Directors must approve the regulations for operational risk management in the following areas: 

- Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including independent authorization of transactions; 

- Requirements for reconciliation and monitoring of transactions; 

- Compliance with regulatory and legal requirements; 

- Documentation of controls and procedures; 

- Requirements for a periodic operational risk assessment and adequacy of controls and procedures to 

mitigate the identified risks; 

- Requirements in terms of operational loss carry-forward and proposed operational actions; 

- Development of contingency plans; 

- Professional development and training; 

- Ethical and business standards; 

- Technological information and cyber risks; and 

- Risk mitigation, including insurance where it is cost effective. 

 

Compliance with the Bank's regulations is supported by a program of periodic reviews of the responsibility of 

Internal Audit. 

44. Solvency 

The own funds of BIM (Banco Internacional de Moçambique) are calculated in accordance with the applicable 
regulatory standards, namely with the provisions of Notice No. 08/GBM/2017 complemented by Circular 
02/EFI/2019, of the Bank of Mozambique. Total own funds result from the sum of Basic own funds (Tier 1) with 
complementary own funds (Tier 2) and the subtraction of the component disclosed in the aggregate Deductions. 
 
Core own funds comprise paid-up capital, reserves and deferred impacts associated with transition adjustments to 
IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standards). 
 
At the same time, for the determination of basic own funds, other intangible assets, positive/negative actuarial 
deviations and past service costs, associated with post-employment benefits granted by the entity that according 
to IAS 19 – Employee Benefits (Corridor Method) have not been recognized in income statement, retained earnings 
or reserves, are deducted. 
 
Basic own funds may also be influenced by the existence of revaluation differences in other assets, cash flow 

hedging transactions or financial liabilities valued at fair value through income statement, in the part that 

corresponds to own credit risk, by the existence of a fund for general banking risks and by insufficient provisions;  

if the loan impairment appropriations, calculated in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 

Standards, are lower than the provisions required by Notice No. 16/GBM/2013 of the Bank of Mozambique, 

calculated on an individual basis.  

Complementary own funds include subordinated debt, reserves from the revaluation of tangible fixed assets and, 
with prior authorization from the Bank of Mozambique, the inclusion of equity items that can be freely used to cover 
risks normally linked to the activity of institutions without losses or losses having yet been identified. 

 

In order to calculate the regulatory capital, it is also necessary to make some deductions from total own funds, 

namely the carrying amount of the non-financial assets received in repayment of own loan. 
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45. Risk Concentration  

The concentration of credit-risk financial assets by sector is as follows: 

 

46. Standards issued but not yet adopted  

A number of new standards and rule changes are effective for periods beginning after January 1, 2024 and their 
early application is permitted. The Bank did not anticipate the adoption of the following new standards or changes 
in the preparation of these financial statements. 
 

1) Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements – General requirement for disaggregation of 

relevant information (26-Jan-2023); 

2) Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements - Other global results (26-Jan-2023); 

MZN' 000

2023 2022

BASIC OWN FUNDS

Tier  1 Capital

Realised capital 4,500,000 4,500,000

Reserves and retained earnings 25,186,861 23,551,462

Intangible Assets (856,947)                  (757,948)                  

Insufficiency of provisions (769,492)                  (2,530,864)               

Tier  1 Capital total 28,060,422 24,762,650

Tier  2 Capital

Subordinated loans  -  -

Others 10,871                      10,068                     

Tier  2 Capital total 10,871                      10,068                     

Deductions from total equity 2,040,612 1,611,811

Eligible equity 26,030,680 23,160,908

Risk-weighted assets

On Balance sheet 60,372,120 53,671,610

Off-Balance Sheet 6,249,356 6,530,002

Operational risk 2,557,091 2,475,766

Market risk 889,527 967,149

Core capital adequacy ratio (Tier 1 ) 40.0% 38.9%

Capital adequacy ratio (Tier 2 ) 0.016% 0.016%

Solvency ratio 37.2% 36.4%

MZN' 000

Financial Assets at 

Sector Financial Assets fair value through

at amortised cost other comprehensive income

Total % Total %

Public Sector 57 359 227  -  - 16 494 633 40 571 937  -  -  - 114 425 797 63,6% 93 055 563 51,3%

Financial Institutions  - 2 783 319 23 220 426  -  - 7 038 353 99 501  - 33 141 599 18,4% 57 482 590 31,7%

Agriculture and Forestry  -  -  - 597 463  -  -  -  - 597 463 0,3% 956 880 0,5%

Extractive industries  -  -  - 318 390  -  -  -  - 318 390 0,2% 11 945 0,0%

Food, beverages and tobacco  -  -  - 1 175 897  -  -  -  - 1 175 897 0,7% 2 799 257 1,5%

Textile  -  -  - 3 467  -  -  -  - 3 467 0,0% 3 289 0,0%

Paper, graphic arts and publishing  -  -  - 37 165  -  -  -  - 37 165 0,0% 31 658 0,0%

Chemical  -  -  - 68 908  -  -  -  - 68 908 0,0% 749 264 0,4%

Machine and equipment  -  -  - 21 557  -  -  -  - 21 557 0,0% 1 125 068 0,6%

Electricity, water and gas  -  -  - 73 721  -  -  -  - 73 721 0,0% 23 563 0,0%

Construction  -  -  - 401 621  -  -  -  - 401 621 0,2% 403 853 0,2%

Trade  -  -  - 5 287 760  -  -  -  - 5 287 760 2,9% 3 112 679 1,7%

Restaurants and Hotels  -  -  - 274 436  -  -  -  - 274 436 0,2% 206 750 0,1%

Transport and communications  -  -  - 3 085 381  -  -  -  - 3 085 381 1,7% 3 026 196 1,7%

Services  -  -  - 1 672 303  -  -  -  - 1 672 303 0,9% 2 320 770 1,3%

Consumer loans  -  -  - 13 179 001  -  -  -  - 13 179 001 7,3% 10 252 240 5,6%

Housing loans  -  -  - 680 226  -  -  -  - 680 226 0,4% 707 534 0,4%

Other activities  -  -  - 835 709  -  -  - 4 601 645 5 437 354 3,0% 5 297 669 2,9%

57 359 227 2 783 319 23 220 426 44 207 638 40 571 937 7 038 353 99 501 4 601 645 179 882 046 100,0% 181 566 768 100,0%

Cash in Central 

Banks

Cash in Credit 

Institutions Placements in 

other Banks

Loans to customer

Investments in 

associates

Other assets 2023 2022
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3) Amendments to IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements - Statement of Cash Flows, Interest Received 

and Classification for Entities with Specified Main Business Activities (26-Jan-2023);   

4) Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements – Presentation of equity instruments (22-Feb-

2023); 

5) Amendments to IAS 7 – Cash Flow Statements – Cost Method (20-Feb-2023); 

6) Amendments to IAS 7 – Cash Flow Statements – Gain or loss on derecognition (20-Feb-2023); 

7) Amendments to IFRS 7 – Financial instruments: disclosures – Credit risk (20-Feb-2023); 

8) Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements - Disclosure of operating expenses by nature in 

the explanatory notes (22-Mar-2023); 

9) Amendments to IAS 34 - Interim Financial Reports - Management Performance Measures (22-Mar-2023); 

10) Amendments to IAS 7 – Cash Flow Statements – Estimation of future cash flows (20-Jun-2023); 

11) Amendments to IAS 12 - Income Taxes - exchange differences on deferred tax assets and liabilities (20-Jun-

2023); 

12) Amendments to IFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements - Primary Financial Statements 

(25-Oct-2023); 

 

47. Disclosures on the war in Ukraine and geopolitical tensions in the Middle East 

Following the conflict in Ukraine and geopolitical tensions in the Middle East, the year 2023 was marked by a 

challenging and uncertain international environment, where the pace of economic activity slowed down, given the 

prevalence of disruptions in supply chains and volatility in energy and food prices, reflected in the rise in inflation 

and, therefore, in the tightening of monetary conditions and the inherent reduction in consumption and private 

investment. In fact, aggregate demand has contracted due to the restrictive measures adopted by the main central 

banks (the US Federal Reserve and the European Central Bank), which has resulted in low levels of economic growth, 

mainly in advanced economies (USA and Eurozone). For 2024, the global economy is expected to continue to grow 

at a moderate pace, influenced by tightening monetary conditions and weak growth in global demand. 

Despite challenges and uncertainties in the international economic environment with Mozambique's limited 

connection to the conflict regions, the national economy grew 5,9% in the third quarter of 2023, according to data 

from the International Monetary Fund. The economic recovery was due to the production and export of 

megaprojects, in particular the mining, energy and natural gas sector in the Rovuma basin.   

The Bank of Mozambique's monetary policy remained restrictive throughout the year, in line with the conservative 

stance of the world's largest Central Banks (FED and ECB), highlighting the significant increase in the coefficient of 

mandatory reserves in national currency (from 10,5% to 39%) and foreign currency (from 11,5% to 39,5%), which 

increased the liquidity pressures of the banking system, influencing the revision of interest rates. Inflation has 

slowed, reflecting the stability of the Metical against the US dollar, the reversal of adverse supply shocks, as well 

as an effective transmission of monetary policy. 

Management continues to monitor the impacts of the conflict in Ukraine and geopolitical tensions in the Middle 

East, as well as the evolution of national and international economic activity. As it is not possible to quantify the 

future effects resulting from the extension of the conflict, whenever the Administration considers it relevant, the 

impacts on the Bank's activity will be recognized and disclosed. 

 

 

48. Subsequent Events  
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The Bank evaluates the favorable and/or unfavorable events that occur between the balance sheet date and the 
date on which the financial statements were approved. 
 
Thus, two types of events can be identified: 
 

a) Those that provide proof of conditions that existed at the balance sheet date (events after the balance 
sheet date that give rise to adjustments); and 

b) Those that are indicative of the conditions that arose after the Balance Sheet Date (events after the Balance 
Sheet Date that do not give rise to adjustments). 

 
Below is the non-adjustable event that occurred after the balance sheet date: 
 
On January 31, 2024, the Bank of Mozambique reduced the Monetary Policy interest rate, MIMO rate, by 75 basis 
points to 16,5%, signaling the beginning of a cycle of gradual rate reduction. 
 
The Board of Directors continues to monitor both the impacts of the reduction of MIMO and the impacts of the 
Russia/Ukraine and Israel/Palestine conflicts on the Bank's activity, and although it is not yet possible to quantify 
the future effects resulting from these matters, whenever the Board considers it relevant, the impacts on the Bank's 
activity will be recognized and disclosed. 
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ANNEX TO CIRCULAR NO. 

3/SHC/2007 


